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J What this form is for

What this form is NOT f
You cannot.use this form i
an alteration of manner ot
with accounting requireme

You may use this form to
accompany your accounts
disclosed under parent law.
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COMPANIES HOUSE

Part 1

Corporate company name

Corporate name of
overseas company @

| Qantas Airways Limited

UK establishment
number

IBF_TTI—TTT[—

') Fllllng in thls form
+ Please camplete in typescript or In
bold black capitals.

~ All flelds:are mandatory unless
specified or indicated by *

OThisIs the name of the company in
Its home state.

Part 2.

Statement of detalls of parent law:and other
information for an overseas.company

o

‘Legislation

Please give the legislation under which the accounts have been prepared and
audited.

@This means the relevant rules or
, - legislation which regulates the
preparation of accounts,

Legislation @ Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) .
Accounting principles
Accounts Have the accounts been prepared in accordance with a set of generally accepted |@ Please Insert the name of the

accounting principles?
Please tick the appropriate box.
[] No. Go to Section A3.

Yes. Please enter the name of the organisation or other
body which issued those principles below, and then go te Section A3.

Name of organisation
or body ©

Australian Accounting Standards Board

appropriate accounting organisation
or bady.
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Statement of details of parent law and other information for an overseas company

1]

~ Audited accounts

Audited accounts

Have the accounts been audited in accordance with a set of generally accepted
auditing standards?

Please tick the appropriate box.
[] Ne. Go to Part 3 ‘Signature’,

[/] Yes. Please enter the name of the organisation or other body which issued
those standards below, and then go to Part 3 ‘Signature’.

Name of organisation
or body-©

Australian Accounting Standards Board

Part 3 Signature
[‘i am signing this form on behalf of the overseas company.
Signature Signature

(X

Benjamin Elliott

This form may be signed by:
Birector-Secretary, Permanentrepresentative:

O Please Insert the name of the
appropriate accounting
organisation or body.

01/21 Version 6.0
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Statement of details of parent law and other information for an overseas company

B Presenter information

“Wportant information

You do not have to give any contact information, but if
you do it will help Companies House if there is a query
on the form, The contact information you give will be
visible to searchers of the public record.

Contact name

Michaela May

Company name

Qantas Airways Limited

Address

QCA/1, 10 Bourke Road

|

|

PstIeM Mascot

Coumtlfeglo Sydney
= o e [ [
l Coumy Australia
l DX

l Telephone +612 95784911

Wd Checist

We may return forms completed incorrectly or
with information missing.

Please make sure you have remembered the

following:

O The company name and, if appropriate, the
registered number, match the information held on
the public Register.

O You have completed all sections of the form,
if appropriate.

O You have signed the form.

Please note that all this information will appear
on the public record.

E Where to send

You may return this form to any Companies
House address:

England and Wales:

The Registrar of Companies, Companies House,
Crown Way, Cardiff, Wales, CF14 3UZ.

DX 33050 Cardiff,

Scotland:

The Registrar of Companies, Companies House,
Fourth floor, Edinburgh Quay 2,

139 Fountainbridge, Edinburgh, Scotland, EH3 9FF,
DX ED235 Edinburgh 1

Northern Ireland:

The Registrar of Companies, Companies House,
Second Floor, The Linenhall, 32-38 Linenhall Street,
Belfast, Northern Ireland, BT2 8BG.

DX 481 N.R. Belfast 1,

" Further information

For further information, please see the guidance notes
on the website at www.gov.uk/companieshouse
or email enquiries@companieshouse.gov.uk

This form is available in an
alternative format. Please visit the
forms page on the website at
www.gov.uk/companieshouse

This has been provided {ree of charge by Companies House.
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WD _TUE L

R Sy PSR S







SEQUL

SHANGHAI < "\

DELHI
HONG KONG
BENGALURU | “\_BANGKOK1  MANILA
BANGALORE).

72

FLYING FROM:

mmm NOW FLYING
s OCTOBER 2023

wnew (SEASONAL SERVICE)




- VANCOUVER

) NEW YORK
~ SAN FRANCISCO

pLOS ANGELES
” DALLAS

HONOLULU

SANTIAGO
EHNRL S D
..:’_;‘é‘;%ﬂl KLAND ,//

\“\ WELLINGTON

A CHRISTCHURCH
~ QUEENSTOWN







QANTAS ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Contents
Financial Snapshot ‘ 04
Five-Year History 05
Chairman’s Message 06
Board of Directors 08
Review of Operations 12
Condensed Corporate Governance Statement 23
Directors’ Report 25
Financial Report - : 63
Sharsholder Information S ‘ 131

Financial Calendar and Additional Information ’ 132




QANTAS ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Financial Snapshot!
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Five-Year History

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE'

2023 2022 2021° 2020 2019°
Revenue and other income N ‘ 19,815 9,108 5.934 14£57 1;966 ‘
Stotutory Profit/(Loss) Before Tax Mo 2,472 (1191) (2.299) (2.708) 1192
Statutory Profit/(Loss) After Tax SM } 1,744 (860) (1,692) (1,.964) 840
Underlying Profit/(Loss) Before Tax $M ; 2,485 (1,859) (1,774) 124 1,326
;J:(cjiengl(i?SBIT%rnings/[Loss] Before Interest M L 2682 (1558) (1473) 395 1608
Qperating Margin % 135 (17.1) (24.8) 28 9.0
Earnings Per Share cents 96.0 (45.6) (89.9) (129.6) 515
Return on Invested Capital (ROIC) % 103.8 (31.8) (21.4) 58 19.2
Share price ot 30 June s 6.20 4.47 4.66 378 5.40°
Dividend per share® cents - - - - 25
Cosh flow from operations SM 5,085 2,670 (386) 1,083 3,164
Net Free Cash Flow M 2.460 2,430 (1,108] (488) 1,601
Net on balance sheet debt M r 1,998 2,617 4,609 3173 2,980.
Net Debt SM 2.885 3,937 5,890 4,734 4,710
Net capital expenditure SM ( 2,666 398 693 1,571 1,563
Shareholder distributions® Mo 1,000 - - 647 1,000
Unit Revenue (RASK] c/ASK 12.29 9.48 972 8.99 8.85
Total unit cost* c/ASK (10.18) (13.16) (15.76) (8.87) (7.97)
Ex-fuel unit cost* c/ASK (6.30) (9.64) (12.67) (6.22) (5.40).
STATISTICS

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
Available Seat Kilometres {ASK) M ‘ V 711777258 50.633 7 29,374 111,870 151,430
Revenue Passenger Kilometres (RPK) M 97,693 34,363 18,557 92,027 127,492
Possengers carried ‘000 45,725 21,257 15,866 40,475 55,813
Seat Factor % 83.3 67.9 63.2 82.3 84.2
Aircraft at end of period 336 322 315 314 314

1 Refer to the Review of Operoiions on pages 12 to 22 for definitions and explanations of non-statutory measures.

2 2021 has been restated for the impact of the adoption of the IFRIC agenda decision in relation to cloud computing. 2019 has
been restoted for the impact of the adoption of AASB 16 Leases and the IFRIC agendo decision in relation to fair value
hedges. .

3 Dividend per share is reported as the interim and final dividend in relation to the relevant financial year. Shareholder
distributions includes dividends paid and share buy-backs and are reported in the year cash distributions are made.

4 Total unit cost is net expenditure (Underlying PBT excluding ticketed passenger revenue) per ASK. Ex-fuel unit cost is net
expenditure excluding fuel, share of profit/(loss) of investments accounted for under the equity method and discount rote
changes on provisions, per ASK.
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Chairman’s Message

This past year hos been extremely
chollenging on a numher nf frants —
both for our company and many of
nur stokehnlders

OPERATIONAL CHALLENGES AND
INVESTMENT

We had significant issues as Qantas
and Jetstar’s flying ramped up
past-COVID, with supply chain and
resourcing challenges resulling i
too many cancellations and delays.
It was deeply disoppointing and we
sincerely apologise.

Our people worked incredibly hard 10
fix this, and by the end of the year
Qantas wus lhe most on fime of the
major domestic airlines for 11 out of
1? mnnths

Nemand far travel has been very
strang and our flying increased to
corry 46 million people — more than
twice the number we carried the year
hefore Imoortantly, our operational
safety performance acrass the Group
was strong, and this will always be our
top priority.

We took delivery of 10 new aircraft
dutiny the year 08 we 3rorted o
decade-long renewal program of

our jel fleel. Over the next three
financial years alone, we're investing
arounA USRS 1. Billlor in u e of
wide and narrow-body aircraft,
whirh will apen up new domestic
and infernational routes.

These qircraft also burn around 20
per cent less fuel, helping us towards
our interim net emissions reduction
targets for 203N

06

REPUTATIONAL CHALLENGES AND
ACCOUNTABILITY

As we move through our recovery,
management und the Buurd ure
ocutely aware of the need 1o rebuild
yonr ennfidence in Ogntos, We're

also conscious of the loss of trust
that has occurred because our
service has offen fallen shart nf
expeclalions, compounded by a
number of other issues relating 1o the
pandemic period.

In recognition of the customer and
brund inwoct of cumulative events,
the Board has opplied its discretion
fo reduce short ferm incentives for
senior executives in FY23. Details of
this are outlined in our Remumneralion
Keport on puye 31.

In Auygus| 2023, e ACCC started
proceedings agoinst Qontas for
clleged breaches of Australian
Consumer Law, doting back to vur
difficult testui i the firat holf of

culendur 2022,

We take our obligations under
consumer law, and therefore these
allegatians, very seriously and are
working through the legal process
now underway. What we can say in
the interim is Qantas’ longstanding
practice is that when a flight is
cancelled, cusiomers are oftergd an

alternative flight or a refund. However,

in the inleiests of good governance,
the Board will withhold payments
under the FY23 shart term incentive
program for seniar executives while
this matter progresses.

In September 2023, the High Court
upheld the findings of the Federal
Court thot Qantas’ decision to
outsource the remainder of its ground
handling function in 2020 was a
breach nf the Fnir Wnrk Ant.

While the Court endorsed that yantas
had sound commercial reasons

for making this decision, it wasn't
satisfied that we discharged the
reverse onus of proaf that applied

in this case. We regret that the
circumstaonces in 2020 necessitated
difficult decisions across much of aur
workforce, including the rntrnnchment
of the 1,700 workers involved. We

will he working with the Courtf on
appropriate compensation.

Or any mattor, managomont and the
Board only take o course of action

if they believe it's lawful. However,
we also accept that there must be
accountability where thoee actions
are found fo be otherwico, and we will
work through these and other issues
with relevant stakeholders.

RENEWAL

Both Boord and Manogement are
undergoing o sighiticani petlod
of renewal.

Alan Joyce retired in September 2023
after L5 yenrs ns Graiip NEN Alon |
guided the company through some of
the toughest periods in its history and
led some pivotal long-term decisions
on flcet and notwork. Ho apenly
recognised that there were elements
of the COVID restart that could have
been managed better and took action
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to start furning that around. The
Board thanks him sincerely for his
enormous contribution.

Vanessa Hudson took aver the role
as Group CEQ and is expanding the

“eftort ta serve our customers better.

Vanessa has restructured the éroup
Management Committee with seven
new appointments, including creation _
of a Chief People Officer role to help
increase the focus on whot is our

most impaortant osset.

The Board is also undergoing renewal.
As announced in May, Non-executive
Director Michael LEstrange will step
down in November 2023 after seven
years of dedicated service,

Joining the board are Boug Parker
and Dr Heather Smith, who bring a
wealth of experience ocross aviation
and gavernment affairs respectively.
These new appointments, including
Vanessa as Managing Director, are
subject to shareholder approval at
the AGM.

This process of Board renewal will

continue with a focus an the skills
and capabilities required for the

challenges and opporTuniTiés naw in
front of us.

' STRONG FOUNDATIONS FOR

IMPROVEMENT

As we face inlu the current
challenges, we can't lose sight of
the fact that the Group is in a strong
position to manage them,

We have a pipeline of investment
that will improve what we deliver for
our customers - from new aircraft
10 new routes and new lounges. We
are making significant investment in
digital technology that will pul more

power in the hands nf aur penple nnd,

passengers. And we continue t0 grow
Qontaos Loyalty and Qantas Freight.

Our ability ta invest comes from a
strong balonce sheet and sirony
fravel demand, which means we
can also keep delivering retuins
o shareholders.

We have incredibly pnssinnate penple
working for us and we're continuing

to invest heavily in skills development
for pilats, cabin crew and engineers.

On behalf of the Bogrd. we are .
committed tn delivering strann,,
sustainable outcomes for

all stakeholders.

V,%,ﬁiﬁ_“”
Richard Goyder AQ

07

A i e




QANTAS ANNUAL REPQORT 2023

Board of Directors

RICHARD GOYDER AO

BCom, FAICD

Chairman and Independent
Non-Executive Director

Mr Goyder was gppointed 1o the
Qantas Board in November 2017
and as Chairman in October 2018.

He is Chair of the Nominations
Committee.

Mr Goyder is Chairman of Woaodside
Energy Group Ltd, the Australian
Football League Commission, the West
Australion Symphony Orchestra and
of the Channel 7 Telethon Trust. He is
an honorary member of the Business
Council of Australig, and a Fellow

of the AICD.

'Mr Goyder was the Managing Director
and CEO of Wesfarmers Limited from
July 2005 to November 2017. He olso
previously held the roles of Finance
Director between 2002 and 2004, and
Deputy Monaging Director and CFO
between 2004 and 2005.

Mr Gayder was alsa formerly Chairman
of the Australian B20 (the key business
advisory body to the Warld Economic
Forum which includes business
leaders from all G20 economies)

and JORF Australia.

Age: 63
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VANESSA HUDSON

BBus, CA

Chief Executive Officer and
Managing Director

Vanessa Hudson was appointed

as on Executive Director on 5 May
2023, and as Chief Executive
Officer and Managing Director on 6
September 2023.

She is a Member of the Safety, Health,
Environment and Security Committee.

Ms Hudson was previously Group
Chief Financial Officer for four years,
including through the pandemic and
the airline’s recovery.

She served as Qantas Chief Customer
Officer between February 2018 and
October 2019, with responsibilities
spanning all aspects of the custfomer
experience and strategy.

Joining Qantas in 1994, she has

held o variety of senior commercial,
customer and finance roles across
the Group, in Australio and overseas.
including Executive Manaoger of Sales
ond Distribution, Senior Vice President
for Qantas across the Americas and
New Zealand, Executive Manager of
Commercial Planning and Executive
Manager for Product and Service. In
these various roles her responsibilities
ranged from sales channels, revenue
management and network planning,
to transformation in catering, airports
and network.

Vanessa has a Bachelor of Business
and was admitted as o Member of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants’
in 1994,

Age: 53

ALAN JOYCE AC

BSc, MSc, MA, FRAeS, FTSE

Former Chief Executive Officer and
Managing Director

Alon Joyce was appointed Chief
Executive Officer and Managing
Director of Qantas in November 2008,
and retired on 5 September 2023.

He was a Member of the Safety, Health,
Environment and Security Committee.

Mr Joyce is Chairman of the Sydney
Theatre Company and a Director of the
Museum of Contemporary Art Australia.
Between June 2009 and October

2021, Mr Joyce was a Member of the
International Air Transport Assaciation's
Board of Governors, hoving served as
Chairman from 2012 to 2013.

He was also a Director of the Business
Council of Australia between November
2013 and November 2022 and the
Chief Executive Gfficer of Jetstar from
2003 10 2008. Before that, he spent
over 15 years in leadership positions
with Qantas, Ansett and Aer Lingus.

At both Qantas and Ansett, he led the
network planning, schedules planning
and network strategy functions.

Prior to that, Mr Joyce spent eight
years gt Aer Lingus, where he held
roles in sales, marketing, IT, network
planning, operations research, revenue
management and fleet planning.

Age: 57
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Board of Directors continued

MAXINE BRENNER
BA, LLB

Independent Non-Executive Director

Maxine Brenner was appointed to the
Qantas Board in August 2013.

She is a Member of the Remuneration
Committee and the Audit Committee.

Ms Brenner is o Director of Origin
Energy Limited, Telstra Group Limited
and Woolworths Group Limited. She
is o Member of the Council of the
University of New South Wales.

Ms Brenner was formerly a Managing
Director of Investment Banking ot
Investec Bank (Australia) Limited. She
has extensive experience in corporate
advisory work, particularly in relation
10 mergers and acquisitions, corporate
restructures and general corporate
activity. She also practised as a lawyer
with Freehill Hollingdale & Poge (now
Herbert Smith Freehills), where she
specialised in corporate work, and
spent several years as a lecturerin the
Faculty of Law at both the University
of NSW and the University of Sydney.

Ms Brenner was olso farmerly the
Deputy Chairman of the Federal
Airports Corporation and a Director of
COrico Limited, Neverfail Springwater
Limited, Bulmer Australia Limited,
Treasury Corporation of NSW and
Growthpoint Properties Australia
Limited. She olso served as a Member
of the Australian Government's
Takeovers Panel.

Age: 61

JACQUELINE HEY
BCom, Grad Cert (Mgmt), GAICD

Independent Non-Executive Director

Jacqueline Hey was appointed to the
Qantas Board in August 2013.

She is Chair of the Remuneration
Committee, a Member of the Audit
Committee and a Member of the
Nominations Committee.

Ms Hey is Chair of Bendigo and
Adelaide Bank Limited and a Director
of the Commaonwealth Superannuation
Corporation.

Ms Hey was also formerly a Director of
AGL Energy Limited from 2016 to 2022,
Cricket Australia from 2012 to 2020,
the Australian Foundation Investment
Company Limited fram 2013 to 2019,
Melbourne Business Schoo! from 2013
to 2018, the Special Broadcasting
Service from 2011 to 2016 and 0
Member of the ASIC Directory Advisory
Panel from 2013 to 2016.

Between 2004 and 2010, Ms Hey was
Managing Director of various Ericsson
entities in Australio and New Zealand,
the United Kingdom and Ireland, ond
the Middle East. Her executive career
with Ericsson spanned more than

20 years in which she held finance,
marketing, soles and leadership roles.

Age: 57
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Board of Directors continued

BELINDA HUTCHINSON AC
BEc, FCA, FAICD

Independent Non-Executive Director

Belinda Hutchinson was appointed
to the Qantas Board in April 2018.

She is Chair of the Audit Committee,
a Member of the Nominations -
Commiitee and a Member of the
Safety, Heolth, Environment and
Security Committee.

Ms Hutchinson is currently Chancellor
of the University of Sydney and a Non-
Executive Director of Thales Australia.

Ms Hutchinson was also Chairman
of the Future Generation Global
Investment Company between
Moy 2015 and June 2021.

She has over 30 years’ experience

in the financial services sector,
working in senior roles at Citibonk
and Macquarie Group. Ms Hutchinson
also has extensive board experience;
she was formerly Chairman of QBE
Insurance Limited, a Director of Telstra
Corporation Limited, Coles Group
Limited, Crane Group Limited, Energy
Australio Limited, TAB Limited, Snowy
Hydro Trading Limited, Sydney Water
and AGL Energy.

Ms Hutchinson was awarded a
Companion of the Order of Australic
(AC) in 2020 in recognition of her
service 1o business, tertiary education
and scientific research, and for her
philanthropic endeavours to oddress
social disadvantoge.

Age: 70
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MICHAEL UESTRANGE AC

BA, MA (Oxon)
Independent Non-Executive Director

Michael L'Estrange was appointed
to the Qantas Board in April 2018.

He is a Member of the Remuneration
Committee and Safety, Health,
Environment and Security Committee.

Mr LEstrange was Head of the National
Security College at the Australian
National University from 2009 to 2015.
Prior to this, he was the Secretary of
the Department of Foreign Affairs and
Trade for almost five years and the
Australian High Commissioner to the
UK between 2000 ond 2005. He served
as Secretary to Cabinet and Head of
the Cabinet Policy Unit from 1996 for
maore than four years and, prior to thot,
as Executive Director of the Menzies
Research Centre.

Mr L'Estrange was also a Non-
Executive Directar of Ria Tinto plc and
Rio Tinto Limited between September
2014 and May 2021.

He has been o Director of the University
of Notre Dome, Australio since 2014
and wos appointed Deputy Chancellor
of the University of Notre Dame,
Australia in 2017.

Mr L'Estrange studied atf the University
of Sydney and loter as @ Rhodes
Scholar af Oxford University, where he

groduated as o Master of Arts with First -

Closs Honours.
Age: 70

DOUG PARKER

BEc, MBA
Independent Non-Executive Director

Doug Parker was appointed to the
Qantas Board in May 2023.

Mr Parker wos CEQ of American
Airlines from 2013 to March 2022, and
Chairman of the Board until April 2023.

Previously, Mr Parker was Chairman
ond CEQ of US Airways. He served
o0s Chairman, President and CEO of
America West Airlines prior 1o the
merger of US Airways ond America
West in 2005.

Mr Parker was also previously Vice
President, Assistant Treasurer and
Vice President of Financial Planning
and Analysis for Northwest Airlines.
From 1986 10 1991, he held several
financial management pasitions
with American Airlines.

He is o member of the Vanderbilt
University Board of Trust, the SMU Cox
School of Business Executive Board,
and the Medal of Honour Museum
Foundation Board of Directors.

Mr Parker earned a Bachelor of Arts
in Economics from Albion College
in 1984 and o Master of Business
Administration from Vaonderbilt
University in 1986.

Age: 61
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Board of Directors continves

TODD SAMPSON
MBA, BA (Hons)

Independent Non-Executive Director

Todd Sampson was appainted to the
Qantas Board in February 2015.

He is a Member of the Remuneration
Committee and a Member of the
Audit Committee.

Mr Sampson was Executive Choirman
of the Leo Burnett Group from
September 2015 to January 2017, and
National Chief Executive Officer from
2008 to 2015. He was also a Director
of Fairfax Media Limited from 2014

o 2018.

Mr Sampson has over 20 years'
experience across marketing,
communication, new media and digital
transformation. He has held senior
leadership and strategy roles for a
number of leading communication
companies in Australio and overseas,
including as Managing Partner for
D'Arcy, Strategy Director for The
Campaign Paloce ond Head of Strategy
for DDB Needham Worldwide.

Age: 53

DR HEATHER SMITH PSM
PSM FAIIA, BEc (Hons), PhD

Independent Non-Executive Director

Dr Heather Smith was appointed to the
Qantas Boaord in August 2023.

Dr Smith is o Non-Executive Direcior
of ASX Limited and Challenger Limited.
She is also a Fellow and National
President of the Australian Institute of
International Affairs.

Dr Smith has extensive experience

in public policy, innovation and
technological change, national security
and economic reform and a deep
knowledge of government and the
public sector.

Dr Smith has close to 20 years’
experience working in the Australian
Public Service at senior levels,
culminating in being Secretary of the
Department of Industry, Innavation and
Science from 2017 to 2020. She hos
also previously served as Secretary of
the Department of Communications
and the Arts.

Dr Smith has also held seniar positions
in the departments of Prime Minister
and Cabinet, Foreign Affairs and Trade,
and the Treasury, as well as the Office
of National intelligence. Or Smith
began her career ot the Reserve Bonk
of Australia.

Dr Smith has a PhD in Economics from
the Australion National University
(ANU) and is o Professor at the ANU
National Security College. She is also
an independent director of the Reef
Restoration and Adaptation Program.

Age: 58

ANTONY TYLER

BA (Jurisprudence)
Independent Non-Executive Director

Antony Tyler was appointed ta the
Qantas Board in Octaber 2018.

He is Chair of the Safety, Health,
Environment and Security Commitiee
ond a Member of the Nominations
Committee.

Mr Tyler was Director General and Chief
Executive Officer of the International
Air Transport Assaciation from 2011 to
2016. Prior to this, Mr Tyler spent over
30 years with Cathay Pacific Airways
Limited. His career includes several
management and executive roles

in Hong Kong, the UK, Italy, Japan,
Canada, the Philippines and Australia
before serving as Chief Executive
Officer from 2007 to 2011.

He is a Non-Executive Director

of Bombardier Inc, BOC Aviation
Limited and Trans Maldivian Airways
Limited and a Fellow of the Royal
Aeronautical Saciety.

Age: 68
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Review of Operations

For the year ended 30 June 2023

RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS

Underlying Profit/(Loss) Before Tox Stotutory Profit/(Loss) After Tax Return on Invested Capital

2,465 1,744" 103.6°

[ 2.65 | FY23 2,465 FY23 1744 FY23  103.6%

(1.859) Fy22  (1.859) 860) Fy22 (860) (31.6%) . Fy22 (31.6%)
(1.774) Y2l (1L774) FY2l  (1692) (2.4% [ FY21  (21.4%)
| 124 FY20 124 FY20  (1964) | 5.0% FY20  5.8%
FYlg 1326 FYlg 840 B s FY19  19.2%

The Qantas Group (referred to as the Qantas Group or the Group) reparted Underlying Profit Before Tax' (Underlying PBT) of $2,465 million for
the financial year 2022/23, a significant turnaround from the Underlying Loss Before Tax of ($1,859) million in financial year 2021/22. The
result was underpinned by Group capacity (ASKs?) returning to 77 per cent of pre-COVID levels in financial year 2022/23, ongoing strength in
travel demand, and the completion of the Group’s three-year Recovery Plan, including delivery of $ billion in permanent cost benefits.

The recovery of Group capacity for financial year 2022/23 was driven by Group Domestic ASKs returning to 96 per cent of pre-COVID levels
and Group International ASKs back to 67 per cent of pre-COVID levels. Whilst the impacts of COVID-19 have abated, the Group continued fo
experience industry recavery challenges which adversely offected operations. These included aircraft manufacturer delays, supply chain
dislacations, constrained labour availability and training, and limited heavy maintenance slots at MROs®. Significant investments were made
during the year to build up resilience against these factors, resulting in temparary costs and inefficiencies which ore expected fo unwind into
financial year 2023/24.

The Group's Statutory Profit Before Tax was $2,472 million, improving by $3,663 million compared to the financial year 2021/22, with the
Statutory result including $7 million of net benefits, which were not included in Underlying PBT. Statutory Profit After Tax was $1,744 million.
For Group Domestic operations, the dual brand strategy continued to be core to the Group’s strategic proposition, with leadership across all
key segments of the market. Qantas Domestic delivered an Underlying EBIT of $1,270 million, achieving on £BIT morgin® of 18 per cent.
Jetstar Domestic delivered an Underlying EBIT of $255 miillion, achieving an EBIT margin of 11 per cent. The Group Domestic EBIT margin of 16
per cent was underpinned by cost transformation, structural network changes and strong leisure demand.

The Group's International operations (including Freight) contributed an Underlying EBIT of $1,055 million. Rapid return of demand and @
gradual recovery in industry capacity resulted in strong Unit Revenue® performance substantially above pre-COVID levels. As expected, this
unit revenue performance moderated in the second half as capacity progressively returned. The contribution from Qantas Freight,
approximately $150 million higher than pre-COVID periods, moderated from record levels in financial year 2021/22 as yields normalised and
passenger aircraft belly capacity returned.

Qantos Loyalty continued its strong performance delivering an Underlying EBIT of $451 million, with points earned and redeemed exceeding
pre-COVID levels. The result demanstrates the program’s unrivalled proposition with approximately one million new members joined in the last
12 months and an estimated one in five Australian SMEs® now part of Qantas Business Rewards. Within the Loyalty ecosystem the caalition of
partners now exceeds 700 with this depth of engagement delivering over $2 billion in gross cash receipts in finoncial year 2022/23.

Other key financial metrics for the 2022/23 financial year include:

- Earnings Per Share of 96 cents per share

- Group operating margin of 14 per cent

- Three-year Recovery Plan complete, delivering $1 billion of permanent cost benefits

- Qantas Domestic and Qantas International (including Freight) achieving EBIT margins of 18 per cent and 12 per cent respectively

- Operating cash flow of $5.1 billion, driven by structural change in earnings and working capital rebuild

- Net Free Cash Flow of $2.5 billion.

The Group’s Financial Framework remains core to the Group's strategy, driving sustainable financial strength to support investment and
shareholder returns whilst preserving financial flexibility. As at 30 June 2023, Net Debt under the Financial Framework was $2.89 hillion,
below the Group’s target range of $3.7 billion to $4.6 billion.

During the year, the Group completed $1 billion of share buy-backs at an average price of $6.19 per share. With all pillars of the Group's
Financial Fromework met, the Board resolved to distribute further surplus capital to sharehalders, announcing a further on-market share buy-
back of up to $500 million.

Underlying Profit Before Tax (Underlying PBT) is the primary reporting meosure used by the Qantas Group's Chief Operating Decision-Moking bodies [CODM), being the Chief Executive
QOfficer, Graup Management Committee and the Board of Directars, for the purpose of assessing the performance of the Group. The primory reporiing measure of the Qantas Domestic,
Qontas International, Jetster Group and Qontas Loyally operating segments is Underlying Earnings Before Net Finance Costs and Income Tox Expense (Underlying EBIT). The primary
reporting measure of the Corporate segment is Underlying PBT as net finance costs are managed centrally. Refer to the reconciliotion of Underlying PBT to Statutory Profit Before Tax
on page 20.

Available Seot Kilometres - total number of seots ovailable for passengers, multiplied by the number of kilometres flown,

Maintenonce and Repair Organisation.

Underlying EBIT divided by Total Revenue, also referred to as Operating Margin.

Ticketed passenger revenue divided by ASKs.

Small to medium enterprise.
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QANTAS ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Review of Operations continued

For the year ended 30 June 2023

FINANCIAL FRAMEWORK ALIGNED WiTH SHAREHOLDER OBJECTIVES

Qantas’ Financial Framewaork aligns our objectives with those of our sharehalders with the aim of achieving top quartile sharehalder returns
by targeting maintainable Earnings Per Share {EPS) growth over the cycle with industry-leading ESG’ credentials. The Financial Framework is

built on three clear priorities and associated long-term torgets:

1. Maintaining an optimol capital structure

Minimise cost of capital by torgeting o Net Debt range
of 2.0x - 2.5x EBITDA where ROIC is 10 per cent

Deliver against Climate Action Plan Targets

2. ROIC > WACC® through the cycle
Deliver ROIC > 10 per cent®

ESG included in business decisions

3. Disciplined allocation of capital

Grow Invested Capital with disciplined
investment and return surplus copital

Prioritise projects thot exceed both ESG and ROIC
targets

\ 4

I INDUSTRY-LEADING ESG CREDENTIALS | MAINTAINABLE EPS GROWTH OVER THE CYCLE N

A

TOTAL SHAREHOLDER RETURNS IN THE TOP QUARTILE

Maintaining an Optimal Capital Structure

The Group’s Financial Framewark targets an optimal capital structure to achieve the lowest cost of capital. The range is based on a Net Debt
to EBITDA range of 2.0-2.5 times where ROIC is fixed at 10 per cent. This capital structure optimises the Group's cast of capital and
preserves financial strength with the objective of enhancing long-term shareholder value. The Group's optimal capital structure is consistent
with investment grade credit metrics and the Group maintains an investment grade Bao2 rating with Moody's Investor Services.

At 30 June 2023, Net Debt was $2.89 billion, below the Net Debt target range.

Net Debt Profile FY19 to FY23 ($ billion)

4.7 4.7 59
' ' 39 29
FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23
[0 NetDebt($B)  --- Target ronge

June 2023 June 2022 Change Change
Debt Analysis $M $M $M %
Net on balance sheet debt [ 1,998 2,617 (619) (24)
Capitalised operating lease liabilities'® | 887 1,320 (433) (33)
Net Debt | 2,885 3,937 (1,052) (27)

? Enviranmentoal, Social ond Governance.

8 Weighted Average Cost of Capital, colculoted an a pre-tax basis.

%10 per cent ROIC allows ROIC to be greoter than pre-tax WACC through the cycle.
1o Capitalised oircroft lease liobilities are measured ot fair value ot the lease commencement dote and remeasured over lease term on a principal and interest basis. Residuol value of

capitalised aircroft lease liability denominated in foreign currency ore transloted at a long-term exchonge rate.
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QANTAS ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Review of Operations continues

For the yeor ended 30 June 2023

FINANCIAL FRAMEWORK ALIGNED WITH SHAREHOLDER OBJECTIVES (continued)

ROIC > WACC Through the Cycle

The Return on Invested Caopital (ROIC) for the 12 months to 30 June 2023 was 103.6 per cent. This ROIC was based on an gverage Invested
Capital of $2.6 hillion which is significantly lower than pre-COVID levels. Group ROIC is expected to moderate in future periods as Invested
Capital rebuilds, however structural changes in earnings, and working capital benefits are expected to deliver Group ROIC in excess of pre-
CQVID levels.

Disciplined Allocation of Capital

The Qantas Group takes a disciplined approach to allocating capital, with the aim to grow Invested Capital and return surplus capital to
shareholders. Net copital expenditure® tatalfled $2,666 million during the financial year 2022/23. The Group returned S1 billion to
shareholders through an on-market share buy-back. This resulted in an 8.6 per cent reduction in shares on issue since 1 July 2022.

Upon considering the forward outlook for the business under its Financial Framework, the Board has resolved to announce an en-market
buy-back up to the value of $500 million.

Maintainable EPS Grawth Over the Cycle

Earnings Per Share was 96 cents per share for the financial year 2022/23. The increase from financial year 2021/22 was driven by o
significant increase in the Statutory Profit After Tax coupled with the EPS accretion from completion of the S1 billion on-market buy-back in
financial year 2022/23.

GROUP PERFORMANCE

The Qantas Group reported an Underlying Profit Befare Tax of $2,465 million for the 2022/23 financial year, a significant turnaround from the
Underlying Loss Before Tax of ($1,859) million in the financial year 2021/22.

Net passenger revenue increased by 184 per cent with the return of domestic and international operations. Net freight revenue decreased due
to o moderation in record yields achieved in financial yeor 2021/22 os internotional belly space capacity returned and other revenue
increased primarily due to revenue growth at Qantas Loyalty.

June 2019

June 2023 June 2022 {pre-COVID)

Group Underlying Income Statement Summary' $M M M
Net passenger revenue 16,923 5.951 15,686
Net freight revenue 1,380 1963 97
Other 1,512 1194 1,289
Revenue - 19,815 9,108 17,966
Operating expenses (excluding fuel) . (10,771) (6.853) (10.599)
Fuel (4,555) (1.848) (3.846)
Impairment (1) (38) -
Depreciation and amortisation (1,762) {1.801) (1,936)
Share of net (loss)/profit of investments accounted for under the equity method |, .(44) (126) 23
Total underlying expenditure ] (17,133) (10,666) (16,358)
Underlying EBIT ! 2,682 (1,558) 1,608
Net finance costs ] (217) (301) (282)
Underlying PBT | 2,465 (1,859) 1.326

u Net Capital Expenditure is equal to net expenditure from investing cosh flows included in the Consolidoted Cosh Flow Statement and the impact ta Invested Capital from the disposols/
acquisitions of leased aircraft.
Underlying expenses differ fram equivalent statutory exp due to items excluded from Underlying PBT such as those items identified by Management s not representing the
underlying performance of the business. Refer to the reconciliation on page 20.
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Review of Operations contines

For the year ended 30 June 2023

GROUP PERFORMANCE (continued)

June 2019
Operating Statistics June 2023 June 2022 (pre-COVID)
Availoble Seat Kilometres (ASK)* M 117,258 50,633 151,430
Revenue Passenger Kilometres (RPK)* M 97,693 ! 34,363 127,492
Passengers carried 000 45,725 21,257 55,813
Seat Factor's % 833! 67.9 84.2
Operoting Margin'® % 135 (17.1) 9.0
Unit Revenue (RASK]Y c/ASK 12.29 f 9.48 8.85
Total Unit Cost™® ¢/ASK (10.19) § (13.16) (7.97)

Group capacity for the year [ASK) increased by 132 per cent with the return of domestic and international operations. Revenue Passenger
Kilometres increased by 184 per cent as the Group’s Seat Factar increased to 83 per cent, from 68 per cent. Group Unit Revenue increased 30
per cent 10 12.29 ¢/ASK. Total Unit Cost decreased to 10.19 ¢/ASK with the continued return of Group capacity and the fixed cost base,
including depreciation and amartisation, being spread acrass significantly higher ASKs and os a result of the completion of the three-year

Recovery Plan, delivering $1 billion of permanent cost benefits.

CASH GENERATION
June June

Cash Flow Summary 2032: zoszﬁ Chunsg: Chﬂ"s;
Operating cash flows ! 5,085 ! 2,670 2,415 90
Investing cash flows ] (2.625) (240) (2,385) >(100)
Net Free Cash Flow i 2,460 2,430 30 1
Financing cosh flows : {2.628)' (1,310) (1,318) >(100)
Cash at beginning of year l 3,343 | 2,221 1122 51
Effect of foreign exchange on cash ] (4], 2 (6) >(100)

. 3,171 3,343 172) (s)

Cash at end of the year

Operating cash inflows for the financial year 2022/23 were $5,085 million, underpinned by capacity growth, strong unit revenue performance,
the continued rebuild of Revenue Received in Advance and Layalty billings generating significant pasitive cash flow.

Investing cash outflows for the financial year 2022/23 were [$2,625) million. Net capital expenditure® was $2,666 million, which included ten
aircraft deliveries, pre-delivery payments and the balance primarily directed to capitalised maintenonce.

Net financing cash outflows of ($2,628) million included $1,669 million debt repayments partially offset by $826 million drawdown of debt,
$682 million in net aircraft and non-aircraft lease repayments, and an an-market share buy-back of $1,000 millien.

The Group continues ta retain significant flexibility in its financial position, funding strategies and fleet plan to ensure that it can respond

to changes in market conditions ond earnings scenarios.

B ASK - total number of seats available for passengers, multiplied by the number of kilometres flown.

14 RPK - total number of passengers carried, multiplied by the number of kilometres flown.

is Seat Factor - RPKs divided by ASKs. Also known as lood factor or load.
6 Qperating Margin is Group Underlying EBIT divided by Group total revenue.

7 Unit Revenue (RASK] is calculated as ticketed passenger revenue divided by Availoble Seat Kitometres (ASK).

ia Total Unit Cost is Underlying PBT less ticketed passenger revenue per ASK.

73

aircraff.

Net capital expenditure is equal 10 net investing cosh flows in the Consalidated Cash Flow Statement ond the impact 1o Invested Capital from the disposals/acquisitions of leased
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Review of Operations continued

For the year ended 30 June 2023

FLEET

The Group's strategic priorities for fleet planning are centred on three key principles: the right aircraft for the right route, maintaining flexibility
and maintaining competitiveness. The determination of the optimal fleet plon, including the availability of new technology, balances the level
of capocity growth required in the morkets, the competitive landscape ond whether the investment is eornings occretive. At oll times, the
Group retains significant flexibility in its fleet to respond to changes in market conditions through fleet redeployment, refurbishment, lease
extension or return and retirement.

During the year, Qantas International took delivery of two 787-9 aircraft and QontasLink activated six additional wet lease E190s from Alliance
Airlines. An additional two A320-200 aircraft were transferred from Jetstar Australia to QontasLink to support the growing resource market
and one A320-200 was returned fo the lessor. Nine next-generation A321LRs were also received in the Jetstar Group (one of the nine
A321neos went to Jetstar Japan, which is excluded from the table below) and one 737-300F was retired from freight operatians.

At 30 June 2023, the Qontas Group fleet® totalled 336 aircraft.

June June
Fleet Summary (Number of Aircraft) 2023 2022
A380-800% 10 10
A330-200% 18 18
A330-300 10 10
737-800 75 75
787-9 13 11
Total Qantas ) 126 124
717-200 20 20
Q200/Q300 19 19
Q400 31 31
€130 18 12
F100 18 18
A320-200 13 11
Total QantasLink 19 11
A320-200 56 59
A321-200 6 6
A321LR . 8 -
787-8 1 11
Total Jetstar ‘ 81 76
737-300F/737-400F 4 S
767-300F 1 1
A321-200F 3 3
747-8F - 2
747-400F 2 -
Total Qantas Freight 10 11
Total Group 336 322

20 Includes Qantas Airways, Jetstar Australio ond New Zeatand, Jetstar Asia {Singapore], Qantas Freight and QantasLink and excludes oircroft operated by Jefstar Jopan ond copocity
hire circraft 1o Jetstar Austrolia.from Jetstor Japan.
Seven A380-800 aircraft in operotion as ot 30 June 2023.
Conversion of two A330-200s expected to finalise in the first half of financial year 2023/24.
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Review of Operations continves

For the year ended 30 June 2023

SEGMENT PERFORMANCE

June June June 2018

2023 2022 {pre-COVID}
Segment Performance Summary $M $M $M
Qantas Domestic 1,270 (765) 778
Qantas International 906 (238) 323
Jetstar Group 404 (796) 400
Qantas Loyalty 451 292 376
Corporate (212) (129) (171)
Unallocated/Eliminations {137) 78 (98]
Underlying EBIT 2,682 (1,558) 1,608
Net Finance Costs (217 (301) (282)
Underlying PBT 2,465 (1,859) 1,326
QANTAS DOMESTIC
Revenue Underlying EBIT Operating Margin

6,980 ~ 1,270 ~ 18.2°

FY23 6,980 FY23 1,270 FY23  18.2%
FY22 3,448 Fv22  (765) FY22  (22.2%)

FY2l 2745 (75) Y2l (575) FY21  (20.9%)

FY20 4672 [ A Y20 173 B FY20  3.7%
5,098 FY13 6,098 778 FYlg 778 FY1S  12.8%

Metrics June 2023

ASKs T ' T M 32,513 21233 33,886
Seat Faclor % 0.9 778

Qantas Domestic reported an Underlying EBIT of $1,270 million, a significant turnaround from o loss before interest ond tax of (§765) million in
the financial year 2021/22 as capacity returned to 96 per cent of pre-CQVID levels. The result delivered an operating margin of 18 per cent
and was driven by cost transformation benefits from the Recovery Plan, structural network changes and strong travel demand particularly in
leisure segments.

In addition to the strang leisure demand, Qantas Domestic sow continued strength in resource segments and maintained leading market
share positions in both Carporate and Small and Medium-sized Enterprise (SME) segments (at ~80 per cent and ~54 per cent respectively). In
the second half, Qantas Domestic also commenced the domestic fleet renewal program, with the delivery of next-generation A220 aircraft
expected in financial year 2023/24 enabling the existing fieet of 20 717-200 aircraft to commence retirement plans.

During the first half of the year, Qantas Domestic experienced operational challenges including sick leave, supply chain and other industry
challenges. Steps were taken to address performance, including increased investment in recruitment and building network resilience. This
resulted in o steady improvement in operational performance from the second half and Qantas Domestic outperformed its major competitor
on on-time performance for the majority of the year. The improvement in aperational performance is alsa supparting customer NPS?
recovery.

23
Net promater score. Customer advacocy measure,
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Review of Operations continved

For the year ended 30 June 2023

QANTAS INTERNATIONAL (including Freight)

Revenue Underlying EBIT Operating Margin

7, 749 ! 906" 11.7

FY23 7,749 |____cos JAPEIECID

B s P2z 17y

FY22 3,706 238) I} Fy22 (238) 4% [l Y22 (6.4%)
-1598 rv21 1598 (40 [ FY2l (548) FY21 (34.3%)

6.077 FY20 6,077 | s FY20 56 loss  Fv20  0.9%
7,420 FYIS 7,420 [ ES FY19 323 Bex 9 a4y

June 2018
(pre CcoviD)

[ASK o _‘ — 87 695711
Seat factor 75.4 86.0

Qantas International (including Freight] reported an Underlying EBIT of $906 million and an operating margin of 12 per cent, a significont
turnoround fram a Loss Before Interest and Tax of ($238) million in financial yeor 2021/22. The result was supported by a strong revenue
environment, cost transformaotion benefits fram the Recovery Plan and structural uplift in Freight earnings. Premium demand was notably
strong with premium cabin seat factors averaging 92 per cent, contributing to the uplift in unit revenue performance.

June 2023 June 2022

The restoration of flying continued in the year with capacity at 65 per cent of pre-COVID levels in financial year 2022/23 (compared 0 18 per
cent in financial year 2021/22). Expansion into new routes included Melbourne-Jakarta, Melbourne-Dallas-Fort Warth, Sydney-Seoul, Sydney-
Auckland-New York and Sydney-Bengaluru. Qantas International alse commenced return to service for Sydney/Melbourne/Brisbane-Tokyo,
Sydney-Santiago, Sydney-Hong Kong ond Sydney-San Francisca. Increased flying was supported by the delivery of two more 787-3s and the
Group’s seventh reconfigured A380 returning to service. Supported by the investments in fleet, food and beverage offerings and the re-
opening of lounges, NPS recovered strangly in the second half. -

In financial year 2022/23, Freight performance moderated from a record in financial year 2021/22 as international yields adjusted to
increased belly space capacity. Despite this moderation, the Freight business delivered an approximate $150 million uplift in annual earnings
versus the pre-COVID periods, with the fourth quarter yields holding te greater than 150 per cent of the financial year 2018/19 average.

JETSTAR GROUP
Revenue Underlying EBIT Operating Margin
404 °
9.5
FY23 4,235 I 23 404 PBosx Fr23  9s%
FY22 1,440 FY22 (796) FY22 (55.3%)
FY2l 1,140 [(sa) | FY21 (541) FY2l (47.5%)
, FY20 3,006 (28 | FY20 (26) (0.9% | FY20 (0.9%)
FY19 3,961 FY19 400 Buows Fg 101%

Metrics June 2023 June 2022 (,,J,Zi'&fv".?;
Asksg T M_ 39,558 | 17.213 47,993

Seof factor 7.2 86.1]

The Jetstar Group reported an Underlying EBIT of $404 million, representing a strong turnaround to profitability despite a slower return of its
key internationol markets. Jetstar Group capacity was 82 per cent of pre-COVID levels, with seat factor increasing to 86 per cent, up from 71
per cent in financial year 2021/22.

Jetstar's Australian Domestic network delivered an Underlying EBIT of $255 million, with capacity recovered to 97 per cent of pre-COVID
levels. The domestic operating margin was 11 per cent in the year, supported by ancillary revenue growth which was up 37 per cent vs pre-
COVID levels, with the second half perfermance demonstrating a pathway to achieve its margin target of 15 per cent in financiol year
2023/24. This pathway builds on recent improvements in operational performance, supporting the future reduction in temporary costs.

Jetstar's international network reported an Underlying EBIT of $149 miillion, reflecting a progressive return of key markets, with capacity
recovered to 73 per cent of pre-COVID levels. Jetstar’'s Australian international business delivered an 11 per cent margin, demonstrating the
return of strang demand, with Jetstar resuming services to Japan and South Korea and launching Sydney-Raratonga with the next-
generation A321LR.
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Review of Operations continued

For the year ended 30 June 2023

JETSTAR GROUP (CONTINUED)

Jetstar Asia (Singapare) also demonstrated strong profitability in the year, with ROIC greater than WACC. Further growth is planned following
this strong performance, with an additional twa aircraft expected in the first half of financial yeor 2023/24.

Jetstar Group’s result includes a ($54) million loss attributable to the share of statutory losses for Jetstar Japan. This loss included an
adverse foreign exchange impact of ($12) million relative ta financial year 2021/22. Although the business was challenged with domestic
demand and an excess capacity environment in Japan with extended COVID-19 impacts in the market, the underlying performance of the
business improved $30 million vs financial year 2021/22 and is expected to return to profitability in the financial year 2023/24.

Jetstar Group received nine A321LR aircraft in financial year 2022/23 [(eight to Jetstar Australia and New Zealand ond one to Jetstar Japan),
delivering an estimated 10 per cent unit cost advantage compared to Australian competitors.

The Jetstar Group continues to deliver low fares leadership, offering over 9 million fares below $100 in the year.

QANTAS LOYALTY

Revenue Underlying EBIT Operating Margin

2,189 451" 20.6°

FY23 2,189 FY23 451 FY23 20.6%
Fv22 1334 TFY22 292 FY22 21.9%
FY21 984 FY2l 272 FY21 27.6%
FY20 1224 TFY20 341 TFY20 27.9%
FY19 1654 " FY19 376 T FYIS 22.7%

. June 2019
Metrics June 2023 June 2022 fpra-CAVIND

QFF members T - T 15.2
Points earned 175
Points redeemed® 155

Qantas Loyalty reported an Underlying EBIT of $451 million, with strong travel recovery underpinning an uplift in member engagement and
points earned and burned exceeding pre-CQVID levels. The strength of the program was reflected in membership growth, with more than one
million new members in the last 12 months.

Momentum continued as the business saw record points earned on financial services products, with spend on Qantas Points-earning credit
cards greater than 110 per cent of pre-COVID levels, and approximately 250,000 new cards acquired, up 65 per cent relative to financial year
2021/22. Qantas Peint earning credit cards continue to maintain approximately 35 per cent of all consumer spend on credit cards. Airline
redemption activity was approximately double relative to financiol year 2021/22, with redemption activity returning to 117 per cent of pre-
COVID fevels.

In addition, Qantas Loyalty generated more than $1 billion in new bookings across Hotels, Halidays and Tours, up 90 per cent relative to
financial year 2021/22, following the expansion of the Qantas Holidays brand and increased redemption value since February 2022. Since the
expansion, members have received increased redemption value, giving members substantiolly more value on Qantas Hotels and Holidays.
Other highlights in the portfolio include 41 per cent grawth in health insurance customers and greater than 60 per cent growth in travel
insurance policies sold relative to financiol year 2021/22. Qantos Business Reward members have grown 18 per cent to approximately
450,000 members, capturing one in five Australian Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (SME) relative to financial year 2021/22.

Qantas Loyalty is committed ta growing its member base through broader and deeper progrom engogement, maintaining strong member
engagement through initiatives, including the expansion of Hotel and Holiday offerings and status extensions for Qantas Frequent Flyer
members at Silver tier and above.

2 et points redeemed (in prior years gross points redeemed).
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Review of Operations continves

For the year ended 30 June 2023

RECONCILIATION OF UNDERLYING PBT TO STATUTORY PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX
The Statutory Profit Befare Tax was $2,472 million for the year ended 30 June 2023,

Underlying PBT

Underlying PBT is a non-stotutory measure and is the primary reporting measure used by the CODM for the purpose of assessing the
performance of the Group. The objective of measuring and reporting Underlying PBT is ta provide a meaningful and consistent representation
of the underlying performance of each operating segment and the Qantas Group. :

Items which are identified by Management and reported to the CODM badies as not representing the underlying performance of the business
are not included in Underlying PBT. The determination of these items is made after consideration of their noture and materiality ond is applied
consistently from period to period. ' ’

Items not included in Underlying PBT primarily result from revenues or expenses outside the ordinary course of business relating to business
activities in ather reparting periods, Recovery Plan restructuring costs, transactions involving investments, impairments of assets and other
tronsactions.

June June
2023 2022
RECONCILIATION OF UNDERLYING PBT TO STATUTORY PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX M $M
Underlying PBT | 2,465 (1,859)
Items not included in Underlying PBT
- Recovery Plan restructuring costs 5 (21)
- Reversal of impairment of assets and related costs - 3
- Net gain on disposal of Mascot land and buildings - 686
- Net gain on disposal of investments/associates 2 -
Total items not included in Underlying PBT 7 668
Statutory Profit/(Loss) Before Tax 2,472 (1191)
In the 2022/23 financiol yeor, items outside of Underlying PBT included:
Item Outside of
Underlying PBT Description
Recovery Plan $5 million primarily relates to the reversal of a redundancy provision previously recognised.

restructuring costs

Net gain on disposal of The net gain on disposal of investments/associates of $2 million arose from the sale of the Group’s investment in
investments/ Helloworld Travel Ltd (ASX: HLO).
associates

Refer to Note 2(B) of the Financial Report for details of items not included in Underlying PBT.

f
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Review of Operations continued

For the year ended 30 June 2023

MATERIAL BUSINESS RISKS

The aviation industry is subject to inherent risks that can impact operations if left untreated. These include, but are not limited to, expasure to
economic uncertainty and geopalitical instability, changes in government regulations, volatility in fuel prices and foreign exchange rates, ond
other exogenous events such as aviation incidents, natural disasters, climate change, international conflicts or an epidemic. In rare
circumstances, ‘black swan’ risk events can materialise, resulting in unexpected consequences such as those that the aviation industry
experienced due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

The Group continues to plan for a wide range of scenarios and risks ta ensure the Group maintains its strong position to support financial
targets, operational outcomes and meet travel demand ond customer expectations.

The Group is subject to material business risks which may impact the achievement of the Group's strategy and financial praspects. The
Group's focus is on continuously improving the controls to manage or mitigate these risks.

Operational and people safety: While there are inherent safety risks in aviation, the Qantas Group’s ‘safety first’ approach ensures that there
is a consistent focus on and continuous improvement in the systems and pracesses that seek to identify and treat current and emerging
safety risks 1o our people and customers, both in the air and on the ground. All Group airlines have regulatoery approved systems, including
aircraft airworthiness and maintenance as well as operational activities, procedures and training progroms utilising qualified (licensed)
personnel, approved manuals, and a robust sofety and reporting culture. Comprehensive operational and workplace qudit and assurance
programs seek to confirm that key processes and controls are operating as intended and that the Group cantinues to meet its regulatory
compliance obligations.

Physical security of people and assets: The Group is committed to protecting our people, customers, aircroft and other assets from physical
security threats and interference. A comprehensive threat and operational risk assessment program is in place which is supparted by
extensive collaboration with key Australian and international government agencies and security partners. Security screening measures are
implemented throughout the network, in line with regulatory requirements. Extensive controls are in place to protect the operational safety of
flight systems, including access caontrols to aircraft flight decks and physical security of aircraft at ports.

Liquidity and fuel price volatility (including foreign exchange): The Qantas Group's ability ta maintain sufficient liquidity is inherent in
providing for its operating needs. Maintaining access to a variety of funding sources, targeting minimum liquidity levels, and continued
vigilance on costs through ongoing focus on further transfarmation opportunities are embedded to ensure adequate coverage of liquidity
requirements, taking into consideration a range of adverse scenarios, including flexibility in setting capacity to be able to respond to sudden
changes in demand and shift in customer preferences. Following the delivery of the $1 billion angoing structural cost benefits in financial year
2022/23 which wos port of its COVID-19 pandemic Recovery Plan, the Qantos Group remains focused on delivering its strategic priorities
while continuing to protect its liquidity position through the ongoing application of its Financial Framework.

The Qantas Group is subject to fuel price (including refining margin) and foreign exchange risks which are an inherent part of the operations of
an airline and as such, are industry-wide risks. For the Qantas Group, the size of the Group’s fuel and foreign exchange risk will vary with
aperational capacity, the routes the Group operates as well as the size of fleet investment copital expenditure. The Qantas Group manages its
fuel and foreign exchange risks through a comprehensive hedging program (aligned to the Group's Treasury Risk Management Policy) which
provides time for the business to ultimately adjust capacity to reflect the new aperating environment or change its cost base. Qantas will
continue to hedge its fuel and foreign exchange risks in line with this program. The Group normally uses a mix of fuel derivative collars and
outright options to cover underlying fuel price risk and is actively managed for changes in capacity.

Competition: The markets in which the Qantas Group operates are highly competitive, and growth in market capacity ahead of underlying
demand can impact upon industry profitability. Competitars include both domestic airlines and major foreign airlines (including government-
owned or controlled airlines), some with more financiol resources or lower cost structures than Qantas. This competition may increase with
the expansion of existing airlines, the consolidation of existing airlines and/or the creation of alliances between airlines, or new airlines
entering the market.

Australia’s aviation policies favour a highly competitive environment, including more liberal rights of entry into Australian domestic and
international markets. These policies have historically attracted offshore competitors (predominantly state-sponsored airlines) to the
Australian international aviation market, which has further increased competition for passengers on international routes. Additionally, the
Qantas Group ordinarily faces high levels of price competition in the markets in which it aperates and aggressive pricing by competitors
seeking to gain market share can adversely affect the Qantas Group's revenues and yield performance. The financial impact of any
discounting of fares as a result of competitive pressures is exacerbated by the high fixed costs that characterise the aviation industry. The
combined effect of these factors may have a materially adverse effect on the revenue and financial position of the Group. The Group
continues to leverage its dual brand strategy and established governance processes to optimise network and fleet plans to enhance the
Group's competitive position, and reacts appropriately to emerging issues on pricing, network and copacity. The Group also continues to fecus
on execution of clear strategies to maintain leadership in key customer segments, enabled by strong relationship management, investment in
loyalty programs, and technology-enabled solutions.

Market demand: Demand for travel largely drives the Qantas Group’s planning as it deplays capacity based on morket demand. Unforeseen
and/or sustained change in market demand and/or change in capacity settings could result in a capacity/demand imbalance impacting on
the Group's ability to moximise its position in the market. The Qantas Group optimises network and fleet plans through its dual brand strategy,
ensuring there is flexibility to adjust capacity settings across the network to be able to respond to changes in demand. Active monitoring of
early warning indicators of changes to markets is performed to mitigate exposures ond pursue apportunities across the dual brands.

Industrial relations: The Qantas Group operates in a highly regulated employment market and a large proportion of the Qantas Group's
employees are represented by unions and are party to collective bargaining arrangements. Any significant enterprise bargaining dispute
between the Qantas Group ond its employees could lead employees to take industrial action, including work stoppages. This could disrupt the
Qantas Group's day-to-day operations and adversely affect business performance, potentially leading to reputational damage. The Group has
developed business continuity plans, including testing and rehearsal (to the extent possible], to provide continuity of operations in the event
of industrial action.
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MATERIAL BUSINESS RISKS (CONTINUED)

Customer risk: The ongaing success of the Qantas Group depends to a large degree on customer satisfaction and loyalty, particularly
considering the significant competition far passengers that characterises the aviation industry. A reduction in customer satisfaction due to
operational challenges, i.e., frequent cancellations, poor on-time performance and mishandled baggage, and the ability to claim/utilise the
remaining credit balances created in the context of COVID-19 may impact the Qontas Group’s reputation and its ability fo attract customersin
the future. The Group continues to invest in its customer experience processes and focus on improving operational reliability, provide
customers with flexibility, incentives and options to utilise their flight credits, vouchers, and Qantas Passes and has recently launched a new
campoign to actively encourage customer usage.

The Qantas Group is vulnerable to long-term changes in consumer preferences in relation to its service offerings, the markets in which it
aperates, and consumer and business sentiment towards travel, including environmental considerations and digital expectations. Any failure
by the Qantas Group to predict or respond to such changes in a timely and cost-effective manner may adversely impact the Qantas Group’s
future operating and financial performance. The Group is focused an embedding a continuous improvement culture in core business units to
ensure an integrated and consistent Group approach in managing customer concerns and complaints. As customer preferences shift, the
Group is looking to transform the customer experience through a multi-year program aimed ot adapting to new customer journey
requirements, market learnings and business need, to ensure the Group's strang market position is maintained.

Climate Change: The Group recognises that human-induced climate change is a significant issue for the aviation industry and is committed
ta supporting the aims of the Paris Climate Agreement to limit warming to well below two degrees Celsius above pre-industrial levels, and
pursuing efforts to limit the temperature increase to 1.5 degrees Celsius above pre-industrial levels. Climate-related risks include both
physical risks (such as increased extreme weather events) and transition risks (including development of alternative fuel and changes to
government policy, law and regulation). The Group monages these risks through mechanisms including, but not limited to, emission reduction
targets; scenario analysis to inform the Group’s strategy; robust governance; fleet transformation activities; investing in modern aircraft
technology; supporting a competitive sustainable aviation fuel industry in Australia; operational and market-based controls; carbon offset
programs; and monitaring government palicy. In March 2022 the Qantas Group’s Climate Action Plan was released, with targets for: a 25 per
cent reduction in net emissions from 2019 levels by 2030; 10 per cent sustainable aviation fuel in fuel mix by 2030; an average of 1.5 per cent
fuel efficiency improvements per annum to 2030; and net zero emissions by 2050. The Qantas Group is responding to increased demand for
transparency on identification and management of climate-related risks by aligning its corporate disclosures with the Toskforce on Climate-
related Financial Disclosures (TCFD).

Cyber security and data loss: The heightened cyber threat environment continues to evolve following the recent successful external cyber-
attacks on other corporations and increased cyber-criminal activities targeting organisations capable of poying ransoms. As cyber breaches
and attacks surge globally and remote ways of working continue, the Qantas Group, through its Cyber Strotegic Rood Map and utilising
learnings from analysis of cyber incidents in other arganisations, continues its proactive respanse to external and internal threats. The
approach includes heightened monitoring and assessment of its technology and data environment, further enhancing its cyber security,
privacy and data governance contrals and embedding them into business processes, taking o security and privacy by design approach and
creating a cyber-sofe and privacy-arientated culture that builds on an established safety culture and the Three Lines model.

The Group’s Data Governance Framework now includes mechanisms to ensure that ethical ond commercial data risks ore managed in
addition to data protection and privacy risks. Qantas has a defined risk and control framework, aligned with industry standards, which is
designed to protect the confidentiality, integrity, availability and privacy of data and to maintain compliance with regulatory requirements.
The Group's cyber and data privacy risks are continuously monitored by the Group Cyber and Infermation Management Committee and are
subject to independent assurance, including for significant third-party suppliers. In addition, the Qantas Group has a close working
relationship and engagement with government and industry peers to enable the Group to effectively manage cyber and privacy risks as they
evolve.

Supply chain: The Qantas Group is dependent on third-party providers for the expansion and replacement of its aircraft fleet, including
availability of slots for aircraft maintenance and supply of aircraft parts, and other critical business processes. The failure of these providers
to deliver and/or adequately perform their service obligations or other unexpected interruptions of services may couse significant disruption
to the Group's operations and have on adverse impact on financial performance. The Group continuously analyses and monitors the global
and local supply market te provide early insights to support assessments of the Graup’s supply chain exposure; proactively manages and
invests in high risk items; uses its business continuity plans fo manage the risk of supply failures and has contingency plans in place to
respond to key supplier interruption.

Policy ar regulatory change: Given the highly regulated business environment the Group operates in, any major policy or regulatory change,
such as thase in relation to competition and consumer legislation, rights of entry, climate change policy and airport infrastructure, can
significantly impact the Group’s operations, demand or competition. The Group continues to proactively engage with regulators and policy
makers to demonstrate and inform the potential implications of proposed changes and contribute to improved policy outcomes. The Group
also participates in industry bodies in Australia and internationally to proactively work with stakeholders with shared interests and drive policy
outcomes which consider industry-wide challenges and implicotions.

New business models: As more large customer brands aim for a seamless customer journey, the threot of further airline disintermediation,
the rapid rise of digitalisation and new technology ond business madels continue to evolve. The Group continues to enhance its distribution
strategy and digital capability, expand its coalition business through innovative new business models, new partners and member experience,
and invest in technological platfarms and processes to enable a significantly improved end-to-end customer journey.

An overview of the Group Risk Management Framework is contained in the Qantas Group Business Practices Document available at
www.gantas.com.au.
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OVERVIEW

Corparate governance is core to ensuring the creation, protection
and enhancement of shareholder value. The Board maintains,
and requires that Qantas Management (Management] maintains,
the highest level of ethics at all times.

The Board comprises a¢ majority of Independent Non-Executive
Directors who, together with the Group CEO and Managing Directar,
have an appropriate balance of skills, knowledge, experience,
independence and diversity to enable the Board as a collective to
effectively discharge its responsibilities.

The Board has endorsed and adopted the ASX Corporate
Gavernance Principles and Recommendations (ASX Principles)
4™ Edition throughout 2022/23.

Accordingly, Qantas Airways Limited (Qantas) has disclosed
its 2023 Corporate Governance Statement in the Corporate
Gavernance section on the Qantas website. As required,
Qontas has also lodged its Corporate Governance Statement
with the ASX.

Following is a summary of the key aspects of the Corporate
Governance Statement.

THE BOARD LAYS SOLID FOUNDATIONS FOR MANAGEMENT
AND OVERSIGHT

The Board has adopted a formal Charter, which is available
in the Corporate Governance section on the Qantas website.

The Board is responsible for agreeing and reviewing the strategic
direction of Qontas and monitoring the implementation of that
strotegy by Management.

The CEQ is responsible for the day-to-day management of
the Qantas Group with all powers, discretions and delegations
outhorised, from time to time, by the Board.

The Company Secretary is accountable directly to the Board,
through the Chairman, on all matters to do with the proper
functioning of the Board.

THE BOARD IS STRUCTURED TO BE EFFECTIVE AND

TO ADD VALUE

The Qantas Boord currently has 10 Directors. Nine Birectors are
Independent Non-Executive Directors, seven of whom have been
elected by shareholders and two have been appointed to the Board

to fill casual vacancies. The Qantas Group CEQ, who is an
Executive Director, is not regarded as independent.

Details of the Directors, their qualifications, skills, experience and
tenure are set out on pages 8 to 11 of the Qantas Annual Report
2023.

The Board has four commitiees:

- Audit Committee

- Nominations Committee

- Remuneration Committee

- Safety, Health, Environment and Security Committee.

Each of these committees assists the Board with specified
responsibilities that are set out in the Committee Charters,
as delegated and approved by the Board.

Membership of and attendance at 2022/23 Board and Committee
meetings are detailed on page 26 of the Qontas Annual Report
2023.

THE BOARD INSTILS A CULTURE OF ACTING LAWFULLY,
ETHICALLY AND RESPONSIBLY

The Board has established a Corporate Governance Framework,
comprising Non-Negotiable Business Principles (Principles) and

- Group Palicies, which forms the foundation for the way in which

Qontas and its controlled entities (Qantas Group or Group)
undertake business. The Principles and Group Palicies, including
the Qantas Group Cade of Conduct and Ethics, are detailed in

the Qantas Group Business Practices document. This Fromewaork
is supported by o rigorous Whistleblower program, which provides
a protected disclosure process for all disclosing persons, and an
Anti-Bribery and Corruption Palicy, which autlines appropriate
behaviour for all employees of the Qantas Group.

. The Qoantas Group Share Trading Policy sets out guidelines

designed to protect the Qantas Group and its personnel (including
Directors) from intentionally or unintentionally breaching the law.
The Qantas Group Share Trading Policy prohibits personnel from
dealing in the securities of any Qantas Group listed or unlisted
entity while in possession of material non-public information.

In addition, certain nominated Qantas Group personnel are

also prohibited fram entering into any hedging or margin lending
arrangement or otherwise granting a charge over the securities
of any Qantas Group listed or unlisted entity, where control of
any sale process relating to thase securities may be lost.

THE BOARD SAFEGUARDS THE INTEGRITY OF CORPORATE
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board and the Audit Committee closely monitar the
integrity of all corporate reports. Qantas has a sound system
of risk management and internal controls in place ta verify
the half-year and annual financial reports and confirm the
declarotions provided by the CEQ and CFO to the Board.

The Board and the Audit Committee also manitor the
independence of the external auditar. Qantas rotates the lead
external audit partner every five years and imposes restrictions on
the employment of personnel previously emplayed by the external
auditor. Qantas rotated its lead external audit partner during the
2021/22 financial year. The next rotation of lead external oudit
partner for KPMG will take place following the finalisation of the
audit for the 2025/26 financial year. Notwithstanding there are no
service, quality or independence issues with the current auditor, in
consideration of best practice, the Qantas Group has decided to
undertake a competitive external audit tender process during the
2024/25 financial year for appointment in relation to the 2026/27
financial year.

The Qantas Group is committed to verifying the integrity of all
other periodic corporate reports it releases to the market that are
not agudited or reviewed by the external auditor. Information
regarding the verification process is disclosed in our 2023
Corporate Governance Statement.
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THE BOARD MAKES TIMELY AND BALANCED DISCLOSURE

Qantas is committed to ensuring that trading in its shares takes
place in an orderly and informed market by having transparent
and consistent communication with all shareholders. Qantas
has an established process to ensure that it complies with

its continuous disclosure obligations at all times, including a bi-
annual confirmation by ali Executive Management that

the areas for which they are responsible have complied

with the Group’s Continuous Disclosure Policy.

Qantas proactively communicates with its shareholders via the
ASX and its web-based Newsroom, with all materials released

by the Group made available to all shareholders at the same time.
Additionally, the Qantas Board receives copies of all material
market announcements for review and approval of release to the
market, as well as a final copy promptly after they have been
made.

THE BOARD RESPECTS THE RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS

Qantas has a Shareholder Communications Policy which promotes
effective twa-way communication with shareholders and the
wider investment community and encourages participation at
general meetings. Qantas actively maintains a corporate site and
investar portal which outlines the Company’s corporate
governance policies and procedures and includes an array of
information to help assist investars to make informed decisions.

Additionally, Qantas actively conveys its publicly-disclosed
information and seeks the views of its shareholders, large and
small, in 0 number of forums, including at the Annual General
Meeting (AGM), Qantas Investor Days and, as is common practice
among its major listed peers, through periodic meetings with
current and potential institutional shareholders.

Shareholders also have the option to receive communications
from, and send communicotions ta, Qantas ond its share registry
electronically, including email notifications of significont market
announcements. Qantas is focused on reducing our carbon
faotprint whilst providing timely corporate updates and
disclosures. As such, Qantas will no longer send physical meeting
documents unless a shareholder requests a copy to be mailed.

The external auditor attends the AGM and is available to
answer shareholder questions that are relevant to the audit.
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THE BOARD RECOGNISES AND MANAGES RISK

Qantas is committed to embedding risk management practices

to support the achievement of business objectives and fulfil
carporate governance obligations. The Board is responsible

for reviewing and overseeing the risk management framewaork

for the Qantas Group, including that the Group is operating

with due regard to the risk appetite set by the Board, and

for ensuring the Qantas Group has an appropriate corporate
governance structure. Within that averall framework, Management
has designed and implemented a risk management and internat
cantrol system to manage Qantas’ material business risks.

During 2022/23, the Audit Committee undertaok its annual review
of the effectiveness of Qantas’ implementation of its risk
management system and internal control framework.

The internal audit function is carried out by Group Audit and
Risk and is independent of the external auditor. Group Audit
and Risk provides independent, objective assurance and
consulting services on Qontas’ system of risk management,
internal control and governance.

The Audit Committee approves the Group Audit and Risk Internal
Audit Charter, which provides Group Audit and Risk with full
access to Qantas Group functions, records, property

and personnel, and establishes independence requirements.

The Audit Committee also approves the appointment, replacement
and remuneration of the internol auditor. The internal auditor has
a direct reporting line to the Audit Committee and also provides
reporting to the Safety, Health, Environment and Security
Committee.

THE BOARD REMUNERATES FAIRLY AND RESPONSIBLY

The Qantas Executive remuneration objectives and approach
are set out in the Remuneration Report from page 30 to 60 of the
Qantas Annual Report 2023.

Information about the remuneration of Executive Management is
disclosed to the extent required, together with the process

far evaluating performonce, in the Remuneration Report from
page 30 to 60 of the Qantas Annual Report 2023.

Non-Executive Directors do not receive any performance-based
remuneration. Further information has been disclosed in the
Remuneration Report from pages 58 to 60 of the Qantas Annual
Report 2023.
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The Directors of Qantas Airways Limited (Qantas) present

their Report, together with the Financial Statements of the
consolidated entity comprising Qantas and its controlled entities
(Qantas Group) and the Independent Audit Report, for the year
ended 30 June 2023. In compliance with the provisions of the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), the Directors’ Report is set out below.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of Qantas at any time during or since the end of the
year are:

Richard Goyder AQ

Vaonessa Hudson (appointed S Moy 2023)
Alon Joyce AC (retired 5 September 2023)
Maxine Brenner

Jacqueline Hey

Belinda Hutchinson AC

Michael L'Estrange AQ

Doug Parker (appointed 23 May 2023)
Todd Sampsaon

Dr Heather Smith PSM (oppointed 24 August 2023)
Antony Tyler

Details of the Directors’ qualifications, experience and any special
responsibilities, including Qantas committee memberships, are
set out on pages 8 to 11.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Qantas Group during the
year were the operation of international and domestic
air transportation services, the provision of freight services
and the operation of a frequent flyer loyalty program.

DIVIDENDS AND OTHER SHAREHOLDER DISTRIBUTIONS

No final dividend will be paid in relation to the year ended 30 June
2023 (2022: nil final dividend). There was also no interim dividend
paid during the year.

In August 2023, the Directors announced an on-market share buy-
back of up to $500 million. During the year ended 30 June 2023,
Qantas completed an on-market share buy-back of $400 million
announced in August 2022, and an on-market share buy-back of
$500 million announced in February 2023, and subsequently
increased to $600 million in May 2023.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS

In the opinion of the Directors, there were no ather significont
changes in the state of offairs of the Qantas Group that occurred
during the financial year under review that are not otherwise
disclosed in this Report.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

A review of, and information about, the Qantas Group's aperations,
including the results of those operations during the year, together
with information about the Qantas Group's financial position,
appears on pages 12 ta 22.

Details of the Qantas Group’s strategies, prospects for future
financial years and material business risks have been included
in the Review of Operations to the extent that their inclusion

is not likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Qantas
Graup. In the opinion of the Directors, detail that could be
unreasonably prejudicial to the interests of the Qantas Group, for
example, infarmation that is commercially sensitive, confidential
or could give a third party 6 commercial advantage, has not been
included.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE

Refer to Note 34 of the Financial Report for events which occurred
subsequent to the balance sheet date. Other than the motters
disclosed in Note 34, since the end of the year and to the date of
this Report no other matter or circumstance has arisen that has
significantly affected or may significantly affect the Qantas
Group's operations, results of those operations or state of affairs
in future years.
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DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS

The number of Directars’ meetings held (including meetings of Committees aof Directors) and attendance of Directors during 2022/23
is as follows:

Qantas Board Remuneration Committee
Sub- Sofety, Health,
Sub- Committee Environment

Scheduled Unscheduled Committee Unscheduled Audit and Security Scheduled Unscheduled ions

Meetings Meetings Meetings® Meetings® Committee’ Committee Meeting Meeting: Committee'
Directors Attended Held® Attended Held® Attended Held® Attended Held® Attended Held® Attended Held’ Aftended Held® Attended Held® Attended Held®
Richord Goyder* 8 8 4 4 2 2 1 1 - - - - - - - - 2 2
Alar Joyee v B¢ 8 am3d 3...? ] 1 ., - - 5 5 - - - - - - ‘

e e —_— e - el RPN . _

Maxine Brenner 8 8 4 4 - - - - 5 5 - - 3 3 1 1 - -
.rJacqueIlneHey' -8 8 A...4 - - . -8 RT . J— 3 ;’1 ‘1 oA l
Belinda 8 8 4 4 2 2 1 1 5 5 5 5 - - - - 2 2
Hutchinson
Michael 8 8 4 ‘4 - - - - - - 5 5 3 3 1 1 - -
I_.__E_strange
Tadd Sampson 8 8 4 4 - - - 5 5 - - 3 3 1 1 -
Ly . o
AntonyTyle -8 8 3 4 - - - - - - 5 § - . . - 2 2]
Vanessa
Hudsan® 1 1 ! 1 ) ) 1 1 ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) )
— - W e B - . -
Doug Porker’ 1 1 - - - - - - - - L. - = e - _1

1 All Directors are invited to, and regularly attend, Commitiee meetings in an ex officio capacity. The above table reflects the attendonce of a Director anly where he or she is 0 member
of the relevant Committee.

Sub-Committee meetings canvened for specific Board-related business.

Number af meetings held during the period that the Directar held affice.

The Choirman ottends all Committee Meetings.

Number of meetings held and requiring ottendance.

Vanessa Hudson was appointed Non-Executive Director on 5 Moy 2023.

7 Doug Parker was appointed Non-Executive Director on 23 May 2023.

DIRECTORSHIPS OF LISTED COMPANIES HELD BY MEMBERS OF THE BOARD AS AT 30 JUNE 2023 - FOR THE PERIOD 1 JULY 2020 TO
30 JUNE 2023

OV s WN

Richard Goyder Qantas Airways Limited Current, appointed 17 November 2017

Woodside Energy Group Ltd Current, appointed 1 August 2017
{Vanessa Hudson Qantas Airwuys Limited Current, appointed 5 May 2023 o N ]
Alan.layce Qantas Airways Limited Ceased, appointed 28 July 2008 and ceased 5 September 2023
rjcxinlc:‘!?rcnncr i Qanfos Aurways lelrm SR ...  Cuirent, oppointed 26 /\uguct 2013 . . oo
' A ' s Qrigin Enorgy lened R Lurrent. appointed 1 November 2013 B » s

Orica lened " Current, appointed 8 Apni 2013 i e

o ctmc o Wanlwartha Graug Limited .- - - o Current, oppomtedlDecemberZOZO _

Crowthpaint Properties Australia Limited Ceosed, appointed 19 March 2012 and ceused 30 November 2020
Jacqueline Hey Qantas Airways Limited Current, appointed 29 August 2013

Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited Current, appointed 5 July 2011

AGL Energy Limited Ceased, appointed 21 March 2016 and ceased 30 May 2022
Belinda tutchinson-  Qantas Airways Limited Current, appointed 12 April 2018

i FUTURE Generation Globul lnvestmem ) Ceased, appomted 28 Moy 2015 ond ceased 17 June 2021

Company Limited = T Emmee, ' W e
Michael L'Estrange  Qantas Airways Limited Current, appointed 7 April 2016

Rio Tinto Limited Ceased, appointed 1 September 2014 aond ceased 6 May 2021

Rio Tinto plc Ceased, appointed 1 September 2014 and ceased 6 May 2021
{Todd Sompson Qantas Airways Limited Current, appointed 25 February 2015 _]
Antony Tyler Qontas Airways Limited Current, appointed 26 October 2018
{Doug Parker Qantas Airways Limited Current, appointed 23 May 2023 |
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QUALIFICATIONS AND EXPERIENCE OF EACH PERSON WHO HELD OFFICE AS A COMPANY SECRETARY OF QANTAS BETWEEN
1JULY 2022 UNTIL THE DATE OF THIS REPORT

Andrew Finch - -
Company Secretary _

BCom, LLB (UNSWJ, LLM (Hons 1) (USYD), MBA (Exec) (AGSM)

Appointed as Compony Secretary on 31 March 2014

Joined Qantas on 1 November 2012

2002 to 2012 - Mergers and Acquisitions Partner at Allens, Sydney (previously Allens Arthur Robinson

and Allen & Hemsley)

1899 to 2001 - Managing Assaciate at Linklaters, London

1993 10 1999 - Various roles at Allens, Sydney including Senior Associate (1997 to 1899] and Solicitor (1993
101997)

Admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court of NSW in 1393

Eenjumin Jones - -

‘lCompony Secretary -

LLM (USYD), LLB, BSocSci (Policy) (UNSW)
Appointed as Compony Secretary on 20 July 2021
Joined Qontas on 9 September 2013

Admitted as a solicitor of the High Court of Australia ond the Supreme Court of NSW in 2008
2008 to 2013 - Solicitor at Herbert Smith Freehills

2013 to present - Football Australia, Disciplinary and Ethics Committee Member

2013 to present - Football NSW, General Purposes Tribunal (Deputy Chair 2018 to present)

Benjamin Elliott - -
Company Secretary -

BBC, GIA (Affiliated) T

Appointed as Company Secretary on 18 February 2020

Joined Qontas on 14 August 2013

2021 to present ~ Head of Secretariat and Corporate Governance
2018 to 2021 - Manager, Group Secretariat

2014 to 2018 - Manager, Corporate Governance

2013 to 2014 - Manager, Public Company

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND BENEFITS

Particulars of Directors’ interests in the issued capital of Qantas at the date of this Report are as follows:

Number of Shares
Directors 2023 2022
Richard Goyder 225,554%; 193,537
Vanessa Hudsan 818,251° n/a
Maxine Brenner 39,498 39,498
Jacqueline Hey 64,8272 64,827
Belinda Hutchinsan 69,972 55,5787
Michael L’Estrange 33,945 33,945
Doug Parker - n/a
Todd Sampson 42,739 36,879°
Dr Heather Smith = n/a
Antony Tyler ) 52,000 52,000
1 Shares held as ot date of 2622 Annuol Report (9 September 2022).
2 Includes restricted Ordinary shares held by the Employee Share Plon Trust.
3 Includes restricted Ordinary shores owarded in the 2021-2023 LTIP held in Employee Share Plon Trust that remain subject to an odditional one-year trading restriction.
Rights held in trust under the Non-Executive Director Fee Sacrifice Share Acquisition Plan®:

Number of Rights
Directors 2023° 2022°
Richard Goyder 15,192 17,525
Belinda Hutchinsan 6,979 7.879
Todd Sampson 2,880 3,028

1 Refer to poge 60 forinformation regarding the operation of the Non-Executive Director Fee Sacrifice Share Acquisition Plan.
2 Rights held as ot dote of 2023 Annual Report (20 September 2023).
3 Rights held os ot date of 2022 Annuol Report (9 September 2022).
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DIRECTQRS’ INTERESTS AND BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

In addition to the direct interests shown, indirect interests in Qantas shares held in trust on behalf of Ms Vanessa Hudson are as follows:

Number of Rights

Rights granted under: 2023 2022
2021-2023 Long Term Incentive Plan - n/a
2022-2024 Long Term Incentive Plan 208,000? n/a
2023-2025 Long Term Incentive Plan 223,500° Co-
2022-2023 Recovery Retention Plan -4 -
Total Rights | 431,500 | n/a

1 Following the testing of performance hurdles as at 30 June 2023 and the Board’s opproval of the 2021-2023 Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) vesting outcome on 23 August 2023,
100 per cent of the 2021-2023 LTIP awarded to Ms Hudson vested and converted 1o 364,500 shares. The shares awarded remain subject to an additional one-yeor troding restriction.

Performance hurdles will be tested os ot 30 June 2024 t¢ determine whether any Rights vest 1o Ms Hudson.
Performance hurdles will be tested as ot 30 June 2025 to determine whesher any Rights vest 1o Ms Hudson.

bwn

cent of the 2022-2023 Recavery Retention Plon awarded 1o Ms Hudson vested and converted fo 262,500 shares.
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PERFORMANCE RIGHTS

Performance Rights are awarded to select Qantas Group Executives under the Qantas Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP). Additianally, the
Recovery Retention Plan (RRP) was annaunced in the second half of the 2021/22 financial year and includes the issue of Performance Rights
1o eligible employees (both non-executive and executive). Refer to pages 43 to 50 for further details.

The following table outlines the movements in Rights during the yeor:

Number of Rights

Performance Rights Reconciliation 2023 2022
Rights outstanding as ot 1 July ! 61,194,044 ; 16,568,569
5,792,250 ! 47,181,572

Rights granted during the year l
Rights forfeited during the year (2.655,176) | (871,097)
Rights vested and converted to shares during the year ' [1.143.343) i (827,568)
Rights lapsed during the year : (1.149,491) | (857,432)
Rights outstanding as ot 30 June ! §2,038,284'] 61,194,044

1 The movement of Rights outstanding os at 30 June 2023 to the date of this Report is explained in the footnotes of the toble below.

Rights will be converted to Qantas shares to the extent perfarmance hurdles have been achieved. The Rights do not allow the holder
to participate in any share issue of Qantas. No dividends are payable on Rights. The fair value of Rights granted is calculated at the date
of grant using a Monte Carlo madel ond/or Black-Scholes madel.

The fallowing Rights were outstanding at 30 June 2023:;
Number of Rights

Value ot 2023 2023 2023 2022 2022 2022
Name Testing Period Grant Dote Gront Date Net Vested Unvested Total Net Vested Unvested Total

2018-2020 30 Jun 20° 27 0ct 17 $3.30 } - 687,000 687,000 - 687,000 687,000
Long Term i
i
I

Incentive Plon

2019-2021 30 Jun 212 26 0ct 18 $2.33 - 651,000 651,000 ! - 651,000 651,000
Long Term
Incentive Plan
2020-2022 30 Jun 22! 40ct19 $4.06 i - = - - 2,292,834 2,292,834
Long Term

Incentive Plan |
2020-2022 30 Jun 222 26 0ct19 $3.59 1
Lang Term !
Incentive Plan |
2021-2023 30 Jun 23° 11 Sep 20 $2.24 ' - 8,210,480 8,210,480 = 8,408,138 8,408,138
Long Term I

Incentive Plan
2021-2023 30 Jun 23° 230ct 20 $3.07 = 1,343,000 1,349,000 - 1,349,000 1,349,000
Long Term
Incentive Plan
2022-2024 30 Jun 24 17 Sep 21 $3.90 = 3,087,900 3,087,800 - 3,271,000 3,271,000
Long Term
Incentive Plon .
2022-2024 30 Jun 24 5 Nov 21 $3.85 - 861,000 861,000 - 861,000 861,000
Long Term
Incentive Plan
2023-2025 30 Jun 25 4 Nov 22 $4.24 - 4,273,500 4,273,500 - - -
Long Term
Incentive Plan
2022-2023 30 Jun 23° 28 Feb 22° $4.98 ‘ - 40,752,904 40,752,904
Recovery
Retention Plan
2022-2023 30 Jun 23° 4 Nov 22 $5.92 - 1,422,500 1,422,500 B . .
Recovery
Retention Plan

- 743,000 743,000 = 743,000 743,000

42,931,072 42,931,072

Total ! - 62,038,284 62,038,284 | - 61,184,044 61,194,044

1 Following the testing of performance hurdles as ot 30 Jupe 2022 and the Board's opproval of the 2020-2022 vesting outcame on 24 August 2022, 50 per cent of Rights vested and
converted to shares on the day of the relesse of the 2022 Annuol Report for Executives other than the CEO. For the CEOQ, the CEQ offered, and the Board agreed, o defer the decision
until at least August 2023 os to whether his Rights wili be forfeited or allowed 1o convert to shares.

2 After agreeing in previous years to defer the decision of vesting of Rights awarded under the 2018-2020 LTIP, 2019-2021 LTIP and the 2020-2022 LTIP, the CEO elected to canvert
these Rights to shares in August 2023. Based on the testing of performance hurdles as ot the end of the relevant finoncial year of each LTIP ond the Board's approval of the vesting
outcome of the respective LTIP, 50 per cent of the 2018-2020 LTIP, SO per cent of the 2018-2021 LTIP and 50 per cent of the 2020-2022 LTIP oworded to Mr Joyce vested ond
converted to shores after the release of the 2022/23 financiol results.

3 Following the testing of performance hurdles as at 30 June 2023 and the Board's approval of the 2021-2023 LTIP and the 2022-2023 RRP vesting outcame on 23 August 2023,
100 per cent of Rights vested and converted to shares. The shores owarded under the 2021-2023 LTIP remain subject to an additiona! ane-yeor trading restriction.
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COVER LETTER TO THE REMUNERATION REPQRT

Dear Shareholder

The 2022/23 financial year was extremely challenging for our people, our customers and the aviation industry. After three particularly
difficult years for shareholders, it is pleasing to see improved financial results and a resumption of more normal levels of flying. We have
not done as well with customer satisfaction and trust as you should expect from the Qantas Group and the work continues to ensure we
return to levels that meet our customers’ expectations. We are deeply disappointed and we sincerely apologise for this situation.

This Remuneration Report sets out remuneration information for the CEO, direct reports to the CEQ (Executive Management, including
Vanessa Hudson wha was Chief Financial Officer and then the CEQ-Designate for the periad covered by this report) and Non-Executive
Directors who are Key Management Personnel (KMP).

Fixed Remuneration

In line with the end of the Group's twa-year wage freeze and after reviewing pay compared to the market, Base Pay for Executive
Management increased by 3 per cent effective from 1 July 2022. The CEO’s Base Pay remained unchanged for the fifth consecutive year.

2022/23 Annual Incentive
2022/23 Short Term Incentive Plan [STIP) Outcomes

In 2022/23, Qantas achieved an Underlying PBT of $2.465 billion and delivered a Total Shareholder Return (TSR] of 39 per cent. This was
due to continued strong travel demand enabled by our investments in new aircroft, the return of our widebody aircraft from long-term
storage, improved reliability enabling spare capacity to be released and the hard work of all our people in completion of the three-year
Recovery program.

The Board increased the weighting to Customer in the 2022/23 STIP Scorecard to underline the importance of continued improvement in
this critical area. While Qantas’ Domestic on-time performance outperformed Virgin in 11 out of 12 months, we are not yet at the level of
service our customers expect - we hear and understand their disappointment - and this performance impacted remuneration through o
Board discretion to assess a zero outcome in the Customer companent of the STIP Scorecard applicable to Executive Management.

Overall there was strong performance against the financial and some of the non-financial components that resulted in STIP incentives
being assessed at an above farget level of 126 per cent. Notwithstanding this performance, the Board has exercised its discretion to reduce
actual awards made - more on this below.

Board discretion on 2022/23 STiP

Given the chollenges currently facing Qantas, the Board has exercised the following discretion on the 2022/23 STIP outcome for the CEQ
and ol Executive Management wha were members of the Group Management Committee (GMC) far the whole or any part of the year ending
30 June 2023.

- As described above, the Customer Torget autcome moved from a small achievement to a zero achievement (2 out of 20 to zero out of
20)

- The Board has determined that there will be a 20 per cent downward adjustment in the 2022/23 STIP assessed outcomes.

- Inaddition, in light of the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission (ACCC) proceedings advised to Qantas on 31 August
2023 and the High Court finding on 13 September 2023, the Board has determined to delay delivery of the 2022/23 STIP award. The
final STIP award outcome will be determined ance the Board has further information.

Change to 2023/24 STIP Scorecard Weightings

The 2023/24 STIP Scorecard Categories will be re-weighted to 40 per cent Group Financial, 40 per cent Customer, 15 per cent Workplace
and Operational Sofety and S per cent Climate.

2022-2023 Recovery Retention Plan [RRP)

2022-2023 RRP Outcomes

The 2022-2023 RRP vested in full as a result of achieving the three perfarmance measures which were:
- Delivering the Sl billion Recavery program target by 30 June 2023

- Qontas Group’s Net Debt range below the top end of the Net Debt range as at 30 June 2023 (as approved by the Board in accordance
with the Group’s Financial Framewaork); and

- The Qantas Group is profitable on an Underlying PBT basis for 2022/23.

The RRP also delivered up 10 1,000 shares to 20,000 eligible non-executive employees in recognition of their contribution to the Group’s
recovery. As advised in the 2022 Remuneration Report there was no further restriction on the RRP shares.
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'2021-2023 Long Term Incentive Plon (LTIP)
2021-2023 LTIP Quicomes

The 2021-2023 LTIP awards vested in full bosed on Qantas' delivery of top quartile relative Total Shareholder Return (TSR] performance
against the airline peer group (ranking 1st of the 17 airlines) and the ASX100 peer group {ranking 17th). The value of the shares awarded
under this plan increased from $3.78 to $6.20 over the three-year performance period.

The LTIP awards made to Executives under the 2021-2023 plan were at a higher level than in a narmaol year due to a one-off pay remix,
approved by shareholders at the 2020 Annual General Meeting (AGM), which reduced the weighting te annual incentives and increased the
weighting ta long term incentives to strengthen alignment with the shareholder experience during execution of the Recovery progrom.

The 2n21-2023 LTIP shares are now subject to a further one-year restriction until August 2024,
Changes to 2024-2026 LTIP Weightings and Board discretion

.The 2024-2026 L1IP will introduce a third measure focused on Reputatian. The Reputoation measure will sit alongside the two existing
1elulive T3R measuroo, all of which will he aqunlly welutiley,

At the same time, commencing with the 2024-2026 LTIP, full Boord discretion on the vesting outcome will be introduced for the first time,
aligning the Group to market practice.

Malus and Clawback

‘The axigting Remuneration framewnrk pravides the Board with mechanisms to apply remuneration consequences through malus and
clowhack. We have detailed further information on this topic in the body of Ihe report.

Summary of CEQ Remuneration Qutcomes in 2022/23 and CEQ Succession

The CEQ's total pay outcome for 2022/23 was $21.4 million. The 2022/23 STIP is not included due to the treatment described above in the
STIP Board discretion item. The 2022/23 STIP and the 2021-2023 LTIP remains subject to Board discretion and clawback, should the Board
determine this to be necessary. The full extent of the CEQ’s remuneration subject to clawback and/or malus is up to $14.4m as set out in the
body of the report. Statutory remuneration was $11.9 million.

After offering in previous years to defer the decisian on vesting of Rights awarded under the 2018-2020 LTIP, 2019-2021 LTIP and the

_2020-2022 LTIP, the CEQ elected in August 2023 ta convert these Rights fo shares. The combined value of these three LTIPs contributed
$6.45 million to the CEQ’s actuol oulcome of $21.4 million for 2022/23. Tn ensure transparency on the full value of LTIP awards that vested
during the year, Qantas has disclosed each of the LTIP outcomes that have vested to the CEQ in the actual remuneration outcome for
2022/23.

CEO Succession

During the year, we olso announced significant changes to our Executive team, with the CEQ announcing his retirement, which occurred
after the 2022/23 period covered by this report. No severance payment was made to the CEO upon his departure. The succession of CEO-
‘ Designate Vanessa Hudson to the CEQ position took place on 6 September 2023. Ahead of this transition, the Board commissioned detailed
" market benchmarking to establish the appropriate remuneration level for the new CEO. Consistent with overall market trends, and refiecting
the foct that this is Ms Hudson's first CEO level appaintment, her starting Base Pay and total remuneration is fower than her predecessor.

"Non-Executive Director Board fees

Non-Executive Director Board fees were ramixed during 2022/23, with an increase in Board fees offset by the removal of the Nominations
“Cotminitlue fes, This wna all undertaken within the current NED fee pool limit. There was no change to the Chairman fees.

The Board hns resolved that there will he a zero increase in Chair and NED fees, effective 1 July 2023 for the 2023/24 year.

B

Hinvile yuu fy review the 2023 Remuneration Repnrt.

ey

Jacqueline Hey
Chnir, Ramunergtion Committee
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1 REMUNERATION REPORT SUMMARY
The objectives of, and approach to, Qantas’ Executive Remuneration Framewark are summarised as follows:

Supports
Business
Objectives

|
Market /->)perutes /

o

Competitive Sustainably,

Remuneration

Governance

Remuneration Objectives Remuneration Effectiveness

- Supports Business Objectives: Encourages the pursuit - Oversight: Remuneration governance roles clearly defined
of growth and the success of Qantas. Aligned with Qantas’ for the Board; Remuneration Committee; Safety, Health,
purpose, values, strategy and risk appetite. Aligned with Environment and Security Committee; Audit Committee;
shareholder requirements and the Board's independent remuneration consultant

- Operates Sustoinably: Encourages sound management - Structure: Design elements that reward for performance, but
of financial and non-financial risks. Encourages good also protect against unintended or unjustified pay outcomes
conduct and discourages mlscqnduqt. Considers cost and - Operation: Demonstrated history of aligning remuneration
reputational factors ond complies with relevant laws and : . e
regulations oytcomes with pe.rfor.mance, oppropnote application of Board

- Market Competitive: Attracts, motivates and appropriately discretion and adjusting remuneration outcomes based on

) ’ individual performance and conduct

rewards a capable management team. ) - .
- Quantum: Remuneration decisions made with reference

ta comparable roles in other listed Australian companies.
A more detailed description is provided on pages 40 1o 41.

The structure of the Executive Remuneration Framework is as follows:

Bose Pay Fixed Annual Remuneration inclusive of Cash
- superannuation
Annual Incentive - "An annual incentive opportunity i Cash
Alsareferredtoas the |I - Balanced Scorecard f
Short Term Incentive (financial and non-financio! measures) I
Plan (STIP) - Individual performance 7 - -
(achievements and conduct) ’ Shares 1] Deferral Period Additional Lock
- Delivered two thirds cash and ane third |
shares [
Restriction g
Long Term Incentive - Award of Rights 50% of Rights may vest, subject to Qantas’ TSR Additienal Lock =4
Alsoreferredtoosthe || - qantes’ three-yeor TSR performance relative performance relative to airline peers 2
Long Term Incentive to: 8
Plan {LTIP) ' . —— = — B
- Aglobal girline peer graup 50% of Rights may vest, subject to Qontas’ TSR Additional Lock a
- ASX100 companies performance relative to ASX100 companies
- Rights may convert to shares on vesting

Performance Restriction

Yearl Year 2 Year 3 Yeor 4
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'BASE PAY OUTCOMES ~ ~ ~

The CEO's Buse Poy remoined unchonged [nnd hns not increosed
since 2018). Executive Management received 3 per cent Base Pay
increases, their first increase (excluding promotions, where
applicable) since 1 July 2018. The Base Pay for euch Executive
KMP is provided on page 53.

ANNUAL INCENTIVE PLAN

Annual Incentive — Structure

The STIP is an annual incentive opportunity where an
Executive may receive an award that Is a cuinbination
of cash and restricted shares if the plan’s performance
conditions are achieved.

purpnqe

Reward for individual and Qantas Group performance, aligned
with annual performance objectives.

Target and Maximum Opportunity

. ) Executive
% uf Buse Puy CEO managemen!
Target 100% 80%
Moximum 200% 160%

Business Performance
STIP Scorecard:

- Asingle Nantas Group Scorecard that applies to the CED and

Executive Management

- Abalanced set of financial and non-financial measures.
Individual Perfarmance
Individual Pertormance ractor (IFF).

~ Delivery against individual objectives

- Behaviour and how it aligns to the Qantas Group behaviours.
The IPF ¢an rango from @ to a maxvimum of 1,5,

STIP Formula
Target STIP Scorecard 1
Bose Pay | Opportunity X Qutcome X IPF
Delivery

f.nsh: Two thirds

Shares: One third with a two-year deferral period and an
additional ong-yaur irudliy 1estriction, during which shares
cannot be traded and are subject to clawback.

Disclosure

In addition to required statutory disclosures, Qontas chaoses to
disclose the full value of each year's STIP award (in years where
the STIP award is made), disclosing both:

- The value of cash awards made

- The full value of restricted shares thot were awarded
[notwithstanding thot these shares ore still subject to o
two-year deferral period and one-year trading restriction).

Board Discretion

The Board retains discretion over any awards made under the
STIP. Previously, the Board has applied its discretion in
circumstonces where - although Scorecard measures had been
achirver nr exceeded - the Boord deemed it more approprigte to
make a nil or reduced award under the STIP ar to deliver u higher
proportion of an award in Qantas shares.

34
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Annual Incentive Qutcomes

2022/23 STIP Outcome

The 2022/23 STIP Scorecard Qutcome was 126 per cent. This
Scorecard Qutcome was determined based on the Board's
assessment of Management’s achievement against the
Scorecard’s perfarmance measures,

2022/23 3TIF Goorooard

Each year, the Board sets the performance measures that
comprise the STIP Scorecard in alignment with the Qontas
Group's strategic priorities. For 2022/23, the Boord determined to
return to Underlying PBT as the primary financial measure, with a
woighting of 5N per rent of the STIP Scorecard. Acknawledging
our need to do mare to deliver the service our customers expect,
the STIP Scorecard weighting to Customer in¢reased v 20 pes
rent Nur axisting suite of ESG measures were further enhanced
with tho addition nf n climate measure with a 5 per cent
weighting.

There wns 5trong performance against both the financial and
some of the non-finonciol components of Ihe 5111 beorecuid. by
acknowledgement that aur broader customer performance did
not meet expectotions the Board exercised discretion fo zero the
Customer component resulting in an outcome of 126 per ceint
(out of a maximum 175 per centl under the 2022/23 STIP.

Weighting

Strategic Objective (targer) Oulcune
Group Profitability 50% ]
Transformation and Growth 10% [ ]
Customer 20% *

§ Workplace and Operational Safety 15% O
Climate 5% o
STIP Scorecard Uutcome 100% 126%

@ Torget achieved or exceeded
€ Partigl echievement against targets
@ No achievement agginst targets

Board Discretion on 2022/23 STIP
Priar to the delivery of the 2022/23 STIP award the Board
became aware of a number of matters which - in addition to the
below threshold Customer performance during the year - had
serious impacts on the reputation of the Group:

- The launch of ACCC proceedings (31 August 2023)

- Afindingin the High Court that the Group had breached the

Fair Work Act (13 September 2023).

These issues caused the Board to exercise discretion under the
STIP to reduce the calculated outcame for the CEQ and Executive
Management by 20 per cent. Further, as proceedings into the
ACCC matter are ongoing, the Board has determined to delay its
decision as to whether to approve the vesting of the STIP until it
has further information available. Should the Board determine to
vest any award under the 2022/23 STIP it will be fully disclosed
in the applicable future Remuneration Report.
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RECOVERY RETENTION PLAN

Recovery Retentlon Plan - Structure

The RRP was a one-off, two-year plon that involved an upfront
award of a fixed number of Rights. If performance and service
conditions are achieved aver a two-year period, Rights vest and
convert to Qantas shores.

The RRP replaced the annual participation in the STIP for
2021/22 only. In 2022/23 Quntas reverted to the prior procnce of
thesTIP. e e ~ o

o = ' - -

g h
Purpose
Reward for longer term delivery of the three key pillars of the

Group's post- pondem|c success.

- -

The number of Rights awarded under the RRP was calculated by
applying a face value methodology to determine the maximum
number of Rights that may vest ond convert to Qantas shares.
The target opportunity for the CEQ and Executive Management

was as follows: o
forget Executive
Opportunity CEQ Management

% of Base Payona

face value basis 150%

120%

The number of Rights awarded was determined by applying the
fallowing formula:

Face Value of
Right

Target
Opportunity

Base Pay X

Business Performance

The Board determined the performance conditions in August
2021 for the RRP as follows:

- The Qantas Group meets its $1 billion Recovery program
target by 30 June 2023

- Asat 30 June 2023, Qantas Group's Net Debt range is below
the top end of the Net Debt range as approved by the Board
in accordance with the Group's Financial Framework

- The Qantas Group is profitable on an Underlying PBT basis for
2022/23.

Board Discretion

The Board retained discretion on vesting of the award in the
event of a material safety failure.

Delivery

If performance and service conditions are achieved, Rights vest
and convert to Qantas shares.

Disclosure

In addition to the required statutory disclasures, Qantas chooses ¢
to disclose the full value of RRP awards that vest during the year,
based on the share price ot the end of the perfoermance period.

Further detail on the RRP is provided on pages 49 to 50.

e

Recavery Retention Plan Qutcomes

RRP - Achievement of Performance Conditions

Performance Measure Outcome
Delivery of $1 billion Recovery program [ ]
Achieving Qontas’ stated Net Debt target ]
Achiaving orofitobilify at tie uriderlying level tor . ' . T

2022/23

o Torget achieved or exceeded . .

. No achievement against targets

RRP Qutcome

Based on full achievement of the three performance conditions,
100 per cent of Rights awarded under the 2022.2023 RAN vested
and converted to shares.
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LONGTERMINCENTIVEPLAN - - - - - - |

Lang Term Incentive — Structure

The LTIP is a four-year plan that involves an upfront award of o
fixed number of Rights. If performance and service conditions are
achieved over a three-year period, Rights vest and convert to
Qantas shares which are then restricted for o further one-year.

" Purpose s . S
.Reward for longer term Qantas Group performance.
Target Opportunity and Allocation Methodology

The number of Rights awarded under the LTIP has been
calculated by applyiny o face value methodology to determine
the maximum number of Rights that may vest and convert to
Qantas shares. The target opportunity for the CEQ and Executive
Management is as follows:

Executive
Target Opportunity CEO Management
Standard % of Base Poy
6n d face vulue busis 185% 5%
One-off % of Rnse Pay
on a face value basis 235% 135%

~ for2021-2023 LTIP

The number of Rights awarded is determined by applying the
folluwing formula:

B « Target . | race value uf
Opportunity |~ Right

Business Performance

Base Pay

Qantas’ three-year Total Shareholder Return (TSR] performance
relativa to:

- A globufoirline peer group
- ASX100 companies.
Dellvery

If performance and service conditions are achieved, Rights vest
and convert to Qontas shares. A further one-year trading
rootrintian on vestad shares applies, uing which the sharos
cannot be traded and are subject to clowback. ‘

Disclosure

In addition to the required statutory disclosures, Qantas chooses

to disclose the full value of LTIP awards that vest during the year,
disclosing the value of the LTIP awards based an the share price

at the end of the perfoermance period.

Rights Awarded Under the 2021-2023 LTIP

Executives received a larger award under the 2021 2023 LTIP,
due to the Pay Remix in 2020/21. This one-off change in 2020/21
immlved n decrease in thot veor's unnual incentive opportunity,
offset by an increase in that year's Iong term incenfive
opportunity to align remuneration m the three-vear Recovery
Plan. " - - = e .

fro——

L f Uit e
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Long Term Incentive Qutcomes

2021-2023 LTIP - Achievement of Performance Conditions’

Qantas’ three-year relative TSR performance was ranked:

Airline Peer Group ASX100

-1st . 1th.

(performance condition fuliy ' [p-erformunce condition fully
achiovod) achieved)

LTIP Qutcomes

Rased on Qontas’ top quartile TSR performance against bath the
ASX100 and airline peer groups, 100 per cent of Rights awarded
under the 2021-2023 LTIP vested and converted to shares which
are subject to a further one-year trading restriction.

Longer Term TSR Performance

Qantas cantinied to gutperform the majority of its airline peers,
achicving top quartile relntive TSR performance for the eighth
conserntive rlling three-vear periad.

QANTAS AND AIRLINE PEERS — THREE-YEAR TSR PERFORMANCE!
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M qontas I3 Top Quartile M 2nd Quortile I Below Medion

LTIP Period Airline Peer Group ~ ASX100 Peer Group
2021-2023 Top quartile Top quartile
2020-2022  Top qudrﬁle Below median
2018-2021 Top quartile Below median
2018-2020 Top quartile Below median
2017-2019 Top quartile Top quartile
2016-2018 Top quartile Top quartile
2015-2017 Top quartile Top quartile
2014-2016 Top quartile Top quartile

1 TSR performance, applying the LTIP ﬁerformunce test methodology (which uses
the average closing shore price over the six months preceding the fest date of
30 June 2023]

un
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~ REMUNERATION OUTCGOMES FOR THE CEO

The CEQ’s total pay outcome for 2022/23 was higher than 2021/22. The Group’s sustained performance was recognised through the
operation of the Group's RRP and LTIP. A one-off increase to the CEO's total pay was also realised by the CEQ electing to accept the previously
deferred Rights under the 2018-2020 LTIP, 2018-2021 LTIP and 2020-2022 LTIP. The CEQ’s STIP award has not been finalised as the Board
has determined to deloy its decision as to whether to approve the vesting of the 2022/23 STIP until it has further information available.

Base Pay

The CEO did not receive a Base Pay increase during 2022/23.
Base Pay (cash) is $2,144,708 (Base Pay of $2,170,000 less
superannuation contributions of $25,292).

Annual Incentive — STIP

§2,200

$1100
2022 2023

$'000

B Bose Pay {cash)

Based on the Board's assessment of performance agoinst the
STIP Scorecard measures and the CEQ’s individual performance,
* the CEQ’s STIP oward was initiolly calculated as follows:

- ' - -

Total = BasePay x ‘Target’ X STIP X Individual
Opportunity Scorecord Performonce
. X - Oulvuiie Orgetet
$2734200 = $2170,000 x 100% X 126% X 1

the Board has reduced the CEQ’s calculated outcome by a
further 20 per cent to $2,187,360. The CEQ’s STIP award has not
been finalised as the Board has determined to delay its decision
as to whether to approve the vesting of the STIP until it has
further information available.

The STIP Scorecord E]utcome is detailed on page 51.

O e or - - - . e

Recovery Retention Plan - 2022-2023 RRP

L

The Individual Performance Factor (IPF] for the CEO was
determined by the Board based on its assessment of the CEQ's
contribution. - - - - - B

$3,000

o $2,000
a

“ 31,000

$0 S0
S0
2022 2023
B sTIP-Cashbonus [0 STIP - shore-based p

Nate 1 The implementation of the RRP replaced the annual STIP appartunity for
2021/22. As a rasult, ne annuct STIP awords were poid for 2U21(22‘

- 1

~— RV -

At the 2022 AGM shareholders approved a grant of 638,000
Rights under the 2022-2023 RRP.

Based on Qantas’ achievement against the performance
measures, 100 per cent of Rights vested and converted to shares.
The share price appreciation from 1 July 2021 to 3G June 2023
represents $1,075,000 (25 per cent] of the $4,327,000 realised
autcome.

Long Term Incentive

$4,500
$3,000
$1,500 $0

$o

$'00C

... I

2023

2022

B Recovery Retention Plan

Note 1 The number of Rights vested multiplied by the Qantas shore price of $6.20 ot
30 June 2023 ’

The 2020/21 Pay Remix (detailed on page 36) applied to the CEQ

as follows: .

0. The CEQ's 2020/21 STIP oppoartunity wos decreased from 100
per cent of Base Pay to 50 per cent

b. The CEO's dward of Rights under the 2021-2023 LTIP was
increased from 185 per cent of Base Pay to 235 per cent.

Following this pay remix, at the 2020 AGM shareholders approved

an award of 1,343,000 Rights to the CEO under the 2021-2023

LTIP.

BOsed on Yantas’ top quartile TSR perfarmance over the three-
year performance period of the 2021-2023 LTIP, 100 per cent of
Rights vested and the CEO was awarded 1,349,000 shares. A
further one-year trading restriction on vested shares applies.

After agreeing in previous years fo defer the decision on vesting
‘of RIghts awarded under the 2018-2020 LTIP, 2019-2021 LTIP

and 2020-2022 LTIP, the CEO elected to canvert these Rights to
shares in August 2023.

ca
SRR YTV PR -k .

To ensure transparency on the full value of LTIP awards that
vested during the year, Qantas has disclosed in the actual
remuneration outcome the CEQ's total LTIP oautcome for
2022/23. The total share price appreciation across the four LTIPs
listed represents $3,740,000 (25 per cent) of the $14,815,000
realised outcome.

§ $10.000

2 s7.500

$2.500
0 - - e e -

2021-2023 LTIP

Prior Yeor LTiPs

w20N-20031TP w0 2018-2020LTP m 2019-2021 LTIP m 2020-2022L WP

Note 1 The number of Rights vested multiplied by the Qontas share price of $6.20 ot
3n.tna 2023, :
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Actual 8 Statutory Remuneratlon 0utcomes

The actual remuneration outcomes for the CEQ in 2022/23 are
detailed in the following table.

The statutary remuneration disclosures for the CEQ are prepored
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards.

CEQ Remuneration 2023 2022 The statutary disclosures differ from the actual remuneration
Qutcomes™ $'000 $'000 outcomes for the CEQ due to the accounting treatment of share-
Base Hay (cash) - 2145 2148 bosed payments for the STIP, RRP and LTIP.

STIP - cash bonus® ; - ’, 2023 2022
STIP - share-based® - - CEO Statutory Remuneration $'000 $'000
RRP - vesting 4,327 - Dosac May {Cagh) 2,145 2,146
2010-2020LTIM  vacting® 2130 - STIP - cash bonus' 1,458 -
2019-2021 LTIP - vesting* 2,018 - STIP - shore-based! cas 31
2020-2022 LTIP - vesting* 2,303 - RRP 3.304 -
2021- 2023 LTIP - vesting" 8,364 - LTIP 4,231 3,272
Oller 156 126 Other 156 126
Toral Actuul Outcome® 21,443 2.272 Total 11,919 6,575

The nan-statutory remuneration methadology is explained on pages 45 to S0.

i > ! 2S5 49 1 in relotion to the STIP, the Board has determined to deiay its decisian as fo wneine
2 Areconciliation of remuneration outcomes to statutory remunerotion disclosures

1o opprave the vesting of the 2022/23 STIP, until it has further information

is provided on page 44. - . ovailoble, without adjusting the original service period. Statutary Remuneration
3 The CEQ’s STIP award has not been finalised as the Boord has determined to deloy reported above (STIP- cash bonus and STIP - share based) is calculated with
its decision as to whether to approve the vesting of the STIP until it has further ref e 10 the moximum ining potential of the 2022/23 STIP

information avoitable. (Scorecard Qutcome is 126 per cent less the 20 per cent reduction applied by
Each LTIP Award was previously approved by Shoreholders of the respective AGM. Board discretion). The final outcome of the 2022/23 STIP may be less thon this
5 The shore price oppreciotion for the RRP ond LTIPs represents $4.815 million of amount or potentially nil, in which event the Stetutory Remuneration expense

the 821 & mfllinn, reported may be fully or partially reversed in the future finoncial reporting periods.

R

CEO Remuneration Outcomes History (2013/14 to 2022/23)

Qontas’ incentive owards are desiyned 1o align Cxecutive romuneration outenmes with business performance. This alignment Is
demonstrated each year in the variability of the incentive plan outcomes for the CEQ driven by actual performance or Board discretion.

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2018 2020 2021 2022 2023

Underlying PBT ($M) ($646) $975 $1,532 $1,401 $1,565 81,326 S124 {$1.774)  (81.858)  $2.465
ROIC %' {1.5%) 16.2% 22.7% 20.1% 21.4% 19.2% 5.8% (21.4%] (31.6%) 103.6%

Group ROIC is expected to maderote in future periods as Invested Capital rebuilds, however steuciurol changes in eornings, ond working copitol benefits are expected 1o deliver Gruup
ROIC in excess of pre-COVID Jevels.

-

£ 150%
& 125%
s 100%
2 75%
O so%
2& 85% [I160% [l 1005 Bl 1405 [l 100% [l 1285 I 1005 S 51% [l 1007 23 M M 0% M 0% 100%)
SI'IPTI.TIP STIPTLTIP stp | e | sne | e TI'IPTLTIP sTip I e | sne I e | sme? | e ' s’ | RRP | LTIP
Cutcomes: 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

W STIP Scorecard Outcome BRRP Vesting BLTIP Vesting

1 After agreeing in previous years ta defer the decision of vesting of Rights owarded under the 2018-2020 LTIP (343,500 Rights), 2019-2021 LTIP (325,500 Rights) and 2020-2022
1 1 {371.300 Righlu), the GLU slecied to conwut these Rights ta shares in Auqust 2023 Arcardingly, the 2020, 2021 and 2022 LTIP Outcomes for the CEQ have been updoted to
reflect the vesting of Rights under the respective plans.

2 1he Buurd dulunniined thot tho £TIM would not operate in 2121/22, This was replaced by the RRP. Shureho!der approval wos sought and received at the 2022 AGM for the CED's
participotion in the RRP ond for the CEQ's grant of Rights under the plon

3 The CI:EC: 's STIP oword hos not been finalised as the Beord has determined 1o delay its decision as te whesher to approve the vesting of the STIP until it has further information
availoble.

CEO Remuneration subject to Malus or Clawback

The Remuneration Framewark, which delivers rewards to executives in a mixture of cash and deferred or restricted shares, also provides the
Board with the mechanisms to apply significant remuneration consequences through malus and/or clawback. The following toble sets out the
amount of bulh restricted and unvested equity on which this may be applied if determined by the Board that this is justified.

Value of Shc:lresl
Number of Number of andRights™ peterrgl / Restriction Date /
N Plan Shares Rights $'000 Test Date
Alan Joyce 2022/238TIP2 o - - - ] _
2021-2023 LTIP 1,349,000 - 8,364 August 2024
- . 2022-2024 LTIP® | . 626,110 3882 August 2024
2023-2025 LTIP® N 353,956 - 2,195 . Auguct 2025
Total 1,349,000 980,066 14,441
1 Interestin shores or rights as at 30 June 2023 multiplied by the Qontos share price of $6.20 ot 30 June 2023. »
2 The CEU's STIP award hos not been finglised ac the Board has determined to deloy its decision os to whether to approve the vesting of the STIP until it hos further information

available.

3 Rights awarded under the 2022-2024 LTIP and 2023-2025 LTIP are subject ta performance hurdles that ore yet to be tested. The Rights may vest and convert to shares at the end of
the performonce period subject 10 the achievement of the original respective performance conditions. Any shares ollocated following the vesting ore subject ta a one-year trading
restriction. The volue shown is an indicative volue assuming full vesting: the octual vesting outcome may vary and could be nil.
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Ms Hudson was appointed CEQO-Designate on 2 May 2023, and commenced as CEQ on 6 September 2023 (past the period covered by this
report).

Ms Hudson's Base Pay and Total Remuneration was set at a level below her predecessor fa reflect that Ms Hudson is a first-time CEOQ. Details
of the remuneration arrangements under her employment agreement as CEO are set out below.

Base Pay

From 2 May 2023, Ms Hudson's Base Pay increased to $1,300,000 in recognition of the additional responsibilities and workload that she would
assume under the transition from her current role as CFO. Effective 6 September 2023, her Bose Pay will increase to $1,600,000 per annum
upon stepping into the CEQ role. Base Pay can be taken as cash or non-cash components such as superannuation and motar vehicles. The
next review of Base Pay for Ms Hudson will be in 2024.

Defined Benefit Superannuation

At retirement, Ms Hudson's total Defined Benefit (DB) benefit will be a lump-sum amount calculated using a pre-determined formula for her
member category, which is based on the relevant Final Average Salary (FAS), Credited Service and Accrual Rate. The FAS is the highest final
average annual Superannuation Salary calculated over any consecutive three financial years ending 30 June in the most recent 10 year
period. Superannuation Salary is an amount used to determine how much to cantribute fo Superannuation, Credited Service is the tength of
time that the employee has been continuously employed by the Qantas Group and Accrual Rate is a fixed pereentage uged to calculate DD.

Ms Hudson has contributed at least 4 per cent of her Superannuation Salary during each year of DB membership and these contributions, \
together with investment earnings in the DB plan, will form part of her DB entitlement. The balance of the cost is met by Company
confributions to the DB plan together with investment earnings, a portion of which will form part of her DB entitlement in the DB plan. The |
octuarial value (under AASB 119 ‘Employee Benefits'] of Ms Hudsan's DB benefit accrued aver her total DB plan membership to 30 June 2023 |
is included in the Defined Benefit Obligation for oll DB members shown in Note 28 of the Financial Report. The Company financed cost (under
AASB 119 ‘Employee Benefits’) of Ms Hudson’s superannuation accruing over the financial year ending 30 June 2023 was $121,224 and is

detailed on page 43 within post-employment benefits. . ; . . . = .

Incenrlves:

STIP: The Target oward under the STIP is 100 per cent of Base Pay, with a Maximim nwnrd ¢cappad at 1RN per cont of Dues Puy. —

LTIP: On an annual basis Ms Hudsoﬁ will be invited to participate in the LTIP. Ms Hudson is eligible for a maximum award under the LTIP of
160 per cent of Base Pay. The minimum award is nil, which would occur if the threshold level of performance is missed on each LTIP measure.
Shareholder approval for Ms Hudson's participation in the LTIP and grant of Rights under the 2024-2026 LTIP will be sought at the 2023 AGM.

"CHANGES TO REMUNERATION FRAMEWORK FOR 2023/24 .

The Remuneration Framework is cantinually monitored and refined to ensure that it remains aligned with the business strategy. As the
recovery of the business accelerates and moves inte more normalised trading conditions, the focus broadens from recovery-related
measures ta ather concerns, in particular, further increasing our focus on delivering great experiences for our customers, and through this,
the sustained work 1o repair our reputation. Looking ahead to 2023/24, the fallowing changes have been made to the Framework:

STIP Scorecard

Acknowledging our need to do mare to deliver the service our customers expect, the STIP Scorecard weighting will be further increased toward

Customer with Group Financial and Customer Scorecard categories assigned an equal target weighting of 40 per cent respectively. This i
adjustment doubles the weighting to Customer from 20 per cent in the 2022/23 STIP Scorecard. The Workplace and Operotional Safety and i
Climate categories retain the same weighting as 2022/23 STIP Scorecard.

In response to the heightened level of cyber security risks that have been evident in Australia in recent times, the Group has acknowledged |
the importance of Qantas being prepored to meet this threat and as a result has introduced a cyber security metric into the STIP Scorecard
Custamer category. In alignment with the Group’s cyber maturity and strategy to further embed cyber into the business and management
accountabilities, the selected measure is the Phishing Simulation Click Rate, which is the industry-leading metric for People Cyber (Human
Firewall] and a key risk/behavioural metric important in protection of our customers’ dota.

A climate-related performance measure was first introduced into the STIP Scorecard in 2022/23 to include a CO, emissions reduction target.
In addition to decarbonisation, waste is also o key facus of the Qantas Group Climate Action Plan (CAP), and the climate measure for 2023/24
will be expanded to include a waste target for deployment of key initiatives.

LTIP

The Remuneration Committee regularly considers the operation of the LTIP. Effective from 1 July 2023 for the 2024-2026 LTIP, the Board has
introduced a third measure focused on Reputation. The Reputation measure will sit alongside the two existing relative TSR measures, all of
which will be equally weighted. At the same time, commencing with the 2024-2026 LTIP, full Board discretion over the vesting outcome will
be introduced for the first time, aligning the Group to market practice. Further details on 2024-2026 LTIP will be provided in the Notice of
Meeting to the 2023 AGM. .
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The Remuneration Report sets out remuneration information for the CEQ, Executive Management (including the CEQ-Designote] and Non-
Executive Directors wha are Key Management Personnel (KMP). Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) requires disclosure of
remuneration information for KMP, with KMP defined in Australian Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures as those persons
having authority and respansibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any
Director (whether Executive or otherwise] of that entity. CEO and Executive Management (and their statutary remuneration disclosures) are
listed on page 43. Non-Executive KMP (and their statutory remuneration disclosures) ore listed on page 59.

2 REMUNERATION GOVERNANCE
The objectives of Qantas’ Executive Remuneration Framework are to:

- Support Business Objectives by:
- Encouraging the pursuit of growth and the success of Qantas
- Aligning with Qantas’ purpose, values, strategy and risk appetite
- Aligning with shareholder requirements.
- Operate Sustainably by:
- Encouraging the sound management of financial and non-financial risks
- Encouraging good conduct and discouraging misconduct
- Considering cost and reputational factars and complying with relevant laws and regulations.
- Be Market Competitive to attract, motivate and appropriately reward o capable management team.

These objectives are achieved by the Board applying a robust and rigorous opproach to remuneration governance and effectiveness across
the areas of oversight, structure, operation and quantum as described below:

Oversight The remuneration governance roles of the Board; the Remuneration Committee; the Safety, Health, Environment and
Security Committée; the Audit Committee; and the Board's independent remunerotion consultont Ernst & Young [EY) ore

each clearly defined.

The Remuneration Committee (a committee of the Board, whose members are detailed on pages 8 to 11) has the role of
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on specific remuneration matters at Qantas. The Committee
makes recommendations it believes are apprapriate from the perspective of business performance, individual
performance and conduct, risk, governance, quantum and market conditions.

The Safety, Health, Enviranment and Security Committee and the Audit Committee have appropriate input into
remuneration decision-making. The Chairs of both committees regularly attend Remuneration Committee meetings and
provide written input into remuneration decision-making. A member of the Remuneration Committee is also a member
of the Sofety, Health, Environment and Security Committee and the Audit Committee. All Board members are invited
and eligible to attend Remuneration Committee meetings.

During 2022/23, EY continued as the Remuneration Committee’s remuneration consultant. The Remuneration
Committee hos established pratacols in relation to the appointment and use of remuneration consultants to support
comgliance with the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), which are incorporoated into the terms of engagement with EY.

The Remuneration Committee did not seek, nor receive, a formal remuneration recommendation (as defined

in the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth}]) during 2022/23.
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Structure The Framework has design elements that protect against the risk of unintended and unjustified pay outcomes.
These design elements include:
- Diversity in incentive plan performance measures, which as a suite of measures cannot be directly
or imprudently influenced by any individual employee
- Individual performoance defined ond assessed in ferms of both achievements and conduct
- The Board retaining discretion over remuneration outcomes
- Clear maximum values specified for STIP Scorecord outcomes and a challenging vesting scale under the LTIP
- Diversity of the timeframes within which perfarmance is measured, with performance under the STIP measured over
one year and performance under the LTIP measured over three years
- Deferral of a portion of awards ur)der the STIP for two years, with an additional ane-year trading restriction providing
further alignment with shareholder interests
- Deferral of Rights that vest and convert to shares under the LTIP, with shares subject ta a one-year trading
restriction to provide further alignment with shareholder interests
- A clawback mechanism available in the event of serious misconduct, breach of obligations to the Group
or a material misstatement in Qantas’ Financial Statements. The Board may:
~ Determine that an Executive forgoes same or all awards otherwise due under the STIP
- Deem some or all STIP shares, which are subject to a deferral period and/or additional one-year trading
restriction, be forfeited
- Cause some or all LTIP Rights which have not yet vested to lapse, or LTIP Rights which have vested and converted
to shares thot are subject to o trading restriction to be forfeited
- Inthe cose of serious miscanduct, cancel any post-employment benefits for the relevont employee(s)
[where paossible).

Operation The Qantas Board has a demanstrated history of aligning remuneration outcomes with Group perfarmance. The Board
has applied its discretion in the past to ensure remuneration outcomes are appropriate and has adjusted individual
remuneration outcomes based on performance and conduct.

Examples of where the Board has applied its dis¢retion are provided on page 46.
Quontum Base Pay and incentive plan opportunities are set with reference to external market data, including comparable roles in

other listed Australian companies. Remuneration is benchmarked against ASX50 companies and o revenue-based peer
group of other listed Australian componies.

The Board believes these are the appropriate benchmarks, os these are the compaorator groups whase roles best mirror
the size, complexity and challenges in managing Qantas’ businesses. They are also the peer groups with which Qantas
competes for Executive talent.

EMPLQYEE SHARE TRADING POLICY

The Qantas Code of Conduct and Ethics contains Qantas’ Employee Share Trading Palicy (Policy). The Policy prohibits employees from dealing
in Qantas securities (or securities of other listed or unlisted entities) while in possession of material non-public information relevant to the

entity.

In addition, nominated employees (including the CEQ and Executive Management] and Non-Executive Directors are:

- Prohibited from dealing in Qantas securities (or the securities of any Qantas Group listed entity) during defined closed periods

- Required to comply with ‘request to deal’ procedures prior to dealing in Qantas securities (or the securities of any Qantas Group
listed entity) outside of defined closed periods

- Prohibited from hedging, entering into any margin lending arrangement, or entering into any other encumbrances over the securities of
Qantas (or the securities of any Qantas Group listed entity) at any time.
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3

REMUNERATION OUTCOMES FOR 2022/23

The following table summarises the remuneration decisions and outcomes for the CEO and Executive Management for the year ended

30

June 2023. The remuneration outcomes detailed in this table are useful in understanding current year pay and its alignment with

performance, as additional infarmation to the statutory remuneration disclosures.

Actual Remuneration Qutcomes Table — CEGC and Executive Munugememl

Base Pay STIP Ccsg STIP Deferred o5 Otheg
$'000s (Cash) Bonus Award® RRP LTIP* Benefits Total
Current Executives
Alan Joyce’ l 2023 . 2145 - . - 4,327 14,815 156 21,443
Chief Executive Officer 2022 2,146 - - - - 126 2,272
Andrew David [ 2023 - 1,026 - ’ - 1,628 2,259 33 4,946 ]
CEQ Qantas Domestic & 2022 936 - - - 401 59 1,456
Internationol to 31 Moy 2023
CEO Qontas Domestic
fram 1 June 2023
Vanessa Hudson® 2023 986 - - 1,628 2,260 250 5,124 |
Chief Financial Officer 2022 921 - - - 334 183 1,438
to 1 Moy 2023
CEO Designate and Chief
Financial Officer
from 2 May 2023
Stephanie Tully® | 2023 . 807 - - 1,197 1,106 174 3,284 |
CEQ Jetstor Group 2022 - - - - - - -
from 14 November 2022
Cameron Wallace [ . 2023 69 - - - - 38 107|
CEQ Qantas International & 2022 - - - - - - -
Freight from 1 June 2023 i
QOlivia Wirth [ 2023 - 868 - - 1,386 1,919 108 4,281 l
CEO Qontas Loyolty 2022 843 - - - 341 67 1,251
Total | 2023 5,901 - - 10166 - 22,353 759 39,185 |
2022 4306 - - - 1,076 435 6.417
Former Executive )
Gareth Evans' [ 2023 528 .- - 1,299 1,997 98 3,922
Former CEQ Jetstar Group 2022 1,057 - - - 425 - 101 1,583
(exited 31 Decermber 2022)
1 Details of the non-stotutory remuneration methodolagy are explained on pages 45 to SO,
2 Base Poy [Cash] is Bose Poy less superannugtion contributions. Superannuotian is reported in Other Benefits,
3 The Boord hos determined to deloy its decision as to whether to opprove the vesting of the STIP until it has further information ovailable. For 2021/22 the Boord determined that STIP
would not operate and as a result, the value is nil. The 2021/22 STIP wos replaced by the RRP.
4 LTIP awards vested in 2022/23 o1 100 per cent. After agreeing in previous yeors to defer the decision of vesting of Rights owarded under the 2018-2020 LTIP, 2019-2021 LTIP and
2020-2022 LTIP, the CEQ elected to convert these Rights to shares.
5  The number of Rights vested multiplied by the Qantos share price of $6.20 at 30 June 2023 (the end of the plon‘s perfarmance period) (2022: $4.47 ot 30 June 2022).
6 Other Benefits are detailed on page 50. .
7 The share price oppreciation component of the equity based RRP and LTIPs that have vested to the CEQ contributes a total of $4,815,000 (20 per cent} of the overall total
remuneration outcome.
8  Superonnuction benefits are provided through a defined benefit superannuotion plon. The omount disclosed has been measured in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Bengfits.
9 The 2022/23 remunerotion reflects the full year remuneration for Ms Tully. This differs to the Statutory Remuneration disclosure which includes only the remuneration for the period

—
o

Mr

of time in 0 KMP role for Ms Tully (14 November 2022 to 30 June 2023).
Mr Evans ceased os a KMP and ceased employment with Qantas on 31 December 2022, Mr Evans transitioned CEQ Jetstar Group to Ms Tully on 14 November 2022, 2022/23
Remunerotion is included up until the terminotion date.

Evans ceased as a KMP and ceased employment on 31 December 2022. Treatment on cessation of employment, as a good leaver, under

the STIP, RRP and LTIP (consistent with the terms and conditions of those plans) was as follows:

Under the 2022/23 STIP, subject to the Board determining that an award should vest, an award of cash and restricted shares pro-rated for
the portion of the performance period worked

Under the 2021-2023 LTIP and RRP, Rights that vested were pro-rated for the portion of the performance period employed. Shares
allocated following vesting of the LTIP are subject to a one-year trading restriction

Under the 2022-2024 LTIP, Rights continue to remain on foat on a pro-rato basis for the portion of the performance period in which
Mr Evans was employed, and may vest and convert to shares at the end of the performance period subject to achievement of the ariginal
LTIP performance conditions. Any shares allocated following vesting of the LTIP will be subject to a one-year trading restriction.

During 2023, the Group announced that the CEQ, Mr Joyce and the CEO Qantas Domestic, Mr David had made the decision to retire during the
2023/24 financial year. Mr Joyce retired 5 September 2023 and Mr David will leave the Group on 28 September 2023. Mr Joyce and Mr David
will not participate in the 2023/24 STIP and 2024-2026 LTiP.
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4 STATUTORY REMUNERATION DISCLOSURES FOR 2022/23

The statutory remuneration disclosures for the year ended 30 June 2023 ore detailed below. These are prepared in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards and differ from the 2022/23 remuneration outcomes on page 42. The differences arise due to the
accounting treatment of share-based payments for the STIP, RRP and LTIP.

Statutory Remuneration Table — CEQ and Executive Management

Incentive Plan - Accounting Accrual Other Benefits

Equity-Settled
Shore-Bosed Payments

Other
STIP STIP Post- Long-
Base qu Cash Deferred RRP LTIP Sub- Non-Cuﬂ Employment Ter Sub-

$'000s (Cash)™ Bonus' Shares'  Rights  Rights Total Benefits™ Benefits®  Benefits Total Total
Current Executives
Alan Joyce® [_2023 2,145 1,458 625 3,304 4,231 11,763 17 . 51 88 156 11,919]
Chief Executive Officer 2022 2,146 - 31 - 3272 5,449 23 46 57 126 5,575
Andrew David® | 2023 1,026 593 237 872 895 3,623 31 56 (54) 33 3,656
CEQ Qontos Domestic 02 996 - 10 291 771 2,068 1 51 {2) 60 2128
& International to
31 May 2023
CEOQ Qantos Domestic
from 1 June 2023 i
Vanessa Hudsan” | 2023 986 . 677 107 872 845  3.487 43 185 22 250 3,737]
Chief Fingncio! Officer 2022 921 - 8 291 716 1,936 34 144 5 183 2,119
to 1 Moy 2023
CEQ Designote and
Chief Financial Officer
from 2 May 2023
Stephanie Tully® EOZE) 518 293 47 402 214 1,474 131 46 (22) 155 1,629]
CEQ Jetstar Group 2022 - - - - - - - - - - -
from 14 November
2022
Cameran Wallace® | 2023 69 - - - - , 69 22 33 5 59  128]
CEO Qontas 2022 - - - - - - - - - - -
International & Freight
from 1 June 2023
Olivia Wirth | 2023 868 514 81 742 723 2928 76 - 56 (24) 108 3,036}
CEQ Qantas Loyalty 2022 843 - 10 247 655 1,755 8 52 7 67 1,822
Total 2023 5612 3535 1,097 6192 6908 23,344 319 427 15 761 24,105}

2022 4,906 - 59 828 5414 11,208 76 293 67 436 11,644
Former Executive
GarethEvans® [ 2023 528 293 146 7365 375 2,077 1 743 © 44 98 2175]
Former CEQ Jetstar 2022 1,057 - 12 308 817 2,194 46 52 4 102 2,296
Group (exited 31
December 2022)

1 Short-term employee benefits include Base Pay (cosh), STIP cash bonus and non-cash benefits. In relation 10 the STIP, the Board hos determined to delay its decision os to whether

to approve the vesting of the 2022/23 STIP until it has further information available, without adjusting the original service period. Statutary Remuneration reported above (STIP Cash

Bonus and STIP Deferred Shares) is calculated with reference 10 the maximum remaining potential outcome of the 2022/23 STIP {Scorecard Qutcome is 126 per cent less the 20 per

cent reduction applied by Boord discretion). The final outcome of the 2022/23 STIP may be less than this amount or potentially nil, in which event the Statutory Remuneration

expense reported may be fully or partially reversed in the future financiol reporting periods.

Base Poy [Cash) is Base Pay less superannuation contributions. Superannuation is reported in Post-Employment Benefits.

Non-cash benefits include the value of trave! benefits while emptoyed ond other minor benefits.

Post-Employment Benefits includes superannuation and an accrual for post-employment travel of $26,000 for Mr Jayce, $64,000 for Ms Hudson and $30.000 for eoch other

Executive (2022: $22,000 for Mr Joyce. $28,000 for Ms Hudson and $28,000 for each other Executive).

Other Long-Term Benefits include movement in annuol leave and long service leave bolances. The accounting value of Other Lang-Term Benefits may be negative; for example,

where on Executive’s annual leave bolance decreases as a result of toking more annual leave than they accrue during the current yeor.

Mr Joyce and Mr Dovid will cease employment with Qontos during 2023/24. Shares that are oworded under the 2022/23 STIP to Mr Joyce and Mr David are subject fo o deferra)

period. The deferral periad and additional trading restriction will continue to opply ond these shares are subject to clawback. As Mr Joyce ond Mr David will cease employment prior to

the end of the performance period, the Rights under the 2022-2024 LTIP and the 2023-2025 LTIP will continue to remain on faot on a pra-rato basis for the portion of the
performance period in which Mr Joyce ond Mr Dovid were employed, consistent with the Terms and Conditions of those plons as o gaod leaver. The Rights may vest and convert to
shores ot the end of the performance period subject ta achievement of the original respective performance canditions. Any shores ollocated following vesting of the LTIP will be
subject to o one-year trading restriction.

Superennuotion benefits are provided through a defined benefit superannuation plon. The amount disclosed hos been measured in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits.

2022/23 remuneration reflects the period of time in 0 KMP role for Ms Tully (14 November 2022 to 30 June 2023) and Mr Walloce (1t June 2023 to 30 June 2023). Non-Cash benefits

for Mr Wallace includes the amortised accounting value for the ane-off equity grant [as on equity-settled share based payment) to replace farfeited incentives as a result of joining

Qanias that ore subject to a vesting event occurring. .

9 MrEvans ceased as KMP and ceased employment on 31 December 2022. As o good leaver, Mr Evans was eligible to receive on award of cash and restricted shares pro-roted for the
portion of the performonce period employed under the 2022/23 STIP subject to the Board determining that an award should vest. Rights under the 2621-2023 LTIP and the RRP thot
vested were pro-rated far the portion of the performance periad in which Mr Evans wos employed. Shares allocoted following the vesting of the 2021-2023 LTIP are subject to a one-
yeor trading restriction. Rights under the 2022-2024 LTIP continue to remain on foot an a pro-rata hosis far the portion of the perfarmance periad in which Mr Evens was employed,
consistent with the Terms and Canditions of the plan os a good leaver. The Rights moy vest and convert to shares at the end of the performance period subject to achievement of the
ariginal respective performance conditions. Any shares ollacated fallowing vesting of the LTIP will be subject to a one-year trading restriction.

(-2 w E-EANN
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A reconciliation of the CEO’s remuneration outcome to the stotutory disclosures is detailed below.

CEO’s Statutory Remuneration Disclosure to Remuneration Outcome for 2022/23

Reconciliation

($'000) Description

Statutory Remuneration Disclosure 11,919

Accounting Value of STIP, LTIP and RRP awards The Statutory Remuneration Disclosure includes:

- the maximum remaining potential outcome of the 2022/23 STIP
notwithstanding that the Board has determined to delay its decision

- Less: Accounting value for STIP awards (2,083) as to whether to approve the vesting of the 2022/23 STIP until it has

further information available. The final outcome of the 2022/23 STIP
may be less than this omount or potentially nil, in which event the
Statutory Remuneration expense reported may be fully or partially

- Less: Accounting value for LTIP share awards (4.231) reversed in the future financial reporting periods.

- the accounting value of share-based payments. Accounting
standards require share-based payments to be amortised over the
relevant performance and.service periods. The accounting value for

- Less: Accounting value for RRP share awards (3.304) awards under the LTIP and RRP do not have regard to whether

performance conditions were achieved.

Current year STIP share awards and vesting of RRP In a year where STIP share awards are made or awards under the RRP or

and LTIP awards LTIP vest, the Remuneration Outcomes disclosure includes:

- Add: 2022-2023 STIP awards — - The Boord has determined to delay its decision as to whether to
approve the vesting of the 2022/23 STIP until it has further
information available and therefore the value is nil

- Add: 2022-2023 RRP - vesting 4,327 - The full value of the shares that vested under the RRP

- Add: 2018-2020 LTIP - vesting 2130 - The full value of the shares that vested under the 2018-2020 LTIP,

. . 2019-2021 LTIP, 2020-2022 LTIP and 2021-2023 LTIP applying the
Add: 2019-2021 LTIP - vesﬂrng 2,018 30 June 2023 Qantas share price. The shares awarded under the

- Add: 2020-2022 LTIP - vesting 2303 2021-2023 LTIP are subject to an additional one-year

- Add: 2021-2023 LTIP - vesting 8,364 trading restriction.

Remuneration cutcome - Total 21,443

Annual Incentive Decision Delayed for 2022/23 — CEQ and Executive Management
The 2022/23 STIP award has not been finalised as the Baard has determined to delay its decision as to whether to apprave the vesting of the

STIP until it has further information available.

Total STIP as a % of

Total STIP Award ~ STIP Cash Bonus' ST G hares onportunity  [OTISTIP forfeited
$'000s Decision Delayet‘.ll Decision Delayed Decision Delayed Decision Deloyed opportunity
Alan Joyce 2187 1,458 729 50% 50%
Andrew David 830 593 297 53% 47%
Vanessa Hudson 1,016 677 339 58% 42%
Stephanie Tull
com?nenced as KZ‘IP 14 November 2022 704 469 235 49% 51%
Cameron Wallace _ _ _ % %
commenced 0s KMP 1 June 2023
Olivia Wirth m 514 257 58% 42%
Gareth Evans? 439 293 51% 49%

ceosed as KMP 31 December 2022

146

1 The Boord hos determined to deloy its decision os 10 whesher to opprove the vesting of the STIP until it has further infarmatien available.
2  Asagood leaver, Mr Evans, will subject to the Board determining that on award should vest be eligible to receive an oward of cash and restricted shares pra-rated for the portion of

the performaonce period employed under the 2022/23 STIP.
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5 EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION STRUCTURE

The Qontas Executive Remuneration Framework, as it applies to the CEQ and Executive Management, is summarised on pages 33 to 39.
Additional detail on the structure and operation of each element of the Framework is provided below.

Base Pay

(olso referred to
as Fixed Annuol
Remuneration)

Base Pay is a guaranteed salary level, inclusive of superannuation. Each year, the Remuneration Committee reviews the
Bose Poy for the CEO ond Executive Manogement.

Anindividual's Base Pay, being a guaranteed salary level, is nat related to Qantas’ performance in a specific year.

Bose Poy (Cash), as disclosed in the remuneration tables, excludes superannuation (which is disclosed as Post-
Employment Benefits) but does include salary sacrifice companents such as motor vehicles and purchased annual
leove. )

In performing a Base Pay review, the Board makes reference to external market dota, including comparable roles

in other listed Australian companies. Remuneration is benchmarked against ASX50 companies and a revenue-based
peer group of other listed Australion companies. The Board believes these are the appropriate benchmarks as these are
the comparator groups whose roles best mirror the size, complexity and chalienges in managing Qantas’ businesses.
They are also the peer groups with which Qantas competes for Executive talent.

There has been no increase to the Base Pay for Mr Joyce since 1 July 2018.

The Base Pay for Ms Hudson, Mr David and Ms Wirth increased by 3 per cent from 1 July 2022 gs part of the 2022 Annual
Review.

Ms Hudson was appainted to the role of CEQ-Designate on 2 May 2023 , and then CEQ an 6 September 2023. Ms
Hudson's Base Pay was set at a level below her predecessor and having regard ta comparable roles in peer group
companies. The same approach to setting Base Pay has been applied to:

- Ms Tully, who was appainted to the role of CEO Jetstar and commenced in her KMP role on 14 November 2022
- MrWallace, who commenced employment with Qantas in the role of CEQ International and Freight on 1 June 2023.

The Base Pay for the CEQ and Executive Management is outlined on page 53.

Annual Incentive
STIP Qverview

The STIP is the annual incentive plan for the CEO and members of Qantas Executive Management. Each year,
the Executives may receive an award that is ¢ combination of cash and restricted shares to the extent that the
plon‘s performance conditions are achieved.

Calculation of

STIP Awards are calculated as follows:

STIP Awards sTIP STIPS q Individual
. corecar
Award = Base Pay X Target Opportunity | X Outcome X Per,f:c;rcn::rnce
Target Each STIP participant has a Target Opportunity expressed as a percentage of Base Pay:
Opportunity - For the CEO and CEO-Designate, 100 per cent of Base Pay
- For Executive Management, 80 per cent of Base Pay.
Performance The Board set a Scorecard of performonce measures for 2022/23.
Conditions —

STIP Scorecard

The STIP Scorecard contains a mix of Group financial and non-financial measures.
For 2022/23, the Board selected Underlying PBT as the key financial performance measure for the Qantas Group, with a
weighting of 50 per cent.

Other financial and non-financiol measures comprise the remaining 50 per cent of the STIP Scorecard. The Board sets
targets for each STIP Scorecard measure. At the end of the financial year, the Board assesses performance against
each measure and determines the overall STIP Scorecard outcome.

A detailed description of the STIP Scorecard measures ond the 2022/23 STIP Scorecord outcome is provided
on pages 5110 52.
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Performance
Conditions —
Individual
Performance
Factor (IPF)

An individual’s performance is recognised via an IPF. The IPF is a measure of individual performance that assesses:
- Whaot an individual has achieved '

- How they went about it (their conduct and behaviours).

An individual’s behaviour is assessed against the Qantas Group Behaviours. The Qantas Group Behaviours are:

- Respansible - Always care and be responsible

- Respectful - Working tagether, being respectful and inclusive

- Resilient - A positive attitude to everyday challenges

- Excellence - Striving for excellence (in all we do).

IPFs are generally in the range of 0.8 ta 1.2. However, in the case of underperformance the IPF may be zero.
In exceptional circumstances the IPF may be as high as 1.5.

Board Board discretion is a key element of the design of the STIP.

Discretion While the Board sees the STIP Scorecard as fundamental in calculating the STIP, it also recagnises that remuneration
outcomes must be considered in the broader context of Qantas’ overall business performance, the operating
enviranment and non-financial considerations. Circumstances may occur where Scorecard measures have been
achieved or exceeded, but in the view of the Board it is more appropriate to make no award under the STIP or to deliver a
higher proportion of an award in Qantas shares. Likewise, there may be circumstances where performance is below an
ogreed target where the Boord may determine thot it is appropriate to pay a partial STIP award (this circumstance has
not occurred to date).

Therefare, each year the Board considers whether to apply its discretion. The Board may determine that:

- No award be made (as it did in 2011/12, 2013/14, 2019/20, 2020/21 and 2021/22)

- Only o partial award be made (as it did in 2010/11 and 2012/13)

- Any award will be entirely deferred and/or delivered in Qantas shares (as it did in 2010/11)

- Ahigher proportion of the award be made in Qantas shares (as it did in 2016/17)

- Any award be reduced (as it did in 2016/17, 2018/19 and 2022/23)

- Adecision on whether to vest an award be delayed pending the outcame of further proceedings (2022/23).

Delivery of In a year where STIP awards are made, the default delivery is two thirds of the STIP award poid as a cash bonus, with

STIP Awards the remaining one third deferred into Qantas shares.

:;Jgt::rzpllcuhon The Boord retains discretion as to how STIP awards are delivered.

Discretion in The Board determined to delay its decision as to whether to approve the vesting of the 2022/23 STIP until it has further

2022/23) information available.

STIP Awoard In a year where STIP awards are made, the defoult opproach is that shares awarded be subject to:

Deferral ) - Atwo-year deferral period, and

and Trading ) L ) - .

Restriction - Aone-year trading restriction. The trading restriction would apply to these shares both during employment and past-

cessation of employment. Shares subject to the trading restriction are not forfeited on cessation of employment but
are subject to clowback.
The additional trading restriction strengthens the ability to clawback vested equity, if required.

Maximum and
Minimum STIP
Outcome

The maximum outcome under the STIP is capped at 200 per cent of Base Pay for the outgoing CEQ and 160 per cent of
Base Pay for the CEQ-Designate and other Executive Management.

The minimum outcome is nil, which would accur if the threshold level of performance is missed on each STIP measure,
if anindividual's performance does nat warrant an award, or if the Board determines that no award be made.
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Cessation of In general, where an Executive resigns, is terminated for cause or is termingated in other circumstances involving
Employment unacceptable performance or conduct, they forfeit any right to participate in that year's STIP and forfeit any shares
(current plan) owarded under prior year STIPs that are subject to a deferral period.

For shares subject to the additional trading restriction, forfeiture does not apply. That is, for any shares awarded under
prior year STIPs where the deferral period has been served, but the shares are subject ta the additional trading
restriction, the Executive retains thase shares subject to the additional trading restriction.

The additional trading restriction strengthens the ability to clawback vested equity, if required.

In limited circumstances, for example, retirement, employer-initiated terminations (with no record of poor performance),
death or total and permanent disablement:

- For the current year STIP, pravided the Executive worked for a minimum of six months, the Executive will receive @
pro-rated award based on the actual performance against the performance meosures (as determined by the Board
fallowing the end of the performance period), and the portion of the performance periad that the Executive served

- For shares awarded under prior year STIPs that are subject to a deferral period, the original deferral period and
additional trading restriction continue to apply and these shares are subject to clawback. !

Disclosure In addition ta required statutory disclosures, Qontas chooses to disclose the full value of each yeor's STIP award in the
Remuneration Gutcomes Table on page 42. This invalves disclosing both:

- The value of cash awards made
- The full value of restricted shares that were awarded (notwithstanding that these shares are still subject to o two-
year deferral period and o one-year trading restriction).

There is nil value for:

- The current year, as the Board has determined to delay its decision as to whether to approve the vesting of the
2022/23 STIP until it has further information available

- The prior year, as no owards were made under the 2021/22 STIP as the plon did not operate.

Disclosure of STIP owards in the Statutory Remuneration Table on page 43 is based on the requirements of the

Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and applicable Australion Accounting Standards. The STIP awards are disclosed as either:

- Acashincentive for any cash bonus paid, or

- Ashare-based payment for any component awarded in deferred shares.

Where share-based STIP awards involve deferral over multiple reporting periods, they are reported against each period
in accordance with accounting standords.

Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)

LTIP Overview The LTIP is a four-year plan that involves an upfront award of a fixed number of Rights over Qantas shares. If
performance and service conditions are achieved over a three-year periad, Rights vest and convert to Qantas shares.
The vested shares are then subject to a further ane-year trading restriction, during which the shares cannot be traded
and are subject ta clawback.

If the three-year performance conditions or service conditions are not met, the Rights lapse.
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Performance
Conditions

The performance conditions far each of the 2021-2023 LTIP {tested at 30 June 2023), 2022-2024 LTIP [to be tested at
30 June 2024) ond 2023-2025 LTIP (to be tested ot 30 June 2025) are Qantas’ relative TSR to:

- Aglobal airline peer group
- ASX100 companies.
Up to 50 per cent of the total number of Rights granted may vest based on Qantas’ relative TSR performancein

comparison to the global airline peer group, and up ta 50 per cent of the total number of Rights gronted may vest based
on Qantas’ relative TSR perfarmance in comparison to the ASX100 companies.

These Rights will only vest in full if Qantas’ TSR performance ranks at or abave the 75th percentile compared to both the
global airline peer group and the ASX100 companies. At the end of the performance period, the TSR performance of
Qontas and each comparator company is determined based on their average clasing share price aver the final six
months of the three-year performance period.

The peer graups selected are because Qantas’ Financial Framewark targets top quartile TSR performance relative ta
global girline peers and ASX100 companies as these pravide a comparison of relative shareholder returns relevant to
most Qantas investors:

- The global airline peer group was chosen for relevance to investors, including investors based outside Australia, with
a primary interest in the aviation industry sector

- The ASX100 peer group comprises those companies that make up the S&P/ASX100 Index at the commencement of
the performance period.

The vesting scale far both the ASX100 and the global airline peer groups is as follows:

Qantas TSR Performance relative to Each Peer Group Vesting Scale

Below 50th percentile Nil vesting
50th to 75th percentile Linear Scale: 50 per cent to 100 per cent vesting
Above 75th percentile 100 per cent vesting

The ASX100 peer group comprises those companies that make up the S§P/ASX100 Index at the commencement date of
the performance period.

The global airline peer group has been selected with regard to its representation of Qontas’ key markets, full-service
and value-based airlines and the level of government involvement. For each of the 2021-2023 LTIP, 2022-2024 LTIP
and 2023-2025 LTIP, the global listed girline peer group comprised: AirAsia, Air France/KLM, Air New Zeoland, All Nippon
Airways, American Airlines, Cathay Pacific, Deita Airlines, Deutsche Lufthansa, easyJet, International Consolidated
Airlines Group, Japan Airlines, LATAM Airlines Group, Ryanair, Singapore Airlines, Southwest Airlines, and United
Continental.

Review of
Performance
Conditions

The Remuneration Committee regularly reviews the appropriateness of the performance conditions. In 2022/23, the
Remuneration Committee determined that the current conditions continue to remain the most appropriate. These
conditions are aligned with returns achieved for shareholders and are consistent with the Group Financial Fromewark.

Vesting of
LTIP Award

If performance and service conditions are achieved over a three-year period, Rights vest and convert to Qantas shares.

Trading
Restriction

Any shares awarded under the LTIP will be subject fo a one-year trading restriction.

Shares subject to the trading restriction are not forfeited on cessation of employment but are subject to clawback. The
additional frading restriction strengthens the ability to clowback vested equity, if required.

Cessation of
Employment

In general, when an Executive resigns, is terminated for cause or is terminated in other circumstances involving
unacceptable performance or conduct, any Rights which have not vested will be forfeited. For any shares awarded
under the LTIP that are now subject to an additional trading restriction, the Executive will continue to hold those shares
and the additional trading restriction continues to apply. That is, forfeiture does not apply to those shares during the
trading restriction period. These shares are subject to clawback.

In limited circumstances, for example, retirement, employer-initiated terminations (with no record of poor
performance), death or total and permanent disablement, Rights will remain on foot on a pro-rata basis and may vest at
the end of the performance period, subject to the satisfaction of the relevant performance and service conditions of the
LTIP. Any shares allocated following vesting of the LTIP are subject to a one-year trading restriction.

Allocation
Methadology

The number of Rights granted to the CEQ and Executive Management under the LTIP is calculated on a face value basis
and is the maximum that may vest at the end of the performance period.

The maximum LTIP opportunity for the CEO and Executive Management is provided on a foce volue basis in the
Summary of Key Contract Terms on page 53.
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Allocation
Methodology
Usedin 2022/23
Award to the CEO

At each year's AGM, Qantas seeks shareholder approval for any award of Rights to the CEQ. At the 2022 AGM,
sharehalders approved an award of 898,000 Rights to the CEQ (under the 2023-2025 LTIP), being the maximum
number of Rights that may vest and convert to shares.

The Notice of Meeting for the 2022 AGM set out the propased number of LTIP Rights to be granted to the CEOQ on a face
value basis as follows:

Base Pay x Maximum LTIP
opportunity

Number of Rights awarded = -
Face value (Qantas share price) os

at 30 June 2022

$2,170,000 x 185%
$4.47

898,000 Rights awarded =

Change of Control

In the event of a change of control, the Boord determines whether the LTIP Rights vest or otherwise.

Disclosure

In addition to the required statutary disclosures, Qantas chooses to disclase the full value of LTIP awards that vest
during the year in the Remuneration Outcomes Table on page 42. The full value is equal to the number of Rights vested,
multiplied by the Qantas share price at the end of the perfarmance period, even where these shares are subject to an
additional one-year trading restriction.

The statutory remuneration disclosure amortises the accounting value of LTIP awards over the relevant performance
and service period as per the accounting standards. The accounting value for the LTIP awards daes not have regard to
whether performance conditions were achieved.

Recovery Retention Plan (RRP)

RRP Overview

The RRP replaced the 2021/22 STIP opportunity with an upfront award of Rights, with vesting tied to performance
conditions that must be achieved in full over the two-year performance period.

Allocation
Methodology

The number of Rights granted under the RRP was calculated on a face value basis. The number of Rights awarded was
the maximum number of Rights that may vest and convert to Qantas shares at the end of the perfermance period.

Performance For Rights to vest under the RRP, all of the following performance conditions were required to be achieved by the end of
Conditions the performance period on 30 June 2023;
- The Qantas Group meets its $1 billion Recovery program torget by 30 June 2023
- Asat 30 June 2023, Qantos Group's Net Debt range is below the top end of the Net Debt range as approved by the
Board in accordonce with the Group's Financial Framewaork
- Qantas Group is profitable on an Underlying PBT basis far 2022/23.
Board The Board retained discretion to:
Discretion - Adjust the Net Debt range upwards to take into cansideration significant initiatives or strategic proposals
undertaken by the Qantas Group thot have impacted the ability to deliver the Net Debt target
- Not approve any vested award where there is a material failure in the structure of or complionce with a safety policy
or process thot results in death or serious injury, arising out of Qantas Group’s business operations.
Vesting of If performance and service conditions are achieved aver the twa-year perfarmance period ending 30 June 2023, Rights
RRP Award will vest and convert to unrestricted Qontas shares. If the two-year performance conditions or service conditions are not

met, the Rights lapse.
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Cessation of

In general, when an Executive resigns, is ferminated for cause or is terminated in other circumstances involving

Employment unacceptable performance or conduct, any Rights which have not vested will be forfeited.
In limited circumstances, for example, retirement, employer-initioted terminations (with no record of poor
performance), death or total and permanent disablement, Rights will remain on foot on a pro-rata bosis and may vest at
the end of the perfoarmance periad, subject to the satisfaction of the performance and service conditions of the RRP.

Disclosure The statutory remuneration disclosure amortises the accounting value of RRP awards aver the relevant performance
and service period as per the accounting standards.
In addition to the required statutory disclosures, Qantas choases to disclose the full volue of the RRP awards that
vested during the year in the Remuneration Outcomes Table on page 42. The full value is equal fo the number of Rights
vested, multiplied by the Qantas share price ot the end of the performance period.

Other Benefits

Non-Cash Non-Cash Benefits, as disclosed in the remuneration tables, includes other minor benefits.

Benefits

Travel Travel concessions are provided to permanent Qantas employees, consistent with prevailing practice in the airline

industry. :

Travel at concessionary prices is on a sub-load basis. Thot is, it is subject to considerable restrictions and limits
on availability. The policy includes specified direct family members or a nominated travel companion or beneficiary.

In addition, and also consistent with prevailing practice in the airline industry, the CEQ and Executive Management and
their eligible beneficiaries are entitled to a number of trips for personal purposes at no cost to the individual.

Past-employment travel concessions are also available to all permanent Qantas employees who qualify by achieving

a service condition. The CEO and Executive Management and their eligible beneficiories are also entitled to a number of
trips far personal purposes at no cost to the individual after ceasing employment. An estimated present value of these
entitlements accrues over the service period of the individual and is disclosed os o post-employment benefit.

Superannuation

Superannuation includes statutory and salary sacrifice superannuation contributions (or superannuation benefits
provided through a defined benefit superannuation plan) and is disclosed as a post-employment benefit.

Other
Long-Term
Benefits

The mavement in accrual of annual leave and long service leave is included in Other Long-Term Benefits. The
accounting value of Other Long-Term Benefits may be negative, for example, where an Executive’s annual leave
balance decreases as a result of taking more annual leave than they accrued during the year.

Minimum Shareholding Guidelines

Minimum
Shareholding
Guidelines

The following shareholding guidelines were introduced with effect from 1 July 2019:

Individual Guideline

Nan Executive Directors 1 times Base Fee
CEO 1.5 times Base Pay
Executive Management 0.75 times Base Pay

Non-Executive Directors, the CEQ and Executive Management have @ maximum five-year period from the date of their
appointment to the respective role or commencement of this guideline to accumulate the value of their shareholding.
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6 ANNUAL INCENTIVE SCORECARD OUTCOME 2022/23

For 2022/23, the Board considered the following key measures of financial and aperational performance and the assaciated targets to be
critical indicators of performance and drivers of shareholder value. The table below summarises performance versus target against each

Scorecard category under the 2022/23 STIP.

Scorecard
Weighting
Target
(Range of
Outcomes)

Scorecard
Category/
Strategic

Objective Measures

Actual
Qutcome

Component
Outcome’

Comment

Group 50%

Prafitability

Underlying PBT less

transformation costs
(0-100%)

100%

The Underlying PBT less transformation costs result
of $2,465 million for 2022/23 exceeded the
‘overdrive’ target set by the Board, which was set
with consideration to the prior Qantas Group record
result in 2017/18.

Transformation 10%

and Growth

Restructuring benefits

(0-15%)

Qantas Loyalty Underlying
EBIT

Maximise our Leading
Domestic Position

12.5%

Management's commitment and facus on the
Recovery Plan delivered mare than $1,072 billion of
benefits over the three-year period ond $300 million
in cost savings and incremental revenue benefits ta
offset inflation and cost escalation.

Qantas Loyalty exceeded its Earnings Before Interest
and Tax (EBIT) target for 2022/23.

The Qantas Domestic and QantasLink revenue share
result for the domestic corporate travel market and
Small ond Medium-sized Enterprise (SME] travel
market was below threshald and around threshold
respectively.

Net Promoter Score (NPS] - 20%
for domestic airlines and

Qantas Frequent Flyer

Customer
(0-30%)

Punctuality

Reliobility

External Reputation/Trust

0%

L J

Customer satisfaction for all key domestic and
international airlines and Qantas Frequent Flyer was
below threshold as a result of the operational
challenges during the year.

Based on Qantas Domestic and QantasLink
outperforming Virgin's on-time perfarmance rate in
11 out of 12 months, the target for this measure was
assessed as achieved.

The Qantas Domestic and QantasLink combined
cancellation rate result was below threshold.

The Reputation/Trust result was also below
threshold.

In acknowledgement that our broader customer
perfarmance did not meet expectations in 2022/23
the Baard exercised discretion (as it did in 2021/22)
to zero this component.

Board's assessment of 15%

Operational Safety

Workplace and
Operational
Safety (0-22.5%)

Workplace Safety measures

7.5%

Operational Safety performance for the year was
strong. Therefore, there was a full contribution under
the Operational Safety measure.

Improvements in Workplace Safety metrics of up to
8% were targeted. Due to the significantly increased
operational activity compared to the prior yeor this
level of improvement wos not achieved. Therefore,
there was no contribution under the Warkplace
Sofety measure.

Climate 2022/23 CO, emissions 5%

reductions
(0-8.75%)

The Group delivered emissions reductions totalling
402,000 tonnes CO,-e, exceeding the target of
330,000 tonnes CO,-e.

2022/23 STIP Scorecard Outcome 100%

(0-175%)

126%

out of a maximum 175%

72%

out of a maximum scarecard outcome

Target achieved or

KEY: exceeded

against targets

1 Component outcome shown for measure where overall target is partially achieved.

Partial achievement

. No achievement against targets
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Additional Descriptions of 2022/23 STIP Scorecard Measures

Greup
Financial
Measures

In anticipation of a return to more normalised trading conditions during 2022/23, Underlying PBT (adjusted for
transformation costs recognised outside of Underlying PBT) was selected as a key financial performance measure.
Underlying PBT is the primary financial performance measure for the Qantas Group and is therefore the primary
perfarmance measure under the STIP. The objective of measuring and reporting Underlying PBT is to provide a meaningful
and consistent representation of the underlying performance of the Group. The Underlying PBT target is based on the
annual financial budget. For reasons of cammercial sensitivity, the annual Underlying PBT target is generally not disclosed,
but for the purposes of the 2022/23 STIP, the moximum overdrive was set with consideration to the prior Qontas Group
record result achieved in 2017/18 of $1.604 billion.

Underlying PBT is derived by adjusting Statutory PBT for the impacts of items which are identified by Management and
reported to the Chief Operating Decision-Making bodies, as not representing the underlying performance of the business.
The determination of these items is made ofter consideration of their nature and materiality and is applied consistently
from period to period.

Items not included in Underlying PBT primarily result from revenues or expenses relating to business activities in other
reparting periods, transactions involving investments, impairment of assets and other transactions outside the ardinary
course of business. For the purposes of the STIP Scorecard, Underlying PBT perfarmance is reduced by any transformation
ar restructuring costs recognised outside of Underlying PBT. This is an updated approach to ensure clear accountability by
Management far the efficient implementation of transformation initiatives.

Transformation
and Growth

To maintain focus on delivering the restructuring initiatives aligned to the recovery of the business and to ensure
inflationary cost pressures and any impact of CPl continued to be mitigated, o restructuring benefit target and on inflation
and cost escalation mitigation target was included.

To support the strategic initiative of growing diversified earnings, a STIP target was set to grow Oar{tas Loyalty EBIT.

Aligned to the strategic initiatives of maximising our domestic position through the dual brand strategy, STIP targets were
set in relation ta our Australian domestic share of the corporate and small and medium-sized enterprise (SME) trovel
markets.

Customer

Customer service is measured against NPS targets. This is a survey-based measure of how strangly our custamers promote
the services of our businesses. Individual NPS targets are set for Qantas Domestic/QantasLink combined, Qantas Frequent
Fiyer, Jetstar Australio Domestic, Qantas International and Jetstar International.

Reputation/Trust is a survey-based measure of how trusted Qontas is as a brand in the community.
On-time departures for Qantas Domestic and QantasLink and cancellation rates continue to be important to our business
performance and are therefare included as performance measures. As agreed with and reported to the Bureau of
Infrastructure, Transport and Regionol Economics (BITRE):
- Punctuality is measured as the number of flights operating an-time (on an on-time departure basis) as a
percentage of the total number of flights operated

- Cancellation is measured as the number of flights remaved from service within seven days of scheduled
departure.

Workplace and

As safety is always our first priority, the STIP Scorecard includes an assessment of both Workplace and Operational Safety.

Operational In addition, the Board retains an overriding discretion to scale down the STIP outcome (or reduce it to zero) in the event of a
Safety material aviation safety incident or in the event where safety outcomes do not meet our expectations. The exercise of that
discretion considers the specific circumstances of the incident and/or safety outcomes, ond is informed by a
recommendation of the Safety, Health, Environment and Security Committee. in 2016/17, for example, the Board exercised
its discretion in relation to the Warkplace Safety outcome in that year ta both zero the STIP Scorecard in that respect and by
additionally reducing the overall STIP award to the CEQ and Executive Management by a significant proportion.
Of course, this ‘safety override’ discretion is in addition to, and does not qualify, the Board's overall discretion aver STIP
awards.
The Safety, Health, Environment and Security Committee performs an assessment of both Workplace Safety performance
and Operational Safety performance.
The objective of the Warkplace Safety targets is to reduce employee injuries. Targets were therefore set across:
- Total Recardable Injury Frequency Rate
- Lost Work Case Frequency Rate
- Short Term Impairment Injury Frequency Rate
- Long Term Impairment Injury Frequency Rate.
Operational Safety performance is assessed against outcome-based measures (including operational occurrences that
pose a significant threat to the safety of employees and customers) and risk-based lead indicators commonly associated
with aviation industry accidents, such as flight data trends, technical dispatch reliability and reporting rates.
Climate Decarbonisation is a strategic priority and the key focus of the Qantas CAP and targets. Aligned to the strategic objective

and interim target of achieving a 25 per cent reduction in net emissions from 20183 levels by 2030, a CO, emissions
reduction target was included as a measure.
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7 LONG TERM INCENTIVE OUTCOME 2021-2023

Qantas TSR Performance Qantas TSR Rank vs Global Qantas TSR Rank vs ASX100 Vesting of 2021-2023 LTIP

Airlines

71% - 1st 17th 100%

The three-year performance measures under the 2021-2023 LTIP are Qantas’ TSR compared to:

- Aglobal airline peer group
- ASX100 companies.

Haoving delivered on a Recovery Plon set at the stort of the pandemic, the business is now in a strong financial position. This has been

reflected in our share price and TSR performance.

Qantas’ TSR performance over the past three years ranked 1st of companies in the global airline peer group and 17th of companies in the
ASX100, resulting in top quartile performance against both performance measures. Based on this performance, 100 per cent vesting was

achieved.

Qantas’ Three-Year TSR Performance’ vs Peer Groups (%)

80%

0% —

60% —
40% ——

Qontas Global Airlines Global Airline ASX100 ASX100
75th Percentile Median 75th Percentile Median

1 TSR performance. applying the LTIP performance fest methodology (which uses the average closing share price aver the six months preceding the test dote of 30 June 2023).

8 SUMMARY OF KEY CONTRACT TERMS AS AT 30 JUNE 2023

_ Contract Details Alan Jovcea Vanessa Hudson® Andrew David® Stephanie TuIIy5 Cameron Wallace®® Olivia Wirth®
Base Pay $2,170,000 $1,300,000 $1,051,000 $850.000 $850,000 $893,000
Pay Mix per contract:

- STIP Turgetl 100% 100% 80% 80% 80% 80%
~ LTIP Targetl'2 185% 160% 95% 95% 95% 95%

An annual benefit of trips for these Executives and eligible beneficiaries during employment,” at no cost ta the

individual, is as follows:

4 long-hau! 4 long-haul 2 long-haul 2 long-haul 2 long-haul
12 short-haul 12 short-haul 6 short-haul 6 shart-haul 6 shart-haul

2 long-haoul
6 short-haul

The same benefit is provided for use post-employment, based on the period of service in an Executive Management

role within the Qantas Group.

Natice Employment may be terminated by either the Executive or Qantas by providing six months’ written notice.® Each
Executive’s contract includes a provision that limits any termination payment ta the statutary limit prescribed under

the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

Severance A severance payment of six months’ Base Pay opplies where termination is initiated by Qontas®

Opportunity expressed os a percentage of Base Pay.

Rights owarded on a face value bosis and is the maximum number of Rights that moy vest and convert ta Qanias shares.

Torget Remuneration Mix for the CEQ for 2022/23 was Base Pay 26 per cent, STIP 26 per cent, and LTIP (on a face vatue basis) 48 per cent.

Torget Remunerotion Mix for CEO-Designate from 2 May 2023 was Base Pay 28 per cent, STIP 28 per cent, and LTIP [on a face value basis) 44 per cent.

These benefits ore not cumulative and lopse if they are not used during the calendar year in which the entitlements arise.
Other than for miscenduct or unsotisfactory performance.

O~ oA wN -

Torget Remunerotian Mix for Executive Management for 2022/23 was Base Pay 36 per cent, STIP 28 per cent, ond LTIP (on a face volue basis} 35 per cent.
On a one-off basis Mr Watllace is eligible ta receive an equity gront ta replace forfeited incentives as o result of joining Qantas. Subject to a vesting event, Qantas will provide an oword
of Qantas shares to the same grass value as the vested oward forfeited. This will be reparted as Remuneration Gutcome in the 2024 Remuneration Report once the value is known.
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9 QANTAS FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE HISTORY

To provide further context on Qantas' performance, the following graphs outline a five-year history of key financial metrics:

Earnings Per Share Underlying Profit Before Tax ($M)* Operating Cash Flow ($M)
120 3,000 5,600
@ 2,500 4800
000
60 21500 4,000
30 -
o 1.000 3.200
500 2,400
{30) °
1600
(6o) (500} 800
(s0) (1.000)
(120) (1500} 0
(150} (2,000] (800)
o0 N nN n ~N nN ~ ~N n ~n »n n n ~n »n
[~ o o o [=] o (=] =1 Q o
s & 8§ & & E§ E 8 E B E &8 &8 & &
8 8 ® ® 8 2 8 = R®’ =B 3 35 8 RN 8

Basic Earnings/(Loss) Per Share (cents).

Underlying PBT is the primary reporting measure used by the Qontas Group's Chief Operating Decision-Moking bodies, being the Chief Executive Officer, Group Management
Cammittee ond the Board of Directors, for the purpese of assessing the performance of the Group. Statutory Profit/(Loss] After Tax for 2022/23 was $1,744 million [2022: {$860)
million; 2021: ($1,692) million; 2020: ($1,864) million; and 2019: $840 million).

-

Qantas’ Five-Year TSR Performance

80%

60% .

40%

20%

0%

(20%)

(40%)

(60%)

(80%)
Jul-18 Jul-19 Jul-20 Jul-21 Jul-22 Jul-23

— Qantas = S&P/ASX100 = MSCI World Airlines
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10 EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

The following tables set out the holdings of equity instruments granted as remuneration.

Shares Awarded Under the Short Term Incentive Plan

The following table details shares awarded under the STIP that are subject to a deferral period:

Number of Shares

Vested and
Short Term Incentive Plan 1July Granted Transferred Forfeited 30 June
Alan Joyce 2023 - - - - -
2022 97,768 - (97.768) - -
Andrew David 2023 - - - - -
2022 33,088 - (33,088) - -
Vanessa Hudson 2023 - - - - -
2022 26,585 - (26,585) - -
Stephanie Tully 2023 - - - - -
commenced os KMP 14 November 2022 2022 - - - - -
Cameron Wallace 2023 - - - - -
commenced as KMP 1 June 2023 2022 - - - - -
QOlivia Wirth 2023 - - - - -
2022 31,250 - (31.250) - -
Gareth Evans 2023 - - - - -
ceased os KMP 31 December 2022 2022 38.963 _ (38.963) - _
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Rights Awarded Under the Long Term Incentive Plan

The following table details Rights awarded under the LTIP thot are subject to performance hurdles that are yet to be tested, ond tested Rights
that have not yet converted into shares. .

Number of Rights

Commenced Vested and Lapsed/ Ceased

Long Term Incentive Plan 1July as KMP Granted? Transferred® Forfeited Employment 30 June’

Alan Joyce™*?® | 2023 4,291,000 - 898,000 - - - 5,189,000]
) 2022 3,430,000 - 861,000 - - - 4,281,000

Andrew Dovid® | 2023 752,000 - 223500 (89.750)  (89,750) - 796,000]
2022 700500 - 208,000 (78,750} (78,750) - 752,000

Vanessa Hudson | 2023 722,000 - 223500 (74,750)  (74,750) - 796,000
2022 576,000 - 208,000  (31000) (31,000} - 722,000

Stephanie Tully | 2023 - 258,000 86,500 - - - 345500]
commenced as KMP 14 November 2022 2022 - - - - - - -

Cameron Wallace | 202 - - - - . - - -1
commenced os KMP 1 June 2023 2022 - - - - - ) - -

Olivia Wirth [ 2023 638,500 - 190,000 (76.250) (76,250} - 676,000J
2022 595,500 - 176,500  (66,750)  (66,750) ~ 638500

Gareth Evans® 1 2023 796,500 - - [(95.000) (268,854) (432,646) -]
ceosed os KMP 31 December 2022 2022 742,500 - 220500 (83.250)  (83,250) - 796,500

1 Rights under the 2023-2025 LTIP were granted on 21 November 2022 to Mr Joyce (fallowing approval by shoreholders at the 2022 AGM) and other Executives and will be tested
against the performance hurdles os of 30 June 2025. The number of Rights granted wos determined using the face value of a Right on 30 June 2022 of $4.47, being the start of the
performance periad. The fair value of o Right on the grant dote was $4.24 per Right.

2 Rights under the 2022-2024 LTIP were gronted on 5 November 2021 10 Mr Joyce (following approval by shareholders a1 the 2021 AGM) ond 17 September 2021 for other Executives
and will be tested against the performance hurdles as ot 30 June 2024. The number of Rights granted was determined using the face value of o Right on 30 June 2021 of $4.686,
being the start of the performance period. The foir value of a Right on the grant date was $3.85 for Mr Joyce and $3.835 per Right for ather Executives.

3 50 per cent of Rights under the 2026-2022 LTIP [granted on 4 Qctober 2019 far ather Executives) vested following the testing of perfarmance hurdles as at 30 June 2022 and the
Boord's approval of the 2020-2022 LTIP vesting outcome on 24 August 2022, with the remaining Rights lopsing.The shares owarded upon vesting of the LTIP remain subject t0 an
additional one-year trading restsiction and are detailed in the Equity Holdings and Transactions table.

4 Rights under the 2021-2023 LTIP (granted on 23 Octeber 2020 to Mr Joyce and 11 September 2020 for other Executives) are included in the 30 June 2023 balance. The number
of Rights gronted was determined using the face value of a Right an 30 June 2020 of $3.78, being the start of the performance period. The fair value of ¢ Right on the grant dote waos
$3.07 for Mr Joyce ond $2,235 per Right far other Executives. 100 per cent of these Rights vested following the testing of performonce hurdles as at 30 June 2023 ond the Boerd's
opproval of the 2021-2023 LTIP vesting outcome on 23 August 2023. The shares owarded to Executive Management upon vesting of the LTIP remain subject to on odditiono! one-
year trading restriction.

S Rights under the 2020-2022 LTIP (gronted on 25 October 2019 to Mr Joyce] are included in the 30 June 2023 balance. The number of Rights gronted wos determined using the foce
value of o Right on 30 June 2019 of $5.40, being the start of the performance period. The fair value of a Right on the grant date wos $3.59 for Mr Joyce. 50 per cent vesting
waos ochieved following the testing of performance hurdles os at 30 June 2022. Notwithstanding that the LTIP conditions were portiolly achieved, the CEQ offered, and the
Boaord ogreed. to defer the decision as to whether his Rights will be forfeited or ollowed 1o convert ta shares until August 2023. After agreeing in previous years to defer the decision,
the CEQ elected to convert these Rights to shares on 23 August 2023, with remaining Rights lopsing.

6 Rights under the 2019-2021 LTIP {granted an 26 October 2018 to Mr Jayce) are included in the 30 June 2023 balance. The number of Rights granted was determined using the foce
volue of a Right on 30 June 2018 of $6.16, being the start of the performonce period. The fair volue of a Right on the grant dote was $2.33 for Mr Joyce. 50 per cent vesting
waos achieved following the testing of performance hurdles as at 30 June 202). Notwithstanding that the LTIP conditions were partially achieved, the CEQ offered, and the
Boord agreed, to defer the decision as to whether his Rights will be forfeited or cllowed 30 convert to shares until August 2023. After ogreeing in previous yeors to defer the decision,
the CEQ elected 10 convert these Rights to shares on 23 August 2023, with remaining Rights lapsing.

7 Rights under the 2018-2020 LTIP (gronted on 27 October 2017 to Mr Joyce) are included in the 30 June 2023 balance. The number of Rights granted was determined using the face
value of a Right on 30 June 2017 of $5.72, being the start of the performance period. The fair value of o Right an the grant date was $3.30 for Mr Joyce. 50 per cent vesting
waos achieved following the testing of perfarmance burdles as ot 30 June 2020. Notwithstanding that the LTIP canditions were partially achieved, the CEO offered, and the
Boord ogreed, to defer the decision as to whether his Rights will be forfeited or allowed 1o convert to shores until August 2023. After agreeing in previous yeors fo defer the decision,
the CEQ elected 10 conver! these Rights to shares on 23 August 2023, with remaining Rights lopsing.

8  MrJoyce and Mr Dovid will cease employment with Qontas during 2023/24. As Mr Joyce and Mr David will cease emplayment prior 10 the end of the performance period, the Rights
under the 2022-2024 LTIP and the 2023-2025 LTIP will continue fo remain on foot on a pro-rata basis for the portion of the performonce periad in which Mr Joyce and Mr Dovid were
employed, consistent with the Terms and Conditions of those plons as ¢ good leaver. The Rights may vest and convert 10 shares at the end of the performance period subject fo
achievement of the originol respective performance conditions. Any shores allocoted following vesting of the LTIP will be subject to o one-year trading restriction. The full oward of
Rights under the respective plans for Mr Joyce and Mr Dovid is included in the 30 June 2023 batance. The total number of Rights to be forfeited ofter proroting for the portion of the
performance period worked is 778,934 for Mr Joyce and 182,701 for Mr David.

9 MrEvans ceased as KMP ond ceased employment an 31 December 2022. Rights under the 2021-2023 LTIP remained on faot on a pro-rate basis for the portion of the performonce
period employed and were tested o 30 June 2023. Rights under the 2022-2024 LTIP continue to remoin on foot on a pro-rata basis for the portion of the performance period
employed and moy vest and convert to shares at the end of the performonce period subject to achievement of the original performance conditions. Any shores allocated following
vesting of the LTIP will be subject fo o one-yeor trading restriction.
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Rights Awarded Under the Recovery Retention Plan

The following table details Rights awarded under the RRP that are tested Rights that have nat yet converted into shares.

Number of Rights

Commenced Vested and Lapsed/ Ceased
Recovery Retention Plan 1July as KMP Granted Transferred Forfeited Employment 30 June!
Aan Joyce [ 208 - - 698000 - - - __698000]
2022 - - - - - - -
Andrew David [ 2023 2_(3‘?_,500 = -~ = - - 282,500]
2022 - ~- 262,500 - - - 262,500
Vanessa Hudsan ! 2023 262,500 - - - - - 262500}
2022 - - 262,500 - - - 262,500
Stephanie Tully [ 2023 - 193,000 - = - - 193,000 |
commenced os KMP 14 November 2022 2022 - - - - - - -
Cameron Wallace [ 2023 - - - - - - -1
commenced os KMP 1 June 2023 2022 - - - - - - -
Olivia Wirth [ 2023 223,500 - - - - - 223,500 [
2022 - - 223,500 - - - 223,500
Gareth Evans? L__2023 ) 278,500 - - - (69,053) (209,447) . - ]
ceased 0s KMP 31 December 2022 2022 - - 278,500 - - - 278,500

1 Rights under the 2022-2023 RRP ore included in the 30 June 2023 balonce. Rights were granted on 4 November 2023 10 Mr Joyce (fallowing approval of the 2022 AGM) and 8 June
2022 for other Executives. The number of Rights granted was determined using the face value of o Right on 30 June 2021 of $4,66, being the Qontas shore price of the start of the
performance period. The fair value of o Right wos $5.918 per Right for the CEO and $4.98 per Right for other Executives. 100 per cent of these Rights vested following the testing of

perfarmance hurdles os at 30 June 2023 and the Board's approval of the vesting outcome an 23 August 2023.
2 MrEvans ceased as KMP and ceased employment on 31 December 2022, Rights under the 2022-2023 RRP remained an foot an a pro-rata basis for the portion of the perfarmonce

period employed and were tested at 30 June 2023.
Equity Holdings and Transactions

Executive Management or their related parties directly, indirectly ar beneficially held shares in the Qantas Group as detailed in the table below.
It also shows each individual's sharehalding and corresponding progress against their Minimum Shareholding Guideline at 30 June 2023.

Progress
Interest in Value of Against
Interestin Commenced Rights Shares 30 s‘:‘“e of Minimum
Key Management Shares1July asExecutive Converted to Other Ceased June ores Shareholding
Personnel — Executives 2022 Management Shares' !Z:hunges2 Employment 2023 $'000 Guideline
Alan Joyce 2,990,243 - - (2,500,000) - 1490,243 3,040 On track
Andrew David 244918 - 89,750 (244.,000) -1 90,668 562 On track
Vanessa Hudson 116,501 - 74,750 - -1 191,251 1,186 Meets
Stephanie Tully - 74,806 - (40,056) ' -1 34,750 215 On track
commenced as KMP 14 November .
2022
Cameron Wallace - 23,750 - - -{ 23,750 147 On track
commenced as KMP 1 June 2023 j .
Olivia Wirth - - 76,250 - -1 76,250 473 On track®
Gareth Evans® 717,854 - 95,000 (500.000) (312,854) - - NA
ceased os KMP 31 December 2022

Shares awarded upon vesting of the 2020-2022 LTIP remained subject to an additionol one-year trading restriction until 25 August 2023.

Other Changes include shares purchosed, sold, forfeited, and on cessation as o KMP.

The interest in shores at 30 June 2023 multiplied by the Qontas share price of $6.20 ot 30 June 2023.

The CEOQ ond Executive Management have a maximum five-year period from the later of the date of their appointment to their respective role or 1 July 20189 to accumulate the vatue
of their shareholding.

Ms Wirth has previously been unable ta comply with the Minimum Shareholding Guideline as her spouse is o Partner at an accounting firm thot prohibits the individual (or their
immediate family member) awning o financial interest in 6ssurance and oudit clients. Commencing with the 2023-2025 LTIP and 2022/23 STIP, a voluntary election to restrict
vested shares for a maximum of 15 yeors from gront dote was introduced. Ms Wirth made on election to participate 1o the extent necessary to meet the Minimum Shareholding
Guideline,

6 MrEvans ceased as KMP on 31 December 2022. The 95,000 shares aworded upan vesting of the 2020-2022 LTIP remained subject to an odditional ane-year trading restriction until
25 August 2023.

¢ W

Other than share-based payment compensation, all equity instrument transactions between the Executive Management (including
their related parties) and Qontas during the year have been on an arm's length basis.
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Performance Remuneration Affecting Future Periads

The fair value of share-based payments granted is amortised over the service period. Therefore, remuneration in respect of these awards may
be reported in future years. The following table summarises the maximum value of the awards that will be reported in the statutory
remuneration tables in future years, assuming all performance conditions are met. The minimum value of these awards is nil should
perfarmance conditions not be satisfied.

Future Expense by Plan Future Expense by Financial Year
RRP Awards Awards' LTIP Awards

2023-2024  2022-2023  2021-2023 2022-2024 2023-2025 Total 2024 2025 2026 Total
Executives $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'c00 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Alan Joyce® 826 104 244 219 300 1,693 1,693 - - 1,693’
Andrew David? 145 59 43 67 80 394 394 - - 334
Vanessa Hudson 146 232 43 298 648 1,367 850 449 68 1,367
Stephanie Tully 106 161 21 116 251 655 417 206 32 655
Cameron Wollace® - - - - - - - - - -
Olivia Wirth 124 176 36 253 551 1,140 713 371 56 1140

1 The Board has determined to delay its decision as to whether to opprove the vesting of the STIP untit it has further information ovailable.

2 MrJoyce ond Mr Dovid will ceose employment with Qantas during 2023/24. Shares that are awarded under the 2022/23 STIP to Mr Joyce and Mr Dovid are subject to o deferral period.
The deferral period and additional trading restriction will continue to opply ond these shares are subject to clawback. As Mr Joyce ond Mr Boavid will cease employment prior to the end
of the performance period, the Rights under the 2022-2024 LTIP and the 2023-2025 LTIP will continue to remain an faot an a pro-rata basis for the portion of the performance period
in which Mr Joyce and Mr Dovid were employed, consistent with the Terms and Conditions of those plans as o goad leaver. The Rights may vest and convert to shares a1 the end of the
performance period subject to achievement of the originol respective performance conditions. Any shares allocated following vesting of the LTIP will be subject to o one-year trading
restriction. The future expense reflects the service period fa the termination date.

3 In addition to the above, the maximum value of the fulure expense for 2023/24, assuming all performance conditions are met, includes the amortised accounting value of $56,000 for
the one-off equity grant to Mr Walloce to reploce forfeited incentives as a result of joining Qantas that are subject ta o vesting event accurring during 2023/24.

11 NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FEES
Non-Executive Director fees are determined within on aggregate Non-Executive Directors’ fee pool limit. An annual total fee pool of $3 million
[excluding industry standard travel entitlements received) was approved by shareholders at the 2018 AGM. Total Nan-Executive Directors'
remuneration (excluding industry standard travel entitlements received and other nan-cash benefits) for the year ended 30 June 2023 was
$2.18 million (2022: $2.24 million), which is within the approved annual fee pool. Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration reflects the
respansibilities of Non-Executive Directors, with fees benchmarked against Non-Executive Director fees of ASX50 companies and revenue-
based peer groups.
During 2022/23, Non-Executive Director fees were remixed with an increase in fees offset by the removol of the Nomination Committee fee.
There was no change to the Chairman Board fees.

Board Committees’

Chairman® Member Chair Member
Board Fees $610,000 $167.500 $74,250 $32,500

1 The committees are the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nominations Commitiee and Sofety, Health, Environment and Security Committee. No fees are received for
serving on or chairing the Nominotions Cammittee.
2 The Chairman does not receive any additionol fees for serving on or chairing any Board committee.

Non-Executive Directars do not receive any performance-reloted remuneration. Overseas-based Non-Executive Directors are paid a travel
allowance when travelling on international journeys of greoter than six hours to attend Board and committee meetings or Board-related
activities requiring the participation of all Directors.

A Non-Executive Director Fee Sacrifice Share Acquisition Plan is offered to Non-Executive Directors whereby the Non-Executive Director can
elect to sacrifice a percentage of their Board or Board and committee fees in return for a grant of Rights to the equivalent value of the same
number of Qantas ordinary shares. Each Right granted will convert automatically to ane fully-paid Qantas ordinary share at the conversion
date, which is six months from the grant date, subject to remaining as o Non-Executive Director on the conversion date. The plan is designed
to provide Non-Executive Directars the oppartunity to build their shareholding to achieve (and if desired, exceed) the Minimum Sharehalding
Guideline in a tax effective manner which further aligns their interests with the interests of shareholders. Fees elected to be sacrificed in
return for a grant of Rights continue to be reported as Base Pay in the remuneration disclosures.

Ali Non-Executive Directors and eligible beneficiaries receive travel entitlements. The Chairman and eligible beneficiaries are each entitled
to four long-haul trips and 12 short-haul trips each calendar year and all other Non-Executive Directors and eligible beneficiaries are each
entitled to three long-haul trips and nine short-haul trips each calendar year. These flights are not cumulative and lapse if they are not used
during the calendar year in which the entitlement arises.

Post-emplayment, the Chairman ond eligible beneficiaries are each entitled to two long-haul trips and six short-haul trips for each year of
service, and all other Non-Executive Directors and eligible beneficiaries are each entitled to one lang-haul trip and three short-haul trips for
each year of service. The accounting value of the travel benefit is captured in the remuneration table {as a non-cash benefit for travel during
the year ond as a post-employment benefit).
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Remuneration for 2022/23 — Non-Executive Directors

Short-Term Employee Benefits Post-Employment Benefits
Base Pu\{ Non-Cash .

$'000 (Cash) Benefits Sub-Total Superannuation Travel Sub-Total Tatal
Richard Goyder l 2023 604 117 721 . 6 23 29 L 750
Chairman 2022 R 613 24 21 45 658
Maxine Brenner | 2023 210 _1el L 2 - -1 33 404
Nan-Executive Director 2022 201 49 250 20 10 30 280
Jacqueline Hey | 2023 249 32 281 24 11 35 316 |
Non-Executive Director 2022 233 2 235 18 10 28 263
Belinda Hutchinson [ 2023 _ 256 78 334 18 11 29 363_|
Non-Executive Director 2022 246 15 261 17 10 27 288
Michael L'Estrange | 2023 210 7 a7’ 22 11 33 250 |
Non-Executive Directar 2022 201 16 ) Z-I;— 20 10 30 247
Doug Parker? [ 2023 30 - 30 - 1 1 41]
Non-Executive Director 2022 - - - - - - -
Todd Sampson | 2023 214 _ 3 248 " 19 11 30 2781
Non-Executive Director 2022 194 20 214 16 10 26 240
Antany Tyler® | 2023 292 6 298 = 1 11 309
Non-Executive Director 2022 273 1 274 - fﬁ 10 284
Total 2023 2,065 435 2,500 11 100 211 2,711}

2022 1,934 130 2,064 115 8l 196 2,260

1 Bose Poyincludes any amounts that the Non-Executive Director elects 1o salary sacrifice in return for a grant of Rights under the Non-Executive Director Fee Sacrifice Share

Acquisition Plon.
2 2022/23 remuneration refiects the period served by Mr Parker as o Non-Executive Director from 23 May 2023 1o 30 June 2023. Mr Parker received a travel allowonce of $12,000

during 2022/23. This smount is included in Base Poy (Cosh).
3 MrTyler received o trovel ollowonce of $50,000 during 2022/23 (2021/22: $20,000). This amount is included in Base Poy (Cash).

Equity Holdings and Transactions
Non-Executive Director KMP or their related parties directly, indirectly or beneficially held shares in the Qantas Group as detailed in the table

below. It also shows each individual’s shareholding and corresponding progress against their Minimum Shareholding Guideline at 30 June
2023.

Progress Against

Interest in Conversion of Interestin \gc;‘lue of Minimum
Key Management Personnel - Non- Sharesasat  Rights to Ordinary Other  Shares as at 30 ares Sharehalding
Executive Directors 30 June 2022 Shares Chonges' June 2023 $'000 Guideline
Richard Goyder 175,603 35,459 - 211,062 1,308 Meets
Maxine Brenner 39,498 - - 39,498 245 Meets
Jacqueline Hey 61,731 3,096 - 64,827 402 Meets
Belinda Hutchinson 47,199 16,258 - 63,457 393 Meets
Michae! L'Estrange 33,945 - - 33,945 210 Meets
Doug Parker® - - - - - -
Todd Sampson 33,783 6.304 - 40,087 249 Meets
Antony Tyler 52,000 - -1 52,000 322 Meets
1 Ordinary shares issued upon conversion of Rights acquired under the Non-Executive Director Fee Sacrifice Share Acquisition Plan.
2 Other Changes includes shares purchased and sold.
3 Theinterest in shares at 30 June 2023 multiplied by the Qantas share price of $6.20 ot 30 June 2023.
4 Non-Executive Directors have o maximum five-year periad from the loter of the date of their appointment to the respective rale or 1 July 2018 to occumulate the volue

of their shareholding.
Mr Porker as @ recent oppaintee hos yet to commence accumuloting o shoreholding.
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Rights Acquired Under the Non-Executive Director Fee Sacrifice Share Acquisition Plan
The following table details Rights acquired under the Non-Executive Director Fee Sacrifice Share Acquisition Plan by Non-Executive Director

KMP or their related parties:

: . . Interest in Rights as Acquired by feel .COnvened tg Interest in Rights as
Key Management Persannel - Non-Executive Directors at 30 June 2022 Sacrifice Ordinary Shares ot 30 June 2023
Richard Goyder 17,934 32,017 (35,459) 14,492
Maxine Brenner - - - -
Jacqueline Hey 3,096 - (3.096) -
Belinda Hutchinson 8,379 14,334 (16.258) 6,515
Michael L'Estrange - - - -
Doug Parker - .- - -
Todd Sampson 3,096 5,860 (6.304) 2,652
Antony Tyler - - - -

1 Number of Rights acquired under the Nan-Executive Director Fee Sacrifice Shore Acquisition Plan. Rights were ocquired on 1 September 2022 applying a fair value of § 5.2211 per
Right. Rights were acquired on 3 March 2023 applying a fair volue of $ 6.3138. The Rights acquired 3 March 2023 remained outstanding at 30 June 2023 and converted to restricted

ordinary shares on 28 August 2023.

2 Rights ocquired on 4 March 2022 (foir value of $ 5.1019 per Right) converted to restricted ardinary shares on 26 August 2022 and Rights acquired on 1 September 2022 (fair value of

$5.2211 per Right) converted to restricted ordinary shares on 28 February 2023,

All equity instrument transactions between the Non-Executive Director KMP, including their related parties, and Qantas during the year have

been on an arm’s length basis.

Loans and Other Tronsactions with Key Management Personnel

No KMP or their related parties held any loans from the Qantas Group during or at the end of the year ended 30 June 2023 or prior year.

A number of KMPs and their related parties have transoctions with the Qantas Group. All transactions are conducted on normal commercial

arm’s length terms.
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ENVIRONMENTAL OBLIGATIONS

The Qantas Group's operations are subject ta a range of Commonwealth, State, Territary and international enviranmental legislation. The
Qantas Group is committed to environmental sustainability with high standards for environmental performance. The Board places particular
focus on the environmental aspects of its operations through the Safety, Health, Environment and Security Committee, which assists the
Board with fulfilling its strategy, palicy, systems aversight, monitoring and corporate governance responsibilities with regard to environmental
matters, including compliance with legal and regulatory abligations and risk management.

The Directors are satisfied that the Qantas Group Management System Standard underpins the management of the Qantas Group's
environmental exposures and environmental perfoermance, including compliance obligations. The Directors are also satisfied that appropriate
monitoring procedures are in place to ensure compliance with the Group Management System Standard. Any significant environmental
incidents are reported to the Board through the Sofety, Health, Environment and Security Committee.

INDEMNITIES AND INSURANCE
Under the Qantas Constitution, Qantas indemnifies, to the extent permitted by law, each Director and Company Secretary of Qantas against
any liability incurred by that person as an officer of Qantas.

The Directors and the Company Secretaries listed on pages 26 to 27 and individuals who formerly held any of these positions have the benefit
of the indemnity in the Qantas Constitution. Members of Qantas’ Executive Maonagement team and certain farmer members of the Executive
Management team have the benefit of an indemnity to the fullest extent permitted by law and as approved by the Board. In respect of non-
audit services, KPMG, Qantas’ auditor, has the benefit of an indemnity to the extent KPMG reasonably relies on any information pravided by
Qantas which is false, misleading or incomplete. No amount has been paid under any of these indemnities during 2022/23 or to the date of

this Report.

Qantas has insured agoinst amounts which it may be liable to pay on behalf of Directors and Officers or which it otherwise agrees ta pay by
way of indemnity.

During the year, Qantas paid a premium for Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance policies, which caver all Directors and Officers of the

Qantas Group. Details of the nature of the liobilities covered, and the amount of the premiums paid in respect of the Directors’ and Officers’
insurance policies, are not disclosed, as disclosure is prohibited under the terms of the contracts.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES

During the year, Qantas’ auditor, KPMG, performed certain other services in addition fo its statutory duties. The Directors are satisfied that:

a. The non-audit services provided during 2022/23 by KPMG as the external auditor were compatible with the general standard of
independence for auditars imposed by the Corporations Act 2001 {Cth)

b. Any non-audit services provided during 2022/23 by KPMG as the external auditor did not compromise the guditor independence
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) for the following reasons:

- KPMG services have not involved partners or staff acting in a managerial or decision-making capacity within the Qantas Group or being
involved in the processing or originating of transactions

- KPMG non-oudit services have only been provided where Qantas is satisfied that the related function or process will not have a material
bearing on the audit procedures

- KPMG partners and staff involved in the provision of nan-audit services have not participated in associated approval or authorisation
processes

- Adescription of all non-oudit services undertaken by KPMG and the reloted fees has been reported to the Board to ensure complete
transparency in relation to the services provided

- The declaration required by section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) confirming independence has been received from KPMG.
A copy of the lead auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) is included on
page 62. .
Details of the amounts paid to KPMG for audit and non-audit services provided during the year are set out in Note 27 to the Financial
Statements.
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LEAD AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001
To: The Directors of Qantas Airways Limited

| declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation ta the audit for the financial year ended 30 June 2023, there
have been:

i. no contraventians of the auditor independence requirements as se'r out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the oudit,
und " .- . .

-~ e F

; U ho conliuventions of any applicable core nf professional conduct in relation to the audit.

l ; | L | | ///_I h 3 B - : “-m .
D N
KPMG Julian McPherson " - .
Sydney ‘ Partner”

2U Seprember 2023

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG Llubmvv limited by o scheme upprovea
global arganization of independent member firms affilioted with  under Professi g ).
o KPMG Inlirqﬂtmnnl Iimited, g private Engllsh compony limited by
guorantee. All rights réservea.
The KPMG nome ond logo are trademarks used under license by
' * thr indegengent member firms of the KPMG globol organization.

nh

e e -
Rounding

Qantas is a company of a kind referred to in Australion Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC) Corporations {Rounding in Financiol/
Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191 and in accordance with that Instrument, amounts in this Directors’ Report and the Financial Report
have been rounded to the nearest million dollars unless otherwise stated.

Signed pursuant to a Resolution of the Directors:

S P12~ G rrea foiho

Richard Goyder Vanessa Hudson
Chairman Chief Executive Officer
20 September 2023 20 September 2023
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Consolidated Income Statement

For the year ended 30 June 2023

2023 2022

Notes M SM
REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
Net passenger revenue 16,923 5,951
Net freight revenue 1,380 1963
Other revenue and income 4(B) 1512 1194
Revenue and other income 13,815 9,108
EXPENDITURE
Salaries, wages and other benefits 4,261 3,024
Aircraft operating variable 3,996 2,328
Fuel 4,555 1,848
Depreciation ond amortisation 5 1,762 1,801
Share of net loss of investments accounted for under the equity method 14 44 126
Net gain on disposal of assets 6 (4} (692}
Other . ' 7 2,512 1563
Expenditure 17,126 9,998
Statutory profit/(loss) before income tax expense and net finance costs I 2,689 (890)
Finance income 8 138 17
Finonce costs 8 (355) (318)
Net finance costs 8] (217} (301)
Statutory profit/(loss) before income tax expense 2,472 l (1,191)
Income tax (expense)/benefit ) 9 [728) ‘ 331
Statutory profit/(loss) for the year I 1,744 I (860)
Attributable to:
Members of Qantas * 1,746 (860)
Non-controlling interests (2) -
Statutory profit/(loss) for the year [ 1,744 (860)
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO MEMBERS OF QANTAS
Basic Earnings/(Loss) Per Share (cents) 3 96.0 | (45.6)
Diluted Earnings/(Loss) Per Share [cents) 3 93.0 i (45.6)

The above Consolidated Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the uccompun\}ing notes.
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2023 2022
$M $M
Statutory profit/(loss) for the year } 1,744 ! (860)

Items that are or may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss |
Effective partion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges, net of tax I (79) 492
Transfer of effective hedging gains from hedge reserve to the Consolidated Income Statement, net of tax! i (232) (274)
De-designation of fuel and foreign exchange hedges to the Consolidated Income Statement, net of tax — (20)
Net changes in hedge reserve for time value of options, net of tax (111) 20
Foreign currency translation of controlled entities (17) (18]
Foreign currency translation of investments accounted for under the equity method 5 7
Share of other comprehensive loss of investments accounted for under the equity methad - (3)

items that will not subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss

Defined benefit actuarial (losses)/gains, net of tax (103) 203
Fair value losses on investments, net of tax | (12} (22)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year ! (549) 385
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year | 1,195 (475)

i

Attributable to: I
Members of Qantas ! 1197 (475)
Non-controlling interests (2) -
Toto) comprehensive income/(loss) for the year ; 1,195 l (475)

The above Consolidoted Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

1 These omounts were altocated 1o revenue of $17 million (2022: (519) million), fuel expenditure of ($348) million (2022: ($372) million) ond income tax expense of $33 million (2022:

$117 millien) in the Consofidated Income Statement.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

As at 30 June 2023
2023 2022

Notes $M M
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 21(A) ) 317} 3343
Receivables mj- 1,046 ; 1102
Lease receivables 16(B) 10 9
Other financiol ossets 26(B), (C) 222 641
Inventories 12 230 269
Assets classified as held for sale 13 38 1
Other 19 328 268
Total current assets | 5,105 | 5,633
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Receivables 1n S 5
Lease receivables 16(B) 52 45
Other financiol assets 26(B), (C} 151 199
Investments accounted for under the equity method 14 25 57
Property, plant and equipment 15 11,849 10,224
Right of use assets 16(A) 1303 857
Intangible assets 17 687 778
Deferred tox assets 18 367 853
Other 19 810 I 902
Total non-current assets | 15,249 | 14,020
Total assets 1 20,354 § 19,653
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables 2,732 2,474
Revenue received in advance 20 6,662 5,863
Interest-beoring liabilities 21(8) 799 669
Lease liabilities 16(C) 581 384
Other financial liobilities 26(8), (C) 51 67
Provisions 22 1,272 1101
Total current ligbilities | 12,097 | 10,558
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Revenue received in odvance 20 2.010 2,066
Interest-beoaring liabilities 21(8) 4,370 5291
Lease liabilities 18(C) 976 888
Other financial liabilities 26(B). (C) 3n 246
Provisions 22 580 794
Total non-current liabilities | 8,247} 9,285
Total liabilities | 20,344 19.843
Net assets | 101 (190)
EQUITY
Issued capital 23(A) 2186} 3,186
Treasury shares 23(8) {106), {8)
Reserves | 200’ 649
Accumulated losses {2,275) (4,024)
Equity attributable to members of Qantas | 54 (197)
Non-controlling interests t 5} - 7
Total equity ] 10} (190)

The above Consolidated Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 30 June 2023

Fareign

Employee Currency Non-
30 June 2023 Issued Treasury Compensation Hedge Translation Other Accumulated controlling Total
$M Capital Shares Reserve Reserve Reserve  Reserves' Losses Interests  Equity
Balance as at 1 July 2022 3186 (8} 81 394 15 159 (4,024) 7 (180)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR
Statutory profit for the year - - - - - - 1,746 (2) 1,744
Other comprehensive (loss)/income
Effective portion of changes in foir
value of cash flow hedges, net of - - - (79) - - - - (79)
tax
Transfer of effective hedging gains
from hedge reserve to the _ _ _ _
Consolidated Income Statement, (232) (232)
net of tax
Net changes in hedge reserve for _ _ _ _ _ B _
time value of options, net of tax (1) (111)
Foreign currency translation of _ _ _ _ _ _ _
controlled entities (7} a7
Foreign currency translation of
investments accounted for under - - - - 5 - - - 5
the equity method
Defined benefit actuarial losses,
net of tox - - - - - (103) - - (03]
Fair value losses on investments,
net of tax - - - - (12) (12)
Total other comprehensive loss _ _ _
for the year - - (422) (12) (115) (549)
Total comprehensive income for
the year - - [(422) (12) (115) 1,746 (2} 1195
Recognition of effective cash flow
hedges on capitalised assets, - - - (22) - - - - (22)
net of tax
Transactions with owners in their capacity as awners
On-market share buy-back (1,000) - - - - - - - (1,000)
Revuluqnor? of put option over non- _ _ ~ _ _ (56) _ _ (56)
controlling interest
Treosury shares acquired - (104) - - - - - - (104}
Share-based payments - - 188 - - - - - 188
Shares vested and transferred to
employees/Rights unvested and - 6 {10) - - - 3 - (1)
lapsed
Total transactions with owners in
their capacity as owners (1,000} (s8) 178 - - (s6) 3 - (973)
Balance as at 30 June 2023 2,186 (106) 259 (50) 3 (a2) (2,275) 5 10

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in canjunction with the accampanying notes.

1

Other Reserves as at 30 June 2023 includes the defined benefit reserve of 3278 million, the put aption reserve of ($280) million and the fair value reserve of ($10] million.

67



QANTAS ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Consolidated Statement of Changes in EQUIity continves

For the year ended 30 June 2023

30 June 2022
Issued Treasury
$M Capital Shares

Employee
Caompensation
Reserve

Hedge
Reserve

Foreign
Currency
Translation
Reserve

Oihe{
Reserves

Accumulated
Losses

Non-
controlling
Interests

Total
Equity

Balance as at 1 July 2021 3,186 (18)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR YEAR

34

176

26

196

(3.160)

3

443

Stotutory loss for the year - -
Other comprehensive (loss)/income

Effective portion of changes in fair
value of cash flow hedges, - -
net of tax

Transfer of effective hedging gains
from hedge reserve to the
Consolidated Income Statement, net
of tax

De-designation of fuel and foreign
exchange hedges fo the
Consolidated Income Statement, net
of tox

Net changes in hedge reserve for
time value of options, net of tax

Foreign currency translation of
controlled entities

Foreign currency translation of
investments accounted for under the - -
equity method

Share of other comprehensive loss
of investments accounted for under - -
the equity method

Defined benefit actuarial gains,

net of tax

Fair value losses on investments, net
of tax

Transfer of accumulated fair value
losses to accumuloted losses

492

(274)

(20

20

&)

(18)

203

(22)

(860)

(6)

(860)

492

(274)

(20

20

(18)

(3)

203

(22)

Total other comprehensive
incame for the year

215

1)

187

(6)

385

Total comprehensive loss for
the period

215

(1)

187

(866)

(475)

Recognition of effective cash flow
hedges on capitalised assets, net of - -
tax

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners

Recognition of non-controlling
.interest from acquisition of - -
subsidiary

Recognition of put aption over non-
controlling interest

Dividends paid - -
Treasury shares acquired - (5)
Share-based payments - -

Shares vested and transferred to
employees/Rights unvested and - 15
lopsed

63

(16}

(224)

(224)

0]
(5]
63

Total transactions with owners in _ 10
their capacity as owners

47

(224)

2

(161)

Balance as at 30 June 2022 3,186 (8)

81

394

15

159

(4,024)

(190)

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

1
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 30 June 2023

2023 2022
Notes $M SM
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash receipts from customers 21,555 12,236
Cash payments to suppliers and employees (16,356] 1. (9.326)
Interest received 128 13
Interest paid (interest-bearing liabilities) ‘ (186) (186)
Interest paid (lease liabilities) 16(C) i {65) (66)
Dividends received from investments accounted for under the equity method 14 12 -
Foreign income taxes paid (3 1)
Net cash inflow from aperating activities 28 I 5,085 2,670
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES I
Payments for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (2,563) (9086)
Interest paid and capitalised on qualifying assets 8 (31) (1)
Praceeds from disposal of praperty, plant and equipment, net of costs 11 801
Proceeds from disposal of shares in investments accounted for under the equity method 33 -
Payments for investments accounted for under the equity method 14 (75) (66)
Payments for acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired - (54)
Net cash outflow from investing activities (2,625) (240)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments for share buy-back (1,000] -
Payments for treasury shares (103) (2)
Proceeds from interest-bearing liobilities, net of casts 21(D) 826 491
Repayments of interest-bearing liabilities 21(D) (1.669) (1.441)
Repaoyments of lease liabilities 16(C) (690) (363)
Proceeds from lease receivables 8 6
Dividends poid to non-controlling interests - (1
Net cash outflow from financing activities 1 (2,628} (1,310)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents held ] (168} 1120
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 3,343 2,221
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivdlems (4} 2
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 21(A) 3171 [ 3,343

The above Consolidated Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2023

1 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
(A) REPORTING ENTITY

Qantas Airways Limited (Qantas) is a for-profit compony limited by shares, incorporated in Australia, whose shares are publicly traded on the
Australion Securities Exchange (ASX) and which is subject to the operation of the Qantas Sole Act 1992 (Cth).

The Consolidated Financial Statements for the yeor ended 30 June 2023 comprise Qantas and its controlled entities (together referred to as
the Qantas Group or the Group) ond the Qantas Group’s interest in investments accounted for under the equity method.

The Consolidated Financial Statements of Qantas for the year ended 30 June 2023 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution
of the Directors on 20 September 2023.

i. Statement of Compliance

The Consolidated Financial Statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with the Australian
Accounting Standords (AASB) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). The Consolidated
Financial Statements also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) ond the International Financiol Reporting
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) Interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

i, Basis of Preparation

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes the Group will be able to meet its
obligations os and when they fall due. The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in Australion dollars, which is the functional and
presentation currency of the Qantas Group, and have been prepared on the basis of historical cost except in accordance with relevant
accounting policies where assets and liabilities are stated at their foir values in the following material items in the Consolidated Balance
Sheet:

- Derivatives at fair value through profit and loss, and investments at fair value through other comprehensive income are measured at fair
value

- Assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell

- Net defined benefit asset/(liability) is measured at the fair value of plan assets less the present value of the defined benefit abligation

- Put option liability over relevant non-cantrolling interests is measured ot fair value through Equity.

The Group is of a kind referred to in Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC) Corporations (Rounding in Financial /Directors’
Reports) Instrument 2016/191. In accardance with that Instrument, all financial information presented has been rounded to the neorest
million dollars, unless otherwise stated. :

(B) CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements requires Management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of accounting policies and reparted amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. it also requires the exercise of
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for
making the judgements about carrying values of assets and ligbilities that are not readily apparent from other saurces. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis, as appropriote to the particular circumstances. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimote is revised and in any future periods affected. In preparing this report,
areas of judgements made by Management in the application of Australion Accounting Standards that have a significant effect on the
Consolidated Financial Statements and estimates with a significant risk of moterial adjustment in future periods are included in the following
notes:

- Note 26(C)/Note 35(C} - Derivatives and Hedging Instruments

- Note 29 - Superannuation

- Note 35(D) - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Revenue Recognition)
- Note 22/Note 35(Q) - Summary of Significant Accounting Palicies (Provisions).

Impact of climate change on financial reporting
The Group recagnises that human-induced climate change is o significant issue for the aviation industry and is committed to supporting the
gims of the Paris Climate Agreement to limit warming to well below 2 degrees Celsius above pre-industrial levels.

In 2019, the Group announced its commitment to achieving net zero emissions by 2050 and capping net emissions at 2018 levels. In March
2022, the Group announced new interim targets as part of the Climate Action Plan [CAP), including:

- 25 per cent reduction in net emissions from 2019 levels by 2030

- 10 per cent Sustainable Aviation Fuel (SAF] in fuel mix by 2030

- Average of 1.5 per cent fuel efficiency improvements to 2030.

The Qantas Group's long-term strategy acknowledges the potential impact of climate change and resource canstraints on the business.
Climate-related risks and opportunities are also addressed in the Qantas Group’s Sustainability Report 2023.
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1 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
(B) CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)
Three pillars support the achievement of the Group’s interim targets as detailed in the CAP:

- Operational and fieet efficiency: Focusing on flying and engineering practices, investing in fuel-efficient aircraft, as well as broader
airspace design and management initiatives which require industry-wide collaboration. Continuing to reduce fuel burn, including smarter
flight planning. Reducing single-use plastic and waste to landfill

- Sustainable Aviation Fuels [SAF): Working with governments, industry and businesses to develop a commercial-scale, competitive SAF
industry in Australia. This includes suppoarting the establishment of new supply chains and relies on creating SAF from various biomass
sources such as used coaking oil, energy crops, agricultural residues or waste materials that can reduce emissions on a lifecycle basis,
typically by up to around 80 per cent. It also includes advancing non-biogenic, synthetic SAF produced with carbon dioxide, green
hydrogen and significant amounts of renewable electricity using power-to-liquid technology pathways

- Carbon offsets: Offsetting emissions by investing in high-quality, high-integrity Australian and international projects with community co-
benefits, including those led by Traditional Owners.

The Group's Financial Plan‘incorporates estimates of known future impacts on the Group of meeting the interim targets (as detailed in the
CAP), including the financial impact within cash flow projections of the increased cost of carbon offsetting and SAF (fogether with estimated
recovery through revenue] and capital expenditure to infroduce mare fuel-efficient aircraft.

In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, the medium and long-term cash flow impacts of meeting the interim targets in the CAP
have been considered in key estimates, including:

- The estimates of future cash flows used in impairment assessments of the Group’s Cash Generating Units (CGUs)

- The estimates of future profitability used to assess the recoverability of deferred tax assets, particulorly reloting to carried forward tax
losses

- The assessment of the useful lives of aircraft identified in the Group fleet plan to be retired as part of the introduction of more fuel-
efficient aircroft.

2 OPERATING SEGMENTS, UNDERLYING PROFIT BEFORE TAX AND RETURN ON INVESTED CAPITAL
(A) OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Qantas Group comprises the following operating segments:

QANTAS
GROUP

Qantas Qontas Jetstar
Domestic International Group

Passenger Flying Businesses and Air Cargo
ond Express Freight Businesses

Qantas

Customer Loyalty Recognition Centralised Management and
Programs Governance

i. Underlying EBIT

Underlying EBIT is the primary reporting measure used by the Qantas Group’s Chief Operating Decision-Making bodies (CODM), being the Chief
Executive Officer, Group Management Committee and the Board of Directors, for the purpase of assessing the performance of Qantas
Domestic, Qantas International, Jetstar Group, and Qantas Loyalty operating segments. The primary reporting measure of the Corporate
segment is Underlying PBT, as net finance costs are managed centrally and are not gliocated to the Qantas Domestic, Qantas International,
Jetstar Group or Qantas Loyoalty operating segments. Underlying EBIT is calculated as Underlying PBT as outlined below (refer to Note 2(B])
but excluding the impact of net finance costs.
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2 OPERATING SEGMENTS, UNDERLYING PROFIT BEFORE TAX AND RETURN ON INVESTED CAPITAL (CONTINUED}
(A) OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED)
ii. Analysis by Operating Segment

2023 Qantas Qantas Jetstar Qontas Unallocated/
$M Domestic International Group Loyalty  Corporate  Eliminations' Consolidated

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

i |
External segment revenue and other income ‘ 6.497 7493 4,097 2,043 9 (324) 19,815 |
Inter-segment revenue and other income | 483 256 138 146 - {1,023} - l
Total segment revenue and other income | 6980 7749 4,235 2,189 9 (1,347 19,815 |
Share of net (lass)/profit of investment - . : - . . .
accounted fo[r unclgrjtcr:e equityer:etheodS I 5 5 (54) - - } " (44) l
Underlying EBITDA? {1936 1,592 759 500 {205) (137) 4,445 |
Depreciation nnd amortisation (665) {686) (355) (49) (7 - (1,762)
Impairment | 63} - - - - - (1) l
Underlying EBIT {1270 906 404 451 (212) (137) 2,682 |
Net finance costs [ ) (217) (217) |
Underlying PBT I (429) 2,465 |
ROIC %° i 103.6% |
2022 Qantas Qantas Jetstor Qantas Unallocated/
$M Domestic  International Group Loyolty  Corporate  Eliminations' Consolidated
REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
External segment revenue and other income 3127 3,615 1,388 1,284 10 (316] 9,108
Inter-segment revenue and other income 321 91 52 50 - (514} -
Total segment revenue and other income 3,448 3,706 1,440 1,334 10 (830) 9,108
Share of net loss of investments occounted for
under the equity method () W (124) - - - (126)
Underlying EBITDA? (27) 448 (448) 351 (121) 78 281
Depreciation and amortisation (700) (686)  (348) (59) (8 - (1.801)
Impairment (38) - - - - - (38)
Underlying EBIT (765) (238) (796) 292 (129) 78 (1,558)
Net finance costs (301) (301)
Underlying PBT (430) (1,859)
ROIC %° (31.6%)

1 Unallocoted/Eliminations represents unallocoted businesses of the Gantos Group thot are not considered to be reportable segments and consolidotion elimination entries. It also
includes the impact of discount rate changes on provisians [refer to Note 7 and changes in presentotion of income/expenses where the determination of whether the Group is acting
as principal or agent is made an tidation. Unallocated/Eliminations alsa includes the recognition of the Recovery Boost bonus for EBA-covered employees announced in June
2022 and the Recovery Retention bonuses onnounced in February 2022 expensed in accardance with relevent Accounting Standords.

2 Underlying EBITDA represents underlying earnings before income tax expense, depreciotion, amortisation, net finance costs and impairment.

3 ROIC % represents Return an Invested Capital (ROIC) EBIT divided by Average Invested Copital. Refer to Note 2(C).

Passenger revenue primarily arises within the Qantas Domestic, Qantas International and Jetstor Group segments. Freight revenue primarily
arises within Qantos International, except when belly space is utilised in Qantas Domestic and Jetstar Group.

Marketing revenue and redemption revenue in relation to the issuance and redemption of Qantas Points is recognised within the Qantas
Loyalty segment. Marketing revenue on inter-segment Qantas Point issuances is eliminated on consolidation. Redemption revenue arising
from Qantas Group flight redemptions is recognised within Net Passenger Revenue on consolidation. The inter-segment arrangements with
Qantas Loyalty are not designed to derive a net profit from inter-segment Qantas Point issuances and redemptions.

Redemption revenue in relation to products provided by suppliers outside the Group, such as Qantas Marketplace redemptions and other
carrier redemptions, is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement net of related costs, as the Graup is an agent. For the purposes of
segment reporting, the Qontas Loyalty segment reports these redemptions on a gross basis. Adjustments are made within consolidation
eliminations to present these redemptions on a net basis at a Group level within Other Revenue and Income.
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2 OPERATING SEGMENTS, UNDERLYING PROFIT BEFORE TAX AND RETURN ON INVESTED CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
(B) UNDERLYING PROFIT BEFORE TAX (UNDERLYING PBT) AND RECONCILIATION TO STATUTORY PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

Underlying PBT is a non-statutory measure ond is the primary reporting measure used by the CODM for the purpose of assessing the
performance of the Group. The objective of measuring and reporting Underlying PBT is to provide a meaningful and consistent representation
of the underlying performance of each operating segment and the Qantas Group.

Items which are identified by Management and reparted ta the CODM bodies as not representing the underlying performance of the business
are not included in Underlying PBT. The determination of these items is made after consideration of their nature and materiality and is applied
consistently from periad to periad.

Items not included in Underlying PBT primarily result from revenues or expenses autside the ordinary course of business relating to business
activities in other reporting periods, Recovery Plan restructuring costs, transactions involving investments, impairments of assets and other
transactions.

2023 2022
RECONCILIATION OF UNDERLYING PBT TO STATUTORY PROFIT/(LOSS] BEFORE TAX $M $M
Underlying PBT | 2,465 | (1.859)
Items not included in Underlying PBT I
- Recavery Plan restructuring costs 5! (21)
- Reversal of impairment of assets and related costs - 3
- Net gain on disposal of Mascot land and buildings - 686
- Net gain on disposal of investments/associates 2 -
Total items not included in Underlying PBT i 7] 668
Statutory Profit/(Loss) Before Income Tax Expense } 2,472 (1,191)

In the 2022/23 financial year, items outside of Underlying PBT included:

Item outside of

Underlying PBT Description

Recovery Plan $5 million primarily relates to the reversal of a redundancy provision previously recognised.

restructuring costs '

Net gain on disposal of The net gain on disposal of investments/associates of $2 million arose fram the sale of the Graup’s investment in
investments/assaciates  Helloworld Travel Ltd (ASX: HLO).

The 2021/22 financial year included the fallowing items:

Item outside of

Underlying PBT Description
Recovery Plan $21 million primarily relates to $14 million of restructuring costs resulting from fleet and people restructuring as
restructuring costs a result of the Recovery Plan and $7 million acquisition and launch costs for new businesses. :

Reversal of impairment of $3 million of reversol of impairment relates to $1 million net reversal of impairment relating te the Group's
assets and related costs  investment in Helloworld Travel Limited and $2 million in other impairment reversals.

Net gain on disposal of The net gain on disposal of assets of $686 million arose from the sale of land in Mascot, Sydney that was not
Mascot land and buildings core to the Group’s long-term strategy.

(C) RETURN ON INVESTED CAPITAL

Return on Invested Capital (ROIC %) is a nan-statutory measure and is the primary financial return measure of the Group. ROIC % is calculated
as Return on Invested Capital EBIT (ROIC EBIT) divided by Average Invested Capital.

i ROIC EBIT AND ROIC %
ROIC EBIT is derived by adjusting Underlying EBIT for the year to exclude leased aircraft depreciation under AASB 16 Leases (AASB 16) and to
include notional depreciation for these aircroft to account for them as if they were owned.

In addition, for non-aircraft leases, ROIC EBIT is reduced for the full lease payments rather than depreciation under AASB 16 to account for
these items as a service cost. The objective of these adjustments is to show an EBIT result which is indifferent to the finoncing ar ownership
structure of aircraft assets and that treats non-aircraft leases as a service cost rather than a debt repayment.
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2 OPERATING SEGMENTS, UNDERLYING PROFIT BEFORE TAX AND RETURN ON INVESTED CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
(C) RETURN ON INVESTED CAPITAL (CONTINUED) '

2023 2022
$M $M
Underlying EBIT 2,682 (1,558)
Add back: Lease right of use depreciation under AASB 16 320 336
Less: Notianal depreciation! (131) (118)
Less: Cash expenses for non-aircroft leases (228) (219)
ROIC EBIT ] 2,643 (1,559}
Average Invested Capital for the year ended 30 June 2,552} 4,928
ROIC %° ; 103.6% | (31.6%)
1 For calculating ROIC, capitolised leased oircroft are included in the Group’s Invested Capital ot the AUD market value (referencing Aircraft Volue Anclysis Company (AVAC)) af the dote
of commencing operations at the prevailing AUD/USD rate. This value is depreciated notionolly in accordance with the Group's acc ing policies, with the calculated deprecioti

reported cbove os nationol depreciation.
2 ROIC % represents Return on Invested Capital {ROIC) EBIT divided by Average Invested Capital. Refer 1o Note 2{(Clii.

il Average Invested Capital

The abjective of the Group's Financial Framewaork is to show Invested Capital which is indifferent to financing or ownership structures of
aircraft assets (leased versus owned). Invested Capital includes the net assets of the business other than cash, lease receivables, interest-
bearing liobilities, other financial assets/(liabilities) and tax balances as well as lease liabilities ond right of use assets (for leased aircraft,
property and other assets) os measured under AASB 16.

To account for the capital invested in leased aircraft, Invested Capital includes an amount representing the capitalised value of leased aircroft
assets as if they were owned. Invested Capital includes the full capitol held in leased aircraft, which is a non-statutary adjustment, as in
accordance with AASB 16 right of use assets are only measured with reference to the lease term.

Average Invested Capital is equal to the average of the monthly Invested Capital for the year.

2023 2022
Invested Capital $M $M
Receivables (current and non-current) 1,051 1107
Inventories 290 269
Other assets (current and non-current) ! 1138 1170
Investments accounted for under the equity method 25 57
Property, plant and equipment 11,849 10,224
Intangible assets 687 778
Assets classified as held for sale 38 1
Payables (current and non-current) (2.732) (2,474)
Provisions [current and non-current) (1.852) {1,895)
Revenue received in advance (current and non-current} : 8.672) {7.929})
Capitalised aircraft leased assets' 1,409 1,892
Invested Capital as at 30 June 3,231 3,200
Average Invested Capital for the year ended 30 June 2,552 4,928

1 Forcalculating ROIC, all statutory aircroft leases, balances and provisions reloted to leased aircraft are adjusted to represent the capitolised value of leased aircraft, as if they were
owned. Capitolised leased aircraft ore included in the Group's Invested Capital at the AUD market volue (veferencing Aircraft Value Analysis Company (AVAC)) ot the date of
commencing operations at the prevoiling AUD/USD rate. This value is nationally depreciated in occordance with the Group’s accounting policies, with the colculated depreciation
reporied in ROIC EBIT as notionol depreciation. The carrying value of leased oircraft (AUD market volue less accumulated notional depreciation) and an adjustment ta exclude aircraft
lease return provisions is reported within | d Copitol os capitalised aircraft leased assets.
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3 EARNINGS PER SHARE

2023 2022
cents cents
Basic Earnings/(loss) per share' ' 96.0 l (45.6)
Diluted Earnings/(loss) per share® 93.0 (45.6)

1 Weighted averoge number of shares used in basic Eormngs Per Shore calculation of 1,818 million {June 2022: 1,886 million) excludes unallocated treasury shares.
2 Weighted overage number of shares used in diluted E gs Per Share calculotion of 1,877 million (June 2022: 1,886 million). Weighted average number of shares used in the diluted
Earnings Per Share calculation for the year ended 30 June 2023 excludes unallacoted treasury shares and includes the effect of share rights expected to vest (using the treasury

stock method). Weighted overage number of shares for the year ended 30 June 2022 used in the diluted E gs Per Share
Share calculation as the effect of share rights expected to vest were onti-dilutive and excluded from the calculation.

ion is the same os used in basic Earnings Per

2023 2022
$M M
Statutory profit/(loss) attributable to members of Qantas 1,746 | (860)-
2023 2022
Number Number
NUMBER OF SHARES M M
Issued shares as at 1 July 1,886 i 1,886
Shares bought back and cancelled (182) ¢ -
Issued shares as at 30 June 1,724 | 1,886
Weighted average number of shares for the year ] 1,824 1,886
4 REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
(A) REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME BY GEOGRAPHIC AREA
2023 2022
$M $M
Net passenger and freight revenue
Australia 13,785 6,026
Overseas 4,518 1,888
Total net passenger and freight revenue 18,303 | 7.914
Other revenue and income 1512 1194
Total revenue and other income 19,815 | 9,108

Net passenger and freight revenue is oftributed to a geographic region based on the point of sale, or where not directly available, on a pro-rata

basis. Other revenue and income is not allocated to a geagraphic region as it is impractical fo do so.
(B) OTHER REVENUE AND INCOME

2023 2022
$M $M
Frequent Flyer marketing revenue and other Qantas Loyalty businesses 868 537
Qantas Marketplace and other redemption revenue®? 79 64
Third-party services revenue 21 185
Other revenue and income 294 408
Total other revenue and income 1512 1,194
1 Qontas Marketplace ond other redemption revenue excludes redemptions on Qontas Grnup flngms which are reported s net possenger revenue in the Consolidated Income
2 Where the Group acts as an agent for redemptions, on adjustment is made within consolid elimi top these redemptions on a net hasis.
5 DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION
2023 2022
Notes $M $M
Property, plant and equipment 15 1,351 1,345
Right of use ossets 16(A) 320 336
Intangible assets 17 91 120
1,762 | 1,801

Total depreciation and amortisation
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6 NET GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF ASSETS

2023 2022

$M $M

Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (2) (692)
Net gain on dispasal of investment/assaciates (2} -
Total net gain on disposal of assets | (4) (692)

In the 2022/23 financial year, the Group recognised a net gain on disposal of investments/associates of ($2) million that arose from the sale
of the Group's investment in Helloworld Travel Ltd (ASX: HLO).

The net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment in the 2021/22 financial year includes a net gain of $686 million arising from the
sale of Mascot land and buildings.

7 OTHER EXPENDITURE

2023 2022
$M $M
Commissions and other selling costs 577 263
Technology and digital 541 452
Capacity hire (excluding lease components) 410 194
Property occupancy and utility expenses ) 127 120
Marketing and advertising 188 99
Discretionary banuses to non-executive employees 67 124
Discount rate changes impact on provisions (34) (194)
Impaoirment of assets and related costs 1 35
De-designation of fuel and foreign exchange hedges - (22)
Redundancy and related costs ' 4 5
Other 631 487
Total other expenditure i 2512 | 1563
8 NET FINANCE COSTS
2023 2022
Notes $M SM
FINANCE INCOME
Interest income on financial assets measured at amortised cost 135 13
Unwind of discount on other ossets and receivables 3 4
Total finance income i 138 17
FINANCE COSTS )
Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at emortised cost (264) (232)
Interest expense on leases 16(C} (65) (73)
Interest paid and capitalised on qualifying assets’ 15 31 15
Total finance costs on financial liabilities | (298] (290)
Unwind of discount on provisions and other liabilities
Employee benefits (24) (9)
Other liabiiities and provisions ' {33) (19)
Total unwind of discount on other liabilities and provisions | (57) (28)
Total finance costs [ (355) (318)
Net finance costs i (217) (301)

1 The bosrawing costs are capitalised using o 3.7 per cent interest rate (2022: 3.4 per cent).
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9 INCOME TAX
(A} INCOME TAX RECOGNISED IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

2023 2022
$M $M
Current income tax expense
Current income tax - Australia - -
Current income tax - foreign - -
Total current income tax expense | -1 -
Deferred income tax.(expense)/benefit
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (121} 1
(Net utilisation of tax losses)/benefit of tax losses {485} 222
Utilisation of prepaid income tax instalments (117) -
Current year deferred income tox (expense)/benefit (723) ] 333
Adjustments for the prior year | (s)1 (2)
Total deferred income tax (expense)/benefit [ (728) ; 331
Total income tax (expense)/benefit in the Consolidated Income Statement 1 (728) | 331
(B) RECONCILIATION BETWEEN INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/BENEFIT AND STATUTORY PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX
2023 2022
$M $M
Statutory profit/(loss) before income tax (expense)/benefit 2,472 (1,191)
Income tax (expense)/benefit using the domestic corporate tax rate of 30 per cent (742) 357
Adjusted for:
Differences in loss fram investments accounted for under the equity method (18) (37
Utilisation of previously unrecagnised tax losses/(losses not recognised) for foreign branches 4 (18]
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses/(losses not recegnised) for contralled entities 7 (13)
Nan-assessable gain an property, plant and equipment - 43
Other net non-deductible items (4) (5
Recognitian of previously unrecagnised losses for branches and contralled entities 22 -
Over provision from prior periods 1 2
Income tax (expense)/benefit (728) 331
(C) INCOME TAX BENEFIT/(EXPENSE) RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2023 2022
$M $M
Income tax on:
Cash flow hedges 190 (95)
Defined benefit actuarial losses/(gains) 44 (87)
Fair value losses on investments 4 9
Income tax benefit/(expense) recognised directly in the Consolidated Statement of 238 (173)

Comprehensive Income
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9 INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)
(D) RECONCILIATION OF INCOME TAX (EXPENSE}/BENEFIT TO INCOME TAX PAYABLE

2023 2022
$M $M
Income tax (expense)/benefit ] (728) | 331
Adjusted for temporary differences: '
Receivables (88} (13}
Inventories 2 1
Investments accounted for under the equity method (1) m
Property, plant ond equipment and intangible assets 75 (35)
Right of use assets 105 (51)
Payables (2) 12
Revenue received in advance (2) (28}
Interest-bearing liabilities 64 (12)
Lease liobilities (86) 38
Other fingncial assets/(liabilities) . (1) 18
Provisions ’ 1 (12}
Other items 54 (28]
Temporary differences l 121 ] (111)
Adjustments for the prior year j 5} 2
(Tax on taxable income)/Value of recognised tax losses ] (602) | 222
Tax losses utilised/(recognised) L 485] (222)

Prepaid tax instalments utilised 117 | -

Income tax payable -1 -

10  DIVIDENDS AND OTHER SHAREHOLDER DISTRIBUTIONS
(A) DIVIDENDS DECLARED AND PAID

During the year ended 30 June 2023 the Group did not declare or pay any dividends. No dividend will be paid in relation to the year ended
30 June 2023.

(B) OTHER SHAREHOLDER DISTRIBUTIONS

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group completed on-market buy-backs totalling $1,000 million, which were announced in August
2022, February 2023 and May 2023. The Group purchased 161.6 million ordinary shares on issue at the average price of $6.19.

In August 2023, the Directors announced an on-market share buy-back of up to $500 million.
{C) FRANKING ACCOUNT

2023 2022
$M $M
Total franking account balance at 30 per cent l 1i -

The above amount represents the balance of the franking account as at 30 June, after taking into account adjustments for:

- Franking credits that will arise from the payment of income tax payable for the current year
- Franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at the year end
- Franking credits that may be prevented from being distributed in subsequent years.
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11  RECEIVABLES

2023 2022
$M M

Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total

Trade receivables 876 - 876 989 - 989

Less: provision for impairment losses (1) - (1) (1) - (1)

Total trade receivables 875 - 875 988 - 988

Sundry receivables 171 5 176 114 5 119

Total receivables 1,046 5 1,051 1,102 5 1,107
2023 2022
$M M

The ageing of trade receivables, net of provision for expected credit losses at 30 June was:'

Not past due 763 837
Past due 1-30 days 88 84
Past due 31-120 days 17 67
Past due 121 days or more 7 -
| 875 | 988

Total trade receivables

1 The Group assesses at each reporting date whether the carrying value of finonciol ossets is impaired. Where necessary, a provisian for expected credit losses (ECL) is recognised,
depending on whether there has been o significant increose in credit risk, including risk of default accurring since initial recognition. Refer 10 Note 35(G) for the Group's accounting

policy.

.12  INVENTORIES -

2023 2022
$M $M
Engineering expendables 240 | 227
Consumables stores 50 41
Work in progress - ( 1
Total inventories ] 290 269
13 ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
2023 . Transferred from Revprsal of .
Opening Net Book Property, Plant and Impairment/  Closing Net Book
M Volue Equipment Dispesals  (Impairment) Value
Aircraft ond engines 1 21 - 16 38 }
Total assets classified as held for sale 1 21 - 16 38 ]
2022 : Transferred from Reversal of
Opening Net Book Property, Plont and Impairment/  Closing Net Book
$M Value Equipment Disposals (Impairment) Value
Aircraft and engines 1 - 1) 1 1
1 - a) 1 1

Total assets classified as held for sale

The balance as at 30 June 2023 relates to aircraft being retired as part of the fleet renewal pragram. The fair value measurement for property,
plant and equipment classified as held for sale has been categorised under the foir value hierarchy as Level 2. Refer to Note 35(C) for a

definition of the fair value hierarchy.
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14  INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR UNDER THE EQUITY METHOD

Ownership interest in investments accounted for under the equity methed'

June 2023 June 2022
% %
Fiji Resorts Pte Limited 21 21
Hallmark Aviation Services L.P. 43 49
HT & T Travel Philippines, Inc. 28 28
Holiday Tours and Travel (Thailand) Ltd. ' 37 37
Holiday Tours and Travel Vietnam Co. Ltd. 37 37
Holiday Tours and Travel (GSA} Ltd. 37 37
Helloworld Travel Limited - 12
Jetstar Japon Co. Ltd. 33 : 33
PT Halidays Tours & Travel 37 37
1 Baosed on voting rights.
2023 2022
Notes $M $M
Balance as at 1 July 57 57
Cash additions 75 66
Non-cash additions 9 17
Dividends received 12) -
Share of net loss (44) (126)
Share of reserves and other movements 1 5
Transfer to provisions 22 (32) 37
Reversal of impoirment/(impairment)! 24(C) - 1
Disposal of investments® (29) -
Balance as at 30 June . 251 57

1 The Group recognised a reversal of impairment of S$1 million in the 2021/22 finoncial year in relotion to its investment in Helloworld Travel Ltd [ASX: HLO). The reversal of impairment

recognised wos determined with reference to the clasing share price as ot 30 June 2022. .
2 The Group recognised the disposol of i aof ($29) million in the 2022/2023 financiol yeor from the sale of the Group’s investment in Helloworld Trovel Ltd (ASX: KLO).
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1S PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2023 2022
$M $M
Accumulated Accumulated

Depreciotion and

Depreciation and

At Cost Impairment Net Book Value At Cost Impairment Net Book Value
Freehold land I 9 - 8! 9 - 9
Buildings ‘ 229 (188) 41 231 (188) 43
Leasehald improvements 1,032 (891) 141 1,067 (896) 171
Plant and equipment ! 1,285 [(956) 329 i 1,251 (982) 269
Aircraft and engines | 22,698 (13,833) 8,865 ¢ 21,248 (13,282) 7,966
Aircraft spare parts i 1122 (595) 527 ; 952 (505) 447
Aircraft deposits 1,937 - 1,937 1,319 - 1,319
Total property, plant ! 28,312 (16,463) 11,849 | 26,077 (15,853) 10,224
and equipment I {
Transferred
2023 Acquisition {ta)/trom
Opening of Assets
Net Book Cash  Controlled Clossified as Closing Net
$M Value  Additions' Entities Disposals Transfers® Held for Sale Depreciation Impairment  Other®  Book Value
Freehold land { g - - - - - - - - 9 i
Buildings 43 - - - - - (2) - - 41
Leasehold improvements l 171 13 - - (15) - (28) - - 141 !
Plant and equipment 269 99 - (2 7 - (46) - 2 329,
Aircraft and engines 7,966 682 - - 1,455 (22) (1,226) (17) 27 8,865 !
Aircraft spare parts E 447 135 - - (3) 1 (49) - @ 527 l
Aircraft deposits 1,319 1,665 - - (.04 - - - (6) 1,937
Total property, plant and ' 10,224 2,594 - (2) 403 (21) {1,351) 7 19 11,849 |
equipment 1 i
Transferred
2022 Acquisition (to)/from
Opening of Assets Closing
Net Book Cash Controlled Classified as Net Book
$M Value  Additions' Entities Disposals Transfers?  Held for Sale Depreciotion Impairment  Other® Value
Freehald lond { 49 - 2 (41) - - - - w 9t
Buildings ; 69 - 3 (26} - - (3) - - 43 l
Leasehold improvements 202 20 2 4) (9) - (33) - (7] 171 ’
Plant and equipment 292 31 - (6] 7 - (53) - (2) 269
Aircraft and engines 1 8,734 507 - - 1 - (1.212) (35) (29) 7.968
Aircraft spare parts i 433 85 - ) 23 - (44) (3) (26) 447
Aircraft deposits {1008 288 - - (5) - - - 28 1,319
Total property, plant and I 10,787 21 7 (78) 17 - (1.345) (38) (370 10,224/

equipment

|

1 Cash additions includes capitalised interest of $31 million (2022; $15 million).
2 Transfers includes transfers between categories of property, plant and equipment, transfers from/(to) other balance sheet accounts and transfers of leased aircraft from right of use

assets following the completion of lease buyouts during the year.

3 Otherincludes non-cash movements and movements in accrued payments for property, plont and equipment (2023: $41 million, 2022: ($4) mitlion),

(A)  AIRCRAFT BY GEOGRAPHIC AREA

Aircraft supporting the Group’s glebal operations are primarily located in Australia, with the exception of two A380 aircraft, which are currently
in starage overseas awaiting maintenance ahead of return to service, and five A320 aircraft, which are based in Singapore to support Jetstar

Asia’s operations.
(B) SECURED ASSETS

Certain aircraft and engines act as security against related financing facilities. Under the terms of certain financing facilities entered into by the
Qantas Group, the underwriters of these agreements have a fixed chorge over certain aircraft and engines to the extent that debt has been
issued directly to those underwriters. The tatal carrying amount of assets under pledge is $3,885 million (2022: $4,653 million).

(C) CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS

The Group’s capital expenditure commitments as at 30 June 2023 are $14,646 million (2022: $15,774 million). The Group has certain rights
within its aircraft purchase contracts which can defer the capital expenditure commitments.

The Group's capital expenditure commitments are predominantly denominated in US dollars. Commitments reported above are translated to the
Group's Australian dollor presentationol currency ot the 30 June 2023 closing exchange rate of $0.68 (2022: $0.69).
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16  LEASES
{A) RIGHT OF USE ASSETS
2023 2022
$M $M
Accumulated Accumulated
Depreciation and Depreciation and

At Cost Impairment Net Book Value At Cost Impairment Net Book Value
Aircroft 2,117 (1,596) 521 ] 2,634 (2,279) 355
Property 1,896 (1197) 699 | 1,636 (1071) 565
Other 315 (232) 83 241 (204) 37
Total right of use assets | 4,328 (3,025) 1,303 4,511 (3,554) 957
2023 Opening Net Mods‘?c‘g::g::; Closing Net
$M Book value  Remeasurements Transfers' Depreciation Other? Book value
Aircraft 355 645 (338) (144) 3 521
Property * 388 210 - 11381 53 699
Other 37 84 - (38) - 83
Total right of use assets ] 957 948 - (338) (320) 56 1,303}
2022 Opening Net Hodil}?cdt;;:g::; Closing Net
$M Book value  Remeasurements Transfers' Depreciation Other? Book value
Aircroft 408 88 - (147) 8 355
Property 632 73 (3) (137) - 565
Other 71 41 (3) (52) (20) 37
Total right of use assets 1,109 202 (6) (336) (12) 957

relating 1o completed lease buyouts during

1 Transfers includes transfers to lease receivobles where the Group is a sub-lessor ond transfers of aircraft to property,plont and
the yeor.

2 Other movements include early terminations of nil (2022; ($21) million], foreign exchange movements ond changes in the meosurement of make good assets.

(B) LEASE RECEIVABLES
2023 2022
$M $M
Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total
Lease receivables' | 10 52 62, 9 45 - 54
Total i 10 52 62, 9 45 54
1 The Group has subleased property and circraft and classified the subleases as finance leoses. The subleased portion of the right of use asset wos derecognised ond the Group
recognised a finance lease receivable (net investment in the finance lease). The interest income recognised on the net investment in the finance lease wos $2 million
[2022: $2 miflion).
(C) LEASE LIABILITIES
2023 2022
$M M
Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total

Aircraft I 359 168 527 187 178 375.
Property 180 738 928 163 674 837
Other I 32 70 102 24 36 60
Total lease liabilities } 581 976 1,557 i 384 888 1,272
1 Inaddition to the leose liobilities disclosed, committed lease payments for non-cancelloble leose contracts which have not commenced as at 30 June 2023 are $34 million.

2023 Opening Modil:‘?cdt:::g:y Lease Foreign

$M Balance  Remeasurements'  Repayments® Interest Exchange Other® Closing Balance
Aircraft | 375 645 (515) 12 9 1 527
Property 837 219 (1s1) 48 - ) 16 928
Other | 60 84 (49) 5 1 1 102
Total lease liabilities | 1,272 948 (755) 65 9 18 1,557]

1 During the 2022/23 financial year, the Group recognised lease modifications reloting 1o the exercise of buyout options for aircraft leases. This resulted in o lease liobility modification

ond repayment of $322 million recognised in financing cash flows.

2 Leose repayments of $755 million includes $630 million principal repayments and $65 million interest repoyments. The lease repayments include deferred lease repayments of

$2 million from financiol year 2020/21.
3 Other movements include additions o sub-leases which has resulted di

g i ta leose liabilities ond leose receivables.

in corresp
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16  LEASES [CONTINUED)

(C)  LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
2022 Opening Modﬁ‘?cdt;:;gzzf Lease Foreign

T $M Balance Remeasurements Repavmentsl Interest Exchange Other? Closing Balance
Aircraft 47 53 (196) 16 31 - 375
Praperty 833 118 (171) 54 4 1) 837
Other 41 (62) 3 4 (21) 60
Total lease liabilities 1,399 212 (429) 73 39 (22) 1,272

1 Leoserepoyments of $429 million includes $363 million principal repayments and $66 millian interest repayments. The lease repayments include deferred lease repoyments of

$7 million from financial year 2020/21.

2 QOther movements include rental waivers of $1 million and eorly terminatians of $22 million.

(D) RECOGNISED WITHIN OTHER EXPENSES IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

2023 2022

$M $M
Lease expense for short-term leases § 1
Variable lease expenses not included in lease liabilities® 58 23
Rental waivers - 1
1 Recognised in other expenditure — capacity hire.
17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2023 2022
$M $M

Accumulated

Depreciation and

Accumulated
Depreciation and

At Cost Impagirment  Net Book Value At Cost Impairment  Net Book Value
Goodwill 270 - 270! 270 - 270
Airport landing slots 35 - 35 35 - 35
Software 1,523 (1,345) 178 1523 (1.260) 263
Brand names and trademarks 32 - 32 41 (1) 40
Customer contracts/relationships 19 (8) 13 1 (4) 7
Contract intangible assets 171 (12) 159 171 (8) 163
Total intangible assets 2,050 (1,363) 687 | 2,051 (1,273) 778
2023 Opening Net Book Cash Acquisition of Closing Net Book
SM Value Additions  Controlled Entities! Amortisation Value
Goodwill 270 ’ - - - 270
Airport landing slots 35 - - - 35 !
Software 263 - - (85) 178
Brand names and trademarks 40 - (8) - 32
Customer contracts/relationships 7 - 8 (2) 13
Contract intangible assets 163 - - (4) 153
Total intangible assets 778 - - (91) 687 i
2022
Opening Net Book Cosh Acquisition of : Closing Net Book
$M Value Additions  Controlled Entities" Amortisation Value
Goodwill 166 - 104 - 270
Airport landing slots 35 - - - 35
Software 376 - 2 (115) 263
Brand names and trademarks 1 - 40 () 40
Customer contracts/relationships - - 7 - 7
Contract intangible assets 167 - - (4) 163
Total intangible assets 745 - 153 (120) 778

1 The fair value of the assets acquired in finonciol year 2021/22 were subject 1o the completion of an independent valuotion. This was finalised in finoncial year 2022/23, resulting in o
transfer of $8 million between cotegories of intongible assets.
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18 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

2023 2022
$M SM
Deferred tax assets | 367} 853
(A] RECONCILIATION OF DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
Recognised
2023 . Rec.ognised in the in Other .
Opening Consolidated | Comprehensive Closing
$M Balance Stotement Income Other Balance
Receivables (114) 88 S - 19 (7)
Inventories (13) (2 - - - (15)
invesimenls uccounted for undor the equity methnd @ _ 1 - - -
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (1.333) (75) - =+ (1400)
Right of use assets (305) (105) - - (410)
Payables I e - 2 . - . - L 13
Revenue received in advance 971 2 - - 973
Interest-bearing ligbilities (119) (64) - - (183)
iLeose llubililies - .38l 86 - = 467
Qther financial assets/(liabilities) (277 - " 48 * = e (0D)
Provisions 380° - (1) - - _ 559
Other items (23) (s4) 44 w . (34)
Tax value of prepaid tax instalments 136 (117 - (19) ' T-
Tax value of recognised tax losses 979 (485) - - 494
Total deferred tox assets i 853 (723) 238 1) 367
1 Adeferred tox liability of (S1} million retating to share-based payments recegnised in retained earnings.
Recognised
2022 . Rec.ognised inthe in Otljer .
Opening Consolidated Income Comprehensive Closing
$M Balance Statement Income Other Balance
Receivables (127) 13 - - (114)
Inventaries (12) (1) - - (13)
Investments accounted for under the equity method (2 1 - - (1)
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (1.356) 35 - (12 (1.333)
Right of use assets (3586) 51 - - (308)
Payables 23 (12) - - 1
Revenue received in advance 943 28 - - 971
Interest-bearing liabilities (131) 12 - - (119)
Lease liabilities 419 (38) - - 381
Other financiol assets/(liabilities) (173) (18) (86) - (277)
Provisions 548 12 - 560
Other items 37 28 (87 (1) (23}
Tox value of prepaid tox instalments 136 - - - 136
Tax value of recognised tax losses 757 222 - - 979
Total deferred tax assets 706 333 (173) 13) 853
1 Adeferred tox liability of ($12] million relating to the acquisition of TAD Holdco Pty Limited and its subsidiories (TripADeol).
2 Adeferred tox liability of {$1) million reloting 10 shore-based payments recognised in retained earnings.
(B) QANTAS GROUP CARRIED FORWARD TAX LOSSES
2023 2022
M $M
Total tax losses braught forward as at 1 July | (979} | {(757)
Tax losses utilised against current taxable income I 507 -
Tox losses recognised (22) (222)
Tax losses carried forward to be utilised in future years' | (494) | {979)

1 Adeferred tox asset of $494 million has been recognised forincome tax losses and is expected 10 be recovered in future periods.
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18  DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(C) UNRECOGNISED DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

Deferred tax ossets have not been recognised with respect to the following items:

2023 2022
$M $M
Tox losses - New Zealand' 16 44
Tox losses - Singopore 60 54
Tax losses - Hong Kong 24 21
Total unrecognised deferred tax assets l 100} 119
1 Adeferred tox asset of $22 million was recognised in the 2022/23 financial year which is expected to be recovered in future periods.
19 OTHER ASSETS
2023 2022
$M $M
Note Current  Non-current Total Current  Non-current Total
Prepayments 251 160 411 206 186 402
Net defined benefit asset 29(8) - 399 399 - 539 539
Other assets’ 77 251 328 62 167 229
Total 328 810 1,138 268 902 1170
1 Other assets include incremental costs of obtaining a controct. Refer o Note 35(D)vii. for the Group’s accounting policy.
20 REVENUE RECEIVED IN ADVANCE
2023 2022
$M $M
Current  Non-current Total Current  Non-current Total
Unavailed passenger revenue! 4,992 - 4,992 4,389 - 4,389
Unredeemed Freguent Flyer revenue 1,311 1,869 3,180 1168 1,945 3113
Other revenue received in advance 358 14 500 306 121 427
Taotal revenue received in advance 6,662 2,010 8,672 ] 5,863 2,066 7,929

1 Unavoiled passenger revenue relotes to sales to passengers in advance of the date of passenger travel. The balance includes tickets with a travel date subsequent to year end and

tickets which have been transferred 1o o travel credit.
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21  NET ON BALANCE SHEET DEBT
(A) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2023 2022

$M $M

Cash balances 703 254
Cash at call 501 302
Short-term money market securities and term deposits ‘ 1,967 2,787
3171 3,343

Total cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise'cosh balances, cash at call, short-term money market securities and term deposits that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

Shart-term money market securities of $292 million {2022: $201 millien) held by the Qantas Group ore pledged as collateral under the terms
of certain operational financing facilities when underlying unsecured limits are exceeded. The collateral cannot be sold or repledged in the

absence of default by the Qantas Group.
(B) INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

2023 2022
$M $M
: Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total
Bank loans - secured ! 177 971 1148 308 1321 1,629
Bank loans - unsecured - 402 402 ' - 438 438
Other loans ~ secured l 373 1,330 1,703 361 1,566 1,927
Other loans - unsecured 249 1,667 1,916 - - 1,966 1,966
Total interest-hearing liabilities ) 799 4,370 5,169 669 5,291 5,960

Certain current and non-current interest-bearing liabilities relate to specific financing of aircraft and engines and are secured by the aircroft
to which they relate (refer to Note 15(B)).

(C}] UNDRAWN FACILITIES
At 30 June 2023, the Group has committed undrown facilities of $1,196 million (2022: $1,330 million).
(D) ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN NET ON BALANCE SHEET DEBT

2023 Foreign Exchange, Other

Opening Debt Debt Mark-to-Market and Shereholder  Treasury Net Cash Closing
$M Balance Repoyment Drawdown Non-Cash Movements  Distributions Shares Movement Balance
Interest-bearing 5,960 (1,669) 826 52 - - - 5,169 ;
liabilities
Cash ' (3.343) 1,669 (828) 4 1,000 103 (1.778) (3171)
let onbalance sheet - 5 617 - - 56 1000 103 (1.778) 1998
2022 Foreign Exchange, Other

Opening Debt Debt Mark-to-Market and Shareholder  Treasury Net Cash Closing
$M Bolance Repayment Drawdown  Non-Cash Movements  Distributions Shares Movement Balance
Interest-bearing 6,830 (1.441) 491 80 - - - 5.860
ligbilities
Cash (2,221) 1,441 (491) (2) - 2 (2,072) (3.343)
zl:;'m balance sheet 4,609 _ _ 78 - 2 (2,072) 2,617

86



QANTAS ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

For the year ended 30 June 2023

22  PROVISIONS

2023 2022
$M $M

Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Totol
Annual leave 434 - 434 | 358 - 358
Long service leave 353 44 397 303 38 341
Redundancies and ather employee benefits ! 188 - 188 189 - 189
Total employee benefits 975 44 1,018 850 38 888
Onerous contracts 7 - 7 12 - 12
Make good on leased assets 170 386 556 50 641 691
insurance, legal and other' 120 150 270 189 115 304
Total other provisions | 297 536 833 251 756 1,007
Total provisions l 1,272 580 1,852 1,101 794 1,895

1 Insurance, legal and other includes o pravision relating to a decision of the Federal Court of Australia that determined Qontes hoad contravened the adverse action provisions of the
Fair Work Act in outsourcing the remainder of Qantas’ ground handling function in 2020. As ot 30 June 2023, the ruling of the Federal Court of Australia was subject to appeal in the
High C(iurt of Australio. Subsequent to year end, on 13 September 2023, the High Court of Australia upheld the ruling of the Federal Court {refer to Note 34 Post-Balance Sheet Date
Events).

Reconciligtions of the movements of each class of provision, other than employee benefits, are set out below:

2023 Provisions Discount  Transfers from

Opening  Provisions Utilised/  Unwind of Rate  Investmentsin Closing
M Balance Made Reversed Discount Chang A iates Other/FX Balance
Onerous contracts IR To- (6) - - - 1 7
Make good on leased assets 691 173 (336) 27 {14) - 15 558
Insurance, legal ond other 304 44 (49) 3 (1) (32) 1 270
Total other provisions [ 1,007 217 (391) 30 (15) (32) 17 833 |
23 CAPITAL

(A)  ISSUED CAPITAL

2023 2022

$M $M

Opening balance: 1,886,044,698 (1 July 2021: 1,886,044,698) ordinary shares, fully paid i 3,186 3,186
Shares bought back during the year: 161,590,018 (June 2022: nil) ordinary shares {1,000) -
Closing balance: 1,724,454,680 (2022: 1,886,044,698) ordinary shares j 2,186 | 3,186

Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share ot
shareholders’ meetings. In the event of wind-up, Qontas ordinary shareholders rank after oll creditors and are fully entitled to any residual
proceeds on liquidation.

(B) TREASURY SHARES

Treasury shares cansist of shares held in trust for Qantas employees in relation ta equity compensation plans. As at 30 June 2023,
16,703,789 (2022: 1,602,255) shares were held in trust and classified as treasury shares.

(C} CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Qantas Group’s Financial Framework is designed to achieve top quartile Total Shareholder Return relative to the ASX100 and global airline
peers. The Framework's key elements are to:

- Maintain an optimal capital structure that minimises the cost of capital by holding an appropriate level of Net Debt. The appropriate level of
Net Debt reflects the Qantas Group’s size, measured by Invested Capital. This is consistent with investment grade credit metrics

- Deliver ROIC that exceeds the weighted average cost of capital through the cycle

- Make disciplined capital allocation decisions between reinvestment, debt reduction and distribution of surplus capital to shareholders
while maintaining an optimal copital structure.

Surplus capital is determined on o forward-looking basis, which is the difference between the projected Net Debt pasition and the torget Net
Debt position.
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23  CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
(C) CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

The Qantas Group maintains access to o broad range of debt markets, both secured ond unsecured. The Qantas Group maintains o prudent
liquidity policy that ensures adequate coverage of liquidity requirements while considering a range of adverse scenarios.

Metrics 2023 2022
Net Debt! $3.78 10 $4.687! $2.898 $3.948
Return on Invested Copital (%) ROIC > WACC {103.6 per cent | (31.6) per cent
Net capital expenditure® . ; $2,666M $398M
Shareholder distributions® ! $1,000M | -
1 Net Debt is o non-statutory meosure. It includes nef on bolance sheet debt and copitolised aircraft lease liabilities under the Group's Financial Framework. Capitalised oircroft lease
liohilities are measured ot fair value ot the lease date and sred over the leose term on a principol and interest hosis. The residual value of the copitalised

aircraft lease liobility denominated in o foreign currency is translated ot the long-term exchange rate.

2 Torget Net Debt range of $3.7 billion to $4.6 billion is based on the 12-month averoge Invested Copital of $2.6 billion os ot 30 June 2023. The Target Net Debt range for the 2021/22
financial year wos $4.2 billion 1o $5.2 billion, which is based on the average Invested Copital of $4.9 billion as at 30 June 2022.

3 Net copital expenditure is 0 non-stotutory measure which is equal to net investing cash outflows included in the Consalideted Cash Flow Statement of $2,625 million (2022;
$240 million) and the impact to Invested Copital from the acquisitions/disposols of leased aircraft of $41 million (2022: $158 million).

4 During the yeor ended 30 June 2023, the Group completed en-market buy-backs totalling $1,000 million, which were annaunced in August 2022, February 2023 ond Moy 2023. The
Group purchased 161.6 million ordinary shares on issue at the overage price of $6.13.

24  IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS AND RELATED COSTS
(A) IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF CASH GENERATING UNITS

i. Identification of CGUs

The identification of an asset’'s CGU is a key judgement in performing an impairment test. CGUs are the lowest identifiable group of assets
that generate largely independent cash inflows and are determined based on how performance is monitored and how decisions to acquire and
dispose of the Group's assets and operations are made.

The identified CGUs by operating segment for the 2022/23 financial year are outlined in the table below:

Operating Segment CGUs Identified
Qantas Domestic Qantas Domestic CGU
Qontas International Qantas International CGU
Qantas Freight CGU
Jetstar Australia/New Zealand CGU
Jetstar Group . Jetstar Asia CGU
Jetstar Japan CGU
Qantas Loyalty ?:;:L%set%z:]y ceu

ii. Impairment Assessment

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is any indication thot an asset may be impaired. If any such
indication exists, the entity shall estimate the recoverable amount of the asset. The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use.

The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset where possible, otherwise, the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
osset belongs shall be determined.

Value in use is the present value of the future cash inflows expected to be derived from an asset or CGU.

Faoir value less costs of disposal is the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date, less the incremental costs directly attributed to disposal.

Where the carrying value of the asset exceeds its recaverable amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount
through the recognition of an impairment loss.

Impoirment assessment of CGUs

The impairment test for CGUs includes the allocation of assets to identified CGUs and the determination of the recoverable amount of the CGU
based onits value in use. Qutlined below are the significant assumptions applied in the determination of the recoverable amount.

88



QANTAS ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Notes to the Financial Statements continved

For the year ended 30 June 2023

24  IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS AND RELATED COSTS (CONTINUED)
(A) IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF CASH GENERATING UNITS (CONTINUED)

iil. Impairment Assessment (CONTINUED)

Significant
Assumption

How It Was Determined

Calculation of
recoverable

The recoverable amounts of CGUs were determined based an their value in use. The value in use was determined by
discounting the future cash flows forecast in the Financial Plan.

amount

Net assets Net assets excluding cash and cash equivalents, interest-bearing liobilities and deferred tax assets/liabilities within CGUs
but excludes any items that have been tested for impairment individually.

Cash Flows —  Cash flows were projected based on the Board-appraved Financial Plan.

Group Financial
Plan

Cash outflows include capital and maintenance expenditure for the purchase of aircroft and other property, plant and
equipment. These cash outflows do not include copital expenditure that enhances the current performance of assets or
capital expenditure relating to assets that commence operation beyond the terminal year.

The Group's Financial Plan incarporates estimates of the future impact on the Group of meeting the interim targets in the
Group’s Climate Action Plan, including the financial impact within cash flow projections of the increased cost of carbon
offsetting and SAF (together with estimated recovery through revenue).

For the purposes of perfarming an impairment test, a terminal value has been been estimated. Cash flows to determine
the terminal value were extrapolated using a constant growth rate of 2.5 per cent per annum, which does not exceed the
long-term average growth rate for the industry.

Discount rate

A pre-tax discount rate of 10 per cent per annum has been used in discounting the projected cash flows of the CGUs,
reflecting the long-term average pre-tax Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) of the Qantas Group (2022: 10 per cent
per annum).

Sensitivity to
significant
changesin
assumptions

Sensitivity to Changes in Assumptions [CGUSs other than Jetstar CGUSs in Asia)

The terminal year in the impairment test has the most material impact on the determination of the recoverable amount
and the surplus between the recoverable amount and carrying value of CGUs. The earlier years in the Financial Plan, while
impacting the measurement of the recoverable amaunt, do not materially impact the surplus identified.

Reasonably possible changes in the Financial Plan and discount rates are unlikely to result in impairment of the CGUs. The
terminal value cash flow is in excess of the break-even cash flow and reasonably possible changes in this assumption do
not result in impairment.

Sensitivity to Changes in Assumptions [Jetstar CGUs in Asia)

The Group recognised impairment in the Jetstar Asia CGU of Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets in the 2013/20
financial year ond of property, plant and equipment and right of use assets in the 2020/21 financial year. The impairments
were allocated to individual assets to the extent that the assets were not reduced below their individual fair value less
costs of disposal.

Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets have been fully impaired, and property, plant and equipment and right of use
assets have been impaired to individual fair value less costs of disposal. Any allocation of CGU impairment should not
reduce the osset below its individual fair value less costs of disposal. As a result, any additional impairment would only be
recognised if there was a reduction in the individual fair value less costs of disposal of the individual assets.

The fair value less costs of disposal could change depending on valuations provided by two external and independent
aircroft valuers (AVAC and AVITAS), changes in AUD/USD exchange rates, or changes in the level of maintenance life
remaining on the aircraft other than already accounted for threugh depreciation.
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24  IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS AND RELATED COSTS (CONTINUED)
(8] CARRYING VALUE GF GOGDWILL AND INDEFINITE LIVED INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The following CGUs have goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives as follows:

2023 2022
$M M
Goodwill
Qantas Domestic CGU 14 14
Qantas Loyaity CGU} 68 12
TripADeol CGU! ' 48 - 104
Qantas Freight CGU 439 49
Jetstar Australia/New Zealand CGU 91 91
Total goodwill 270 270
Other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
TripADeal CGU? 32 T 40
Qantas International CGU 35 } 35
Total other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives 67 75

1 Goodwill arising from the acquisition of TAD Holdco Pty Limited (TripADeal] in financiol year 2021/22 hos been allocated between Qantos Loyalty CGU and TripADeal CGU in financial
year 2022/23 due ta the finalisation of the purchose price allacation.

2 Otherintongible assets with indefinite useful lives ollocated to the TripADeal CGU decreosed by ($8) million due to the finalisotion of the purchase price allecation refating to the
acquisition of TripADeal.

(C) RESULTS OF THE GROUP'S IMPAIRMENT TEST
i CGU Impairments
No impairment or impairment reversal was recognised in any of the Group’s CGUs during the year ended 30 June 2023 (2022: nil).

iii. Other impairments and/or Reversals of Impairment

Investments accounted for under the equity method
No impairment or impairment reversal was recognised in relation to the Group's investments accounted for under the equity method during

the year ended 30 June 2023 (2022: ($1) million).

Assets clossified as held for sale

The Group recognised a net impairment of $1 million in relation to aircraft on transfer to assets held for sale at 30 June 2023

(2022: $38 million). The impairment primarily relates to aircraft being retired as part of the Group's fleet replacement strategy of which
$17 million was recognised in property, plant and equipment, partially offset by a $16 million impairment reversal in assets held for sale.
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25  SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Group provides benefits to Executives of the Group in the form of share-based payments, whereby Executives render services in
exchange for Rights over shares. Additionally, the Recavery Retention Plan was announced in the second half of the 2021/22 financial year
and includes share-based poyments to eligible employees (both non-executive and executive). The total equity-settled share-based payment
expense for the year was $188 million (2022: $63 million]. Further details regarding the operation of equity plans are outlined in the
Remuneration Report from pages 30 to 60.

(A) LONG TERM INCENTIVE PLAN (LTIP)

Generally, participation in the LTIP is limited to Senior Executives of the Qantas Group in key roles or other participants whao have been
identified as high potentiol Executives. All Rights are redeemable on a one-for-one basis for Qantas shares, subject to the achievement of
performance hurdles. Dividends are not payable on Rights. For more information on the operation of the LTIP, see pages 47 to 49.

2023 2022
. [ Number of Number of
Performance Rights Reconciliation Rights Rights

Rights outstanding as at 1 July 18,262,972 16,568,569
Rights granted during the year l 4,273,500 4,250,500
Rights forfeited during the year I (380,758) (871,097)
Rights vested and converted to shares during the year (1143,343) (827,568)
Rights lopsed during the year | (1,149,491) (857,432)
Rights outstanding as at 30 June | 19,862,880 18,262,972
Rights exercisable as at 30 June | - -
The Rights outstanding as at 30 June 2023 included 9,559,480 Rights under the 2021-2023 LTIP. 9,399,949 Rights vested and converted to
shares and 159.531 Rights forfeited following the testing of performance hurdles as at 30 June 2023 and after applying service conditions
and the Board's approval of the 2021-2023 LTIP vesting outcome on 23 August 2023. The shares awarded to Executive Management upan
vesting of the LTIP remain subject to on additional one-year trading restriction.

The Rights outstanding as at 30 June 2023 included 687,000 Rights under the 2018-2020 LTIP, 651,000 Rights under the 2019-2021 LTIP and
743,000 Rights under the 2020-2022 LTIP relating to the CEQ (Mr Joyce). As noted in the Remuneration Report on page 38, after agreeing in
previous years to defer the decision of vesting Rights awarded under these plans, the CEQ (Mr Joyce) elected to convert these Rights to shares
in August 2023. The following Rights vested and converted to shares 343,500 (2018-2020 LTIP), 325,500 (2019-2021 LTIP) and 371,500
(2020-2022 LTIP) and the following Rights lapsed 343,500 (2018-2020 LTIP), 325.500 {2019-2021 LTIP) and 371,500 (2020-2022 LTIP]} in

August 2023.

The Rights outstanding as ot 30 June 2022 included 3,035,834 Rights under the 2020-2022 LTIP. 1,143,343 Rights vested and converted to
shares and 1,149,491 Rights lapsed following the testing of performance hurdles as at 30 June 2022 and after applying service conditions
and the Baard’s approval of the 2020-2022 LTIP vesting outcome on 24 August 2022 (743,000 Rights under the 2020-2022 LTIP in relation to
the CEQ (Mr Joyce) remained unvested). The shares awarded to Executive Management upon vesting of the LTIP remain subject to an
additional one-year trading restriction. The Rights outstanding at 30 June 2022 also included 651,000 Rights under the 2019-2021 LTIP and
687,000 Rights under the 2018-2020 LTIP in relation to the CEQ [Mr Joyce) which remained unvested.

i Fair Value Calculation

The estimated value of Rights granted was determined at grant date using o Monte Carlo madel. The weighted average fair value of Rights
granted during the year was $4.24 (2022: $3.89).

2023 2022
Inputs into the Models 4 November 2022 17 September 2021 5 November 2021
Rights granted I T 4,273.500 - 3,389,500 861,000
Closing share price ’ $5.97 ) $5.53 $5.62
Expected volatility 30.0% 30.0% 30.0%
Dividend yield 2.4% 11% 11%
Risk-free interest rate 3.4% 0.2% 0.3%

The expected volatility was determined having regard to the histarical volatility of Qantas shares and the implied volatility on exchange traded
aptions. The risk-free rate was the yield on an Australian Government Bond at the grant date matching the remaining useful lives of the plans.
The yield is converted into a continuously compounded rate in the madel. The expected life assumes immediate exercise after vesting.

(B) SHORT TERM INCENTIVE PLAN (STIP)

For details on the operation of the STIP see pages 45 to 47. There were nil awards of Qantas shares made during the year ended 30 June 2023
(2022: nil).

During the 2022/23 financial yeor, share-based payment expense in relation to the STIP was recognised but no deferred shares were
awarded.
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25  SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
(C) MANAGER INCENTIVE PLAN (MIP)

The MIP is the annual incentive plan for the broader Management group. Each year, to the extent that the plan’s performance conditions are
achieved, this group may receive an award that is a combination of cash and restricted shares. The Scarecard perfarmance autcomes are the
same as those for STIP. For the Scorecard performance outcomes, refer to the details of the operation of the STIP on pages pages 45 to 47.
The CEQ retains discretion over any awards made under the MIP. There were nil awards of Qantas shares made during the year ended 30 June
2023 (2022: nil).

During the 2022/23 financial year, share-based payment expense in relation to the MIP was recognised but no deferred shares were owarded.
(D) RECOVERY RETENTION PLAN (RRP)

The Recovery and Retention Plan was announced in the second half of the 2021/22 financial year and includes a grant of Rights 1o eligible
employees (both non-executive and executive) subject to both performance and service canditions. All Rights are redeemable on a one-for-
one basis for Qantas shares, subject ta the achievement of performance hurdles. Dividends are not payable on Rights. For mare information
on the operation of the RRP, see pages 49 ta 50.

2023 2022
Performance Rights Recanciliation Number of Rights Number of Rights
Rights outstanding as at 1 July 42,931,072 -
Rights granted during the year 1,518,750 42,931,072
Rights forfeited during the year (2,274,418) -
Rights outstanding as at 30 June | 42,175,404 42,931,072
Rights exercisable as at 30 June ! -] -

Subsequent to 30 June 2023, 41,723,150 Rights vested and converted to shares, and 452,254 Rights forfeited following the testing of
performance hurdles as at 30 June 2023 and after applying service conditions and the Board's approval of the vesting outcome on
23 August 2023.

i. Fair Value Calculation

The estimated volue of Rights granted was determined at grant date using o simplification of the Black-Scholes aption pricing formula. The
weighted average fair value of Rights granted during the year was $5.92 (2022: $4.98).

2023 2022
Inputs into the Models ‘ ’ 4 November 2022 28 Februory 2022
Rights granted 1,518,750 | 42,831,072
Weighted average share value $5.96 $5.04
Dividend yield ) 0.9% 0.9%
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26  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(A) RISKS

The Qantas Group is subject ta financial risks, which are an inherent part of the operations of an airline. The Qantas Group manages these risk
exposures using various financial instruments and governed by a set of policies approved by the Board. The Qantas Group's paolicy is not to
enter into, issue or hold derivative financial instruments for speculative trading purposes.

The Qantas Group uses different methads to assess and manage different types of financial risk to which it is exposed. These methods
include correlations between risk types, sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate, foreign exchange and other price risks, and ageing
analysis and sensitivity analysis for liquidity and credit risk. A summary of these risks has been presented below:

Risk Nature of Risk Management of Risk
Liquidity risk Difficulty in meeting financial Imb|l|ty Remaining within optimal capital structure, targeting @ minimum liquidity
obligations. level, ensuring long-term commitments are managed, maintaining access to a
variety of additional funding sources and managing maturity profiles.
Interest rate Fluctuations in the fair value or future Flooting versus fixed rate debt framework, interest rate swaps, forward rate
risk cash flows of a financial instrument  agreements and options.
becouse of changes in market interest
rates.
Fareign exchange  Fluctuations in the fair value of future Forward foreign exchange contracts, currency options, cross-currency swaps
risk cash flows or assets/liabilities and designation of non-derivative foreign currency liabilities in a cash flow

denominated in a currency other than hedge relationship.
AUD because of changes in foreign
exchange rates.
Fuel price risk Exposure of future AUD fuel to USD price - optiens and swaps an jet kerosene, gasail and crude ail.

unfavourable USD-dgnommuted price Foreign exchur;ge risk - foreign exchange contracts and currency options.
movements and fareign exchange

movements.

Credit risk Patential loss from a transaction Trade debtor counterparties - use of Internationol Air Transport Association
in the event of a default by a (IATA) clearing mechanism which undertakes its own credit review of
counterparty during the term or members, and stringent credit palicies where the Group provides credit to
on settlement of a transaction. customers directly.

Other financial asset counterparties - transact only with counterparties that
have acceptable credit ratings and counterparty limits.

i, Liquidity Risk

Noture of the risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its financial liabilities.

Liquidity risk management

The Qantas Group manages liquidity risk by targeting a minimum liquidity level, ensuring long-term commitments are monaged with respect
to forecast available cash inflows, maintaining access to a variety of additional funding sources, including commercial paper and standby
facilities, managing moturity profiles and maintaining an unencumbered pool of assets. Qantas may from time to time seek to purchase and
retire outstanding debt through cash purchases in open market transactions, privately negatiated transactions or otherwise. Any such
repurchases would depend on prevailing market conditions, liquidity requirements and possibly ather factors.

The Qontas Group has maintained a prudent liquidity policy during the 2022/23 financial year, ensuring adequate caverage of liquidity
requirements while considering a range of adverse scenarios. As at 30 June 2023, the Group's total sources of liquidity were greater than $10
billion, including $3.2 billion of cash and cash equivalents, $1.2 billion in committed undrawn facilities and an unencumbered asset base
greater than §5.6 billion, including 62 per cent of the Group's fleet, spore engines and other assets.
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26  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(A)  RISKS (CONTINUED)
i Liquidity Risk (continued)

The following table summarises the contractual timing of cash flows, including estimated interest payments, of financial lighilities and
derivative instruments. The contractual amount assumes current interest rates and foreign exchange rates. The amounts disclosed in the
table are undiscounted. '

2023 Less Than More Than

$M 1Year 2t03 Years 4105 Years 5 Years Total
Financial liabilities

Payables 2,732 - - - 2,732
Lease liabilitics’ 581 507 307 472 1,867
Bank loans - secured? 276 536 447 558 1,817
Bank lodans - unsecured’ 23 45 | . 45 445 558
Otteer loding - secured? . 412 432 244 523 1,611
Other loans - unsecured? 322 133 4 ) 1461 2327
Net ather financiol assets/liabilities - outflows/(inflows)? (93} 314 - - 221
Total financial liahilities | 4,253 1,967 1,454 3,459 11,133 f
2022 Less Than More Than

$M 1Year 2t03 Years 4105 Years 5 Yeors Total
Financial liabilities

Payables 2,474 - - - 2474
Leose liabilities® 419 496 232. 488 1,635
Bank loans - secured? 363 600 394 466 1,823
Bank loans - unsecured? 10 459 - - 469
Other loans - secured? 424 443 414 937 2,218
Other loans - unsecured? 8l 393 430 1572 2,476
Net other financiol assets/liabilities - outflows/(inflows)® (556) (62) 281 - (337)
Total financial liabilities 3,215 2,329 1,751 3,463 10,758

1 This represents the Group's contractual undiscounted cash flows relating to leases at 30 June 2023.
2 Recognised financiol liability moturity values are shown pre-hedging.
3 Excluding equity investments but includes the put option lighility.

ii. Interest Rate Risk

Nature of the risk

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. The Qantas Group has exposure to movements in interest rates arising from its portfolio of interest rate sensitive assets and
liabilities, which are predominantly in AUD and USD currencies. These principally include corporate debt, leases and cash.

Management of interest rate risk

The Qantas Greup manages interest rate risk by using a floating versus fixed rate debt framewark. The relative mix of fixed and floating
interest rate funding is managed by using interest rate swaps, forward rate agreements and options. As at 30 June 2023, interest-bearing
liabilities amounted to $5,169 million (2022: $5,960 million). The fixed/floating split is 52 per cent and 48 per cent respectively (2022: 48 per
cent and 52 per cent). As noted in Note 23(C), the Group manages its exposure to interest rate risk with reference to the Group’s Financial
Framework where the fixed/floating rotio is measured against Net Debt. The Group’s Net Debt is a non-statutory measure and includes on
balance sheet debt, cash and capitalised aircraft lease liabilities. The ratio of fixed/floating on Net Debt is 100 per cent and nil per cent
respectively, which assumes cash is treated os floating (2022: 91 per cent and 9 per cent). As at 30 June 2023, other financial assets and
liabilities including derivative financial instruments relating to debt obligatians and future interest payments were nil {2022: nil). These are
recagnised at fair value.
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26  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(A)  RISKS (CONTINUED)

iii. Interest Rate Risk (continued)

Sensitivity to interest rate risk

Profit/(Loss) Befare Tax Equity (Before Tox)!
$M 2023 2022 2023 2022
100bps increase in interest rates®? !
Variable rate interest-bearing instruments (net of cash) 3 (2) - -
100bps decrease in interest rates®’
Variable rate interest-bearing instruments (net of cash) (@ 2 I - -

1 Equity [Before Tox) does not include sensitivity recognised in Profit/{Loss) Before Tox.

2 Sensitivity analysis of financicl instruments assume hedge designotions as at 30 June 2023 remoin unchanged.

3 Sensitivity onalysis excludes impaoct of discount rate movements on provisions.

Under AASB 16, interest rate movements on lease liabilities are treated as madifications ageinst the corresponding right of use asset and
lease liability. As such, there is no immediate impact to the Consolidated Income Statement or Other Camprehensive Income and as a result,

interest rate movements on lease liabilities are not included as an interest rate sensitivity.
ili.  Foreign Exchange Risk

Nature of the risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a currency that is not
the functional currency of the Group. The Group operates internationaily and is exposed to fareign exchange risk, primarily the US dollar. The
source and nature of this risk arises from operations, capital expenditure and revaluation risk. The revaluation risk primarily exists in interest-
bearing liobilities, lease liobilities and other financial assets and liabilities. The Group hedges foreign exchange risk with the abjective of
minimising volatility of the Australian currency cost of highly probable forecast purchases and disposals of property, plant and equipment
and other revenue ond operating expenditures.

Management of foreign exchange risk )
Forward foreign exchange contracts and currency options are used to hedge a portion of net foreign currency exposures in accardance with
Qantas Group policy. Net foreign currency exposures, including foreign currency purchases and disposals of praperty, plant and equipment,
may be hedged out to two years within specific parameters. Any hedging outside these parameters requires approval by the Board. For the
year ended 30 June 2023, other financial assets and liabilities, including derivative financial instruments relating to the hedging of future
capital expenditure, totalled $15 million (net asset) (2022: $31 million (net asset])) and those relating to the hedging of future aperating
expenditure payments were nil (2022: nil). These are recognised at fair value.

Non-derivative financial liabilities including interest-bearing liabilities and lease liabilities are designated in a cash flow hedge relationship to
hedge forecast fareign currency revenue. These interest-bearing liabilities and lease liabilities have a maturity between one and 13 years. To
the extent o foreign exchange gain or lass is incurred, and the cash flow hedge is deemed effective, this is deferred until the revenue is
realised. As at 30 June-2023, total unrealised foreign exchange losses on hedges of revenue designated to nan-derivative financial liabilities
was $3 million (2022: $2 million gains).

Sensitivity to foreign exchange risk

Profit Before Tax Equity (Before Tox)!
$M 2023 2022 2023 2022
20% movement in foreign exchange risk®®
20% {2022: 20%) USD depreciation - - (71) (167)
20% (2022: 20%) USD oppreciation - - 177 278

1 Equity (Before Tax) does not include sensitivity recognised in Profit/(Loss) Before Tax.
2 Sensitivity analysis assumes hedge designations as of 30 June 2023 remain unchanged. Sensitivity analysis on foreign currency pairs of 20 per cent represent reasonable volatility in

market conditions.
3 Sensitivity analysis of financial instruments include foreign currency interest-bearing liobilities and derivatives designated in o hedge relotianship.

95



QANTAS ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Notes to the Financial Statements contines

For the year ended 30 June 2023

26  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(A)  RISKS (CONTINUED)

iv.  Fuel Price Risk

Naoture of the risk
Exposure of future AUD fuel costs to unfavourable USD-denominated price and foreign exchange movements.

Management of future AUD fuel costs risk

The Qantas Group uses aptions and swaps on jet kerasene, gasoil and crude oil to hedge exposure to movements in the USD price of aviation
fuel. The Group considers the crude companent to be a separately identifiable and measurable component of aviation fuel. In identifying this
component, the Group considers long-term correlation levels between crude hedging products and underlying jet fuel exposure. The foreign
exchange risk in the total fuel cost is separately hedged using foreign exchange contracts and currency options. Hedging is conducted in
accordance with Qantas Group policy. Fuel consumption out to two years may be hedged within specific parameters, with any hedging outside
these parameters requiring approval by the Baard. For the year ended 30 June 2023, other financial assets and liobilities included fuel and
foreign exchange derivatives totalling $97 million (net asset) (2022: $587 million {net asset)). These are recognised ot fair value.

Sensitivity to foreign exchange and fuel price risk

Profit Befare Tax Equity (Before Tax)!
$M 2023 2022 2023 2022
20% movement in AUD fuel costs®
20% (2022: 20%) USD depreciation, 20% (2022: 20%) increase per barrel - - 31 271
in fuel indices
20% (2022: 20%) USD appreciation, 20% (2022: 20%) decrease per barrel - - 248 (35)
in fuel indices

1 Equity (Before Tox) daes not include sensitivity recognised in Profit/(Loss) Before Tax.
2 Sensitivity analysis of financial instruments assume hedge designations as at 30 June 2023 remain unchanged. Sensitivity anclysis on foreign currency poirs and fuel indices of 20
per cent represents reasonoble volatility in market conditions. Sensitivity analysis assumes an offset between USD and fuel price indices based on observed market movements.

V. Credit Risk

Noture of the risk

Credit risk is the potential loss from a transaction in the event of default by the counterparty during the term of the transaction or on
settlement of the transaction. The Group has credit exposure in respect of trade receivables and other financial instruments in the ordinary
course of business. The moximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying value of financial assets.

Management of credit risk
The Qantas Group conducts transactions with the following major types of counterparties:

- Trade debtor counterparties: The credit risk is the recognised amount, net of any impairment losses. As at 30 June 2023, trade debtors
amounted to $875 million (2022: $988 million). The Qantas Group has credit risk associated with travel agents, codeshare paortners,
industry settlement organisations, and credit provided to direct customers, such as large airline, loyalty and freight corporate customers. A
significant proportion of receivables is settled through the IATA clearing mechanism which undertakes its own credit review of members.
The Qantas Group minimises this credit risk through the application of stringent credit policies and accreditation of travel agents through
industry pragrams

- Other financial osset counterparties: The Qantas Group restricts its dealings to counterparties that have acceptable credit ratings. Should
the rating of a counterparty fall below certain levels, internol policy dictates that approval by the Board is required to maintain the level of
the counterparty exposure. Alternatively, Manogement may consider clasing out pasitions with the counterparty or novate open positions
to another counterparty with acceptable credit ratings.

The Qantas Group minimises the concentration of credit risk by undertaking transactions with a large number of customers and
counterparties in various countries in accordance with Board-approved policy. As at 30 June 2023, the credit risk of the Qantas Group to
counterparties in relation to other financiol assets, cash and cash equivalents, and other financial liabilities amounted t0 $3,368 million
(2022: $3,981 million). Refer to Note 26(C) for offsetting disclosures of contractual arrangements. The Qantas Group's credit exposure in
relation to these assets is with counterparties that have a minimum credit rating of A-/A3, unless individually approved by the Boord.
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(B) FAIRVALUE

The fair value of cash, cash equivalents and non-interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities approximates their carrying value due to their
shart maturity. The fair value of financial assets and licbilities is determined by valuing them at the present value of future contracted cash
flows. The fair value of forward foreign exchange and fuel contracts is determined as the unrealised gain/loss at balance dote by reference to
market exchange rates and fuel prices. The fair value of interest rate swaps is determined as the present value of future cantracted cash
flows. Cash flows are discounted using standard voluation techniques at the applicable market yield, having regard to the timing of the cash
flows. The fair value of options is determined using standard valuation techniques. Gther financial assets and ligbilities represent the fair
value of investments, put option liability and derivative financial instruments recognised on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Reféer to Note
35(C]) for a definition of the fair value hierarchy.

June 2023 June 2022
Carrying Amount Held at Carrying Amount Held ot
Fair Value Fair Value Fair Value Fair Value
Through Through Other Through Through Other .

Profitand Comprehensive  Amortised Profitand Comprehensive Amortised
$M Loss income’ Cost Fair Value Loss Income® Cost Fair Value
Cash and cash equivalents - - 3171 3180 - - 3,343 3,345
Receivables - - 1,051 1,051 - - 1107 1107
Other financial assets' 194 101 78 373 707 115 18 840
Financial assets i 194 101 4,300 4,604 707 115 4,468 5,292
Payables - - 2,732 2,732 - - 2,474 2,474
Interest-bearing liabilities® - - 5,169 5,311 - - 5,960 6,160
Other financial liabilities® 82 280 - 362 89 224 - 313
Financial liabilities i 82 280 7,901 8,405 [ 89 224 8,434 8,947

1 Other financiol assets and liabilities represents the fair value of equity investments, the put option liobility ond derivotive financiol instruments recognised on the Consolidoted
Balance Sheet. Derivative financial instruments hove been measured at fair value using Level 2 inputs in estimating their fair values. Equity instruments have heen meosured at fair
value using Level 1 or Level 2 inputs in estimating their fair value. The put optian liability is measured at the present value of the forecast amount expected to be poid under the put
option calculotion, using Level 3 inputs. Subsequent movements are recagnised within the put option reserve.

The fair value of interest-bearing liobilities used level 2 inputs to calculate the present value of outstonding contractuol cash flows discounted using market curves.
As ot 30 June 2023, $92 million of the $101 million [2022: $113 million of the $115 million) of other financiol ossels relote 1o the Group's investment in Allionce Airlines Limited
(ASX: AQZ). which has been accounted for as on investment held ot fair value through other comprehensive income under AASB 9.

wn

During the year, the Group recognised fair value changes in relation to listed and unlisted equity investments, net of taxin other
comprehensive income of ($12) million loss (2022; ($22) million loss). The Group recognised fair value changes, net of tax of ($15) million loss
(2022: ($22) million loss) in respect of listed equity investment using Level 1 inputs. The Group recognised fair value changes, net of tax of

nil (2022: nil) in respect of unlisted equity investments using Level 2 inputs. The Group recognised fair value changes, net of tax of

$3 million gain (2022: nil) in respect of unlisted equity investments using Level 3 inputs.

(C) DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING INSTRUMENTS

The following section summarises derivative financial instruments in the Consolidated Financial Statements:

Type of Hedge Description Derivative

Cash flow hedges A derivative or financial instrument to Exchange derivative contracts to hedge future AUD fuel costs and
hedge the exposure to variability in cash fareign currency operational payments (forwards, swaps or options).
flows attributable to a particular risk
associated with an asset, liability or
forecast transaction.

Interest rote derivative contracts to hedge future interest payments
(forwards, swaps or options).

Foreign exchange derivative contracts to hedge future capital
expenditure payments (forwards or options).

The Group's derivative assets and liabilities as at 30 June 2023 are detailed below:

2023 2022

$M Current  Non-current Total Current  Non-current Total
Derivative assets

Designated as cash flow hedges 144 50 194 623 84 707
Total derivative assets i 144 50 194 | 623 84 707
Derivative liabilities

Designated as cash flow hedges {51) (31) (82) (67) (22) (89)
Total derivative liabilities (51) (31) (82) (67) (22) (89)
Net derivative assets 93 19 112 556 62 618
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(C) DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
i. Offsetting

The Group enters into contractual arrangements such as the International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) Master Agreement where,
upon the occurrence of a credit event (such as default), o termination value is calculated and only a single net amount is payable in
settiement of all transactions thot are capable of offset under the terms of the contract. The ISDA agreements do not meet the criteria for
offsetting in the Conselidated Balance Sheet and consequently, financial assets and liabilities are recognised as gross. This is because the
Group does not have any current legally enforceable right to offset recognised amounts, as the right ta offset is enforceable only an the
occurrence of future events. The amounts shown os financial assets and financial liabilities would each have been $81 million lower (2022:
$89 million lower] in the event of the right to offset being currently enforceable.

ii. Hedge Reserve

The effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of derivative financial instruments designated as a cash flow hedge and
the cumulative change in fair value arising from the time value of aptions are included in the hedge reserve. These options relate entirely to
transaction-related hedged items. For further information an accounting for derivative financial instruments as cash flow hedges, refer to
Note 35(C). For the year ended 30 June 2023, ($48) million loss (2022: $340 million gain) is expected to be refeased to the Consolidated
Income Statement within ane year and ($8) million lass (2022: $39 million gain) ofter one yeor. A $6 million gain (2022: $15 million gain} is
expected to be capitalised to assets within one year. Other financial assets and lighilities represent the fair value of derivative financial
instruments recognised on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Refer to Note 35(C} for a definition of the fair value hierarchy.

iii. Hedge Accounting

Nominal c",’?{""g"&“?“"' Chonge in Value of the
Amount of °l '5 e 9"{' ChongeinValueof  ChangeinValueof  Hedging Instrument Amount
Hedging nstrumen the Hedging the Hedged Item Recognised Reclassified
Instrument Instrument Used for  used for Calculating inOther  from the Cosh Flow
and Hedged Hedge Calculating Hedge Hedge Comprehensive Hedge Reserve to
As at Item Rates Assets Liabilities Ineffectiveness Ineffectiveness Income Profit or Loss
30 June 2023 M M M $M M M $M $M
Cash flow
hedges
AUD fuel costs 25 Barrels AuD/ 178 (82) m7) 17 man (348)
(up to 2 yeors) Barrel
104 -160
Revenue 658 USD AUD /USD - (517) . (22) 22 (22) 17
(up t0 13 years) 0.66-0.72
Capital 1591  USD AUD / USD 15 - 26 (26) 26 -
expenditure 0.68-0.70
(up to 2 years)

1 Derivotive cash flow hedging instruments ore lacated within the other finonciol assets and other finoncial liobilities on the Consalidated Bolance Sheet and include costs of hedging.
The carrying amount of the hedging instrument is presented in AUD where the hedged item equals the nominal amount of the hedging instrument.
2 The revenue hedging instrument is o non-derivative financiol lichility with the corrying amount presented in USD ond is locoted within interest-beoring liobilities and lease liobilities.
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27  AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

2023 2022

$'000 $'000
STATUTORY ASSURANCE SERVICES .
Audit and review of Financial Reports 3,860 3,517
Total statutory assurance services ) 3,960 3,517
OTHER ASSURANCE SERVICES
Regulatory assurance services 13 39
Other assurance services 319 161
Total other assurance services 332 200
NON-ASSURANCE SERVICES
Audit-related non-assurance services 5 -
Taxation services 175 175
Other non-assurance services 94 188
Total non-assurance services 274 363
Total auditor's remuneration 4,566 | 4,080
28 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
RECONCILIATION OF STATUTORY PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR TO NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2023 2022

Notes M $M

Statutory profit/(loss) for the year 1,744 (860)
Adjusted for:
Depreciation and amartisation 5 1,762 1.801
Impairment of assets and related costs 7 1 35
Hedging-related activities (149) (118)
Share of net loss of investments accounted for under the equity method 14 44 126
Share-based payments 25 188 63
Net gain on disposal of assets (4) (692}
Discount rate changes impact on provisions (34) (194}
Other items 43 95
Dividends received from investments accounted for under the equity method 14 12 -
Changes in other items:
Receivables (13) (476)
Inventories (58) (14)
Other assets (162) (18]
Payables 271 657
Revenue received in advance 741 2,395
Provisions (28) 201
Deferred tax assets ond tox payable 727 (331)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 5,085 | 2,670
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29  SUPERANNUATION

The Qantas Superannuation Plan (QSP) is o hybrid defined benefit/defined contribution fund with multiple divisions that commenced
aperation in June 1939. In addition to the QSP, there ore other small overseas defined benefit plans. The Qantas Group makes contributions to
defined benefit plans that provide defined benefit amounts for employees upon retirement. Under these plans, emplayees are entitled to
retirement benefits determined, at least in part, by reference to a formula based on years of membership and solary levels.

The defined benefit plans are legally separated from the Qantas Group. Responsibility for governance of the plans, including investment
decisions and plan rules, rests solely with the Trustee of the plan. The Trustee of the QSP is a corporate trustee which has a Board comprising
five company-appointed Directors and five member-elected Birectors.

The QSP’s defined benefit plan exposes the Graup ta a number of risks, the most significant of which are detailed below:

- Investment risk: The investment strategy for the assets attributable to the QSP’s defined benefit liabilities is to progressively de-risk the
defined benefit investment partfalio as the funding position improves over time. If investment returns underperform expectations, the
Group may be required to provide odditional funding to the QSP

- Interest rate risk: Changes in bond vyields, such as a decrease in corporate bond yields, will increase defined benefit liabilities through the
discount rate assumed

- Inflation risk: The defined benefit liabilities are linked to salary inflation, and higher salary inflation will lead to higher liabilities.
(A) FUNDING

Employer contributions to the defined benefit divisions of the QSP are based on recommendations by the QSP’s plan actuary. It is estimated
that $66 million of normal employer contributions will be paid by the Qantas Group to its defined benefit plans in financial year 2023/24.

In addition, the Trustee of the QSP and the Group have in place an Additional Funding Plan (AFP), last agreed in 2023 (as part of the agreed
Defined Benefit Contribution Strategy following the 2022 triennial actuarial valuation of the QSP), which is an evergreen restoration plan and
addresses the requirements of Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA) Prudential Standard SPS 160. The determination of Qantas’
additional employer contributions under the AFP is triggered if the quorterly determination of the Defined Benefit Vested Benefits Index {DB
VBI) indicates that the DB VBI has been below 100 per cent for two consecutive quarters, or the value of the DB VBI has follen from a value in
excess of 100 per cent at the previous quarter to a value that is less than 86 per cent. The DB VBl is the ratio of the QSP’s assets attributable
to the defined benefit liabilities to the total defined benefit amount that the QSP would be required to pay if all members were to voluntarily
leave the plan on the funding valuation date. Additional benefit payment top-up contributions may also be payoble if after two consecutive
quarters, the DB Retrenchment Benefits Index (DB RBI) is less than 100 per cent and retrenchments occur that place a greater than V8I level
of funding strain on the Plan assets. The DB RBI is the ratio of the QSP’s assets attributable to the defined benefit liabilities to the total defined
benefit component of retrenchment benefits in respect of DB members. The last additional contribution required under the AFP was paid inta
the QSP by the Group in December 2016. The QSP’s financial pasition is monitored by the Trustee each quarter.

(B) MOVEMENT IN NET DEFINED BENEFIT (ASSET)/LIABILITY

Present Value of Fair Value of Plan Net Defined Benefit
Obligation Assets (Asset)/Liability!
$M $M $M

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Balance as at 1 July | 1405f 1762 | (1,944)] (2.079) | (538)} (317)
Included in the Consolidated Income Statement
Current service cost 76 88 - - 76 88
Interest expense/(income]} 78 52 {99) (59) (21) (7
Contributions by plon porticipants - - (19) (19) (19) (19)
Total amount included in salaries, wages and other benefits | 154 140 (118) (78) 36 62
Included in the Consclidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Return on plan assets, excluding interest income - - 10 70 10 70
Losses from change in demographic ossumptions 42 - - - ) 42 -
Losses/(gains] from change in financiol assumptions 46 (398) - - 46 (398)
Experience losses 51 37 - - 51 37
Exchange differences an foreign plans ! . 5 Bl L . (8] 4 (1) 1
Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income . 144 (364) | . 4} 74 | 148) (290)
Contributions by employer - - (41) (4) ], - (81 (4)
Benefit payments (137) (151) 137 151 - -
Other movements . m 18 (2) (8 . .@) 10
Balance as at 30 June | 1565 1405 | (1964)| (1.944) | (399)] (539)

1 The net defined benefit asset is included in non-current other assets (refer to Note 19).
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29  SUPERANNUATION (CONTINUED)
(C) PLANASSETS
The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets of the Group's defined benefit plans are as follows:

2023 2022
% %
Australian equity™? 1 10
Global equity
- United States 9 9
- Europe 1 1
- Jaopan 1 1
- Other 5 4
Private equity 8 6
Fixed interest*
- Government bonds 9 17
- Other 30 32
Hedge funds 2 1
Property and infrastructure ' 2 4
Agriculture 5 6
Timberland - 2
Insurance policies 4 2
Cash and cash equivalents® . 13 5
Total ' ! 100 | 100

1 The majority of these plan assets have a quoted morket price in an active market.
2 As ot 30 June 2023, QSP assets in shares of Qantos Airwoys Limited (ASX:QAN) are $968,465 (2022: $747,767).

The Trustee of the QSP is responsible for setting the investment strategy and objectives for the QSP’s assets to support the defined benefit
liabilities. The QSP does not use any asset-liability matching strategies. It utilises traditional investment management techniques to manage

the defined benefit assets.
(D)  ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS AND SENSITIVITY

The significant actuarial assumptions (expressed as weighted overages per annum} were as follows:

2023 2022

% %

Discount rate 5.6 53
Long-term future salary increase’ 3.0 2.0

1 For the 30 June 2023 actuarial calculotion, specific increase rates were assumed for years 110 S, averaging 2.6 per cent and then 3 per cent for the remaining duration of the plen
{30 June 2022: solary increases averaging 1.8 per cent for years 1 to S and 2 per cent for the remaining duration of the plan were ossumed].

The weighted average duration of the QSP’s defined benefit obligation as at 30 June 2023 was nine years (2022: nine years). The sensitivity of
the defined benefit abligation to changes in the significant assumption is as follows:

Impact on Defined Benefit Obligation

30 June 2023 30 June 2022
Changein Increasein Decrease in Increase in Decreasein
Assumption Assumption Assumption Assumption Assumption
Discount rate 1% Decrease by 9.8% Increase by 11.4% Decreose by 9.5% increase by 12.8%
Future salary increase 1% Increase by 4.8% Decrease by 4.4% Increase by 5.8% Decrease by 3.8%

Defined Contribution Fund
A defined contribution expense of $199 million has been recognised for the year ended 30 June 2023 (2022: $153 million).
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30 DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE

Pursuant o ASIC Corporatians (Whally-owned Companies) Instrument 2016/785 (Instrument], the wholly-owned entities identified below are
relieved from the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth] requirements for preparation, audit, distribution and lodgement of Financial Statements and
Directors’ Reports:

AAL Aviation Limited National Jet Operations Services Pty Ltd  Qantas Ground Services Pty Ltd

JAirlink Pty Ltd Network Aviation Holdings Pty Ltd Qantas Group Flight Training (Australia) Pty Ltd |
Australion Air Express Pty Ltd Network Aviation Pty Ltd Qantas Group Flight Training Pty Ltd

!australian Airlines Limited Network Holding Investments Pty Ltd Qantas Information Technology Limited J
Australion Regional Airlines Pty Ltd Network Turbine Solutions Pty Ltd Qontas Road Express Pty Ltd

|Eastern Australia Airlines Pty Ltd Osnet Jets Pty Ltd Qantas Ventures Pty Limited |
Express Freighters Australia (Operations) Pty Ltd Q H Tours Limited Qantas Wheatbelt Connect Pty Limited

|Express Freighters Australia Pty Ltd Qantos Asia Investment Company Pty Ltd QF Cabin Crew Australia Pty Ltd |
Impulse Airlines Holdings Pty Ltd Qantas Courier Limited Regional Airlines Charter Pty Ltd

YJetstar Airways Pty Ltd i . Qantas Domestic Pty Ltd Sunstate Airlines (Qld) Pty Ltd |
Jetstar Asia Holdings Pty Ltd Qantas Freight Enterprises Limited The Network Holding Trust

!Jetstar Group Pty Ltd Qontas Frequent Flyer Limited The Network Trust |
Jetstar Services Pty Ltd Qantas Frequent Flyer Operations Pty Ltd  Vii Pty Limited

|National Jet Systems Pty Ltd Qantas Group Accommaodation Pty Ltd |

It is o condition of the Instrument that Qantas and each of the controlled entities eligible to obtain relief under the Instrument enter into o
Deed of Cross Guarantee (Deed). Under the Deed, Qantas guarantees to each creditor poyment in full of any debt upon the winding up under
certain provisions of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) of any of the controlled entities that are party to the Deed. If the winding up occurs under
other provisions of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), Qantas will only be liable if, six months after a resolution or order for the winding up of the
controlled entity, any debt of a creditor of that controlled entity has not been paid in full. Each controlled entity that is party ta the Deed has
given similar guarantees in the event that Qantas is wound up.

Qantas and its eligible controlled entities first entered into a Deed on 4 June 2001. Subsequently, additional controlled entities became party
1o the Deed by way of Assumption Deeds dated 17 June 2002, 26 June 2006, 29 June 2007, 30 June 2008, 29 June 2009, 16 June 2010,

25 November 2010, 4 April 2011, 13 October 2011, 20 November 2012, 26 November 2015, 26 June 2017, 2 November 2017, 31 July 2020 and
14 March 2023.

The Consolidated Condensed Income Statement and Consolidated Condensed Balance Sheet for Qantas and each of its controlled entities
that are party to the Deed are set out below. The principles of consalidation are:

- Transactions (including dividends), balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between entities that are party to the Deed
are eliminated

- Investments in contralled entities that are not party to the Deed are carried at cost less any accumulated impairment
- Dividends received from controlled entities that are not party to the Deed are recognised as income.
(A] Consolidated Condensed Income Statement for the Year Ended 30 June 2023

2023 2022

T O8M $M

Revenue and other income 19,348 8,978
Expenditure I (16,614} (9.675)
Impairment of assets and related costs (6) (210)
Statutory profit/(loss) befare income tax (expense)/benefit and net finance costs i 2,728 ] (907)
Finance income I ' 130 14
Finance costs (342) (311)
Net finance costs i (212) | (297)
Statutory profit/(loss) before income tax (expense)/benefit i 2,516 | (1,204)
Income tax (expense)/benefit ] (729) | 341
Statutory profit/(loss) for the year | 1,787 (863)
Accumulated losses as at 1 July (4.087) (3.220)
Transfer of accumulated fair value losses ta accumulated losses l - (6)
Shares vested and transferred to employees/Rights unvested and lapsed 3 2
Accumulated losses as at 30 June ] (2,297) | (4,087)
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30 DEEDOF CROSS GUARANTEE (CONTINUED)

i. Consolidated Condensed Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2023

2023 2022
$M $M

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 3,090 3.214
Receivables 1,600 1,757
Other financiol assets 144 623
Inventories 290 269
Assets classified as held for sale 38 1
Other 243 240
Total current assets 5,405 6,104
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Receivables 87 259
Other finoncial assets 151 199
Investments in subsidiaries 117 117
Investments accounted for under the equity method 22 55
Property, plant and equipment 11,828 10,213
Right of use assets 1294 944
Intangible assets 527 617
Deferred tox assets 373 867
Other 810 920
Total non-current assets 15,208 14,191
Total assets 20,614 | 20,295
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables 3,406 3,168
Revenue received in advance 6,448 5,712
Interest-bearing liabilities 724 769
Lease liabilities 578 382
Other financial liabilities 51 67
Provisions 1,192 994
Total current liabilities 12,398 11,092
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Revenue received in advance 1,996 2,066
Interest-bearing liabilities 4,400 5,505
Lease ligbilities 976 888
Other financial liabilities 311 246
Pravisions 552 776
Total non-current liabilities 8,235 | 9,481
Total liabilities 20,634 20,573
Net assets (20} (278}
EQUITY
Issued capital 2,186 3,186
Treasury shares (106) (8)
Reserves 197 631
Accumuloted losses (2.297) (4,087)
Total equity (20) (278)

ii.  Net Asset Position of Deed of Cross Guarantee (Deed)
The Deed’s net asset position of ($20) million at 30 June 2023 (2022: ($278) million) is a direct result of the losses incurred since the

outbreak of COVID-19. The negative net asset positian does not impact the ability of the parties to the Deed to pay its debts as and when they

become due and payable.
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31  RELATED PARTIES
(A) REMUNERATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

The aggregate remuneration of the KMP of the Qantas Group is set out below:

2023 2022

$'000 $'000

Short-term employee benefits I 12,798 8,323
Post-employment benefits! 681 | 577
Other long-term benefits? l 59 7
Share-based payments 15,453 7,439
| 28,9911 16,410

1 Post-employment benefits include superannuation and post-employment travel benefits.
2 Other tang-term benefits include movements in annuol leave and long service leave bolances. The accounting value of ather long-term benefits may be negative, for example, where
an Executive’s onnual leove balance decreoses os a result of taking more annual leave than they accrue during the current year.

Further details in relation to the remuneration of KMP are included in the Remuneration Report.
(B) NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FEE SACRIFICE SHARE ACQUISITION PLAN

Under the Non-Executive Director Fee Sacrifice Share Acquisition Plan, Non-Executive Directors can elect to sacrifice a percentage of their
Board or Board and Committee fees in return for a grant of Rights to the equivalent value of the same number of Qantas ordinary shares.
Each Right granted will convert automatically 1o one fully-paid Qantas ordinory share at the conversion date, which is six months from the
grant dote subject to the individual remaining as a Non-Executive Director on the conversion date. The plon is designed to provide Non-
Executive Directors the apportunity to build their shareholding in o tox effective manner and to further align their interests with the interests
of shareholders.

2023 2022

Number of Number of

Non-Executive Director Fee Sacrifice Share Acquisition Plan - Rights Reconciliation Rights Rights
Rights outstanding as at 1 July " 32505 1 44,025
Rights acquired during the year by fee sacrifice 52,271 , 64,493
Rights converted to ordinary shares during the year (61.117) (76,013)
Rights outstanding as at 30 June | 23,659 | 32,505

(C) OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS - ASSOCIATES
Transactions with associates are conducted on normal terms and conditions.
Transactions between the Qantas Group and associates include:

- The Qantas Group provides airline seats on domestic and international routes to Hellowarld Ltd for sale through its travel agency network.
In the 2022/23 financial year, the Group seld its investment in Hellowarld Travel Ltd (ASX: HLO)

- The Qantas Group has established a business service agreement with o Jetstar-branded airline in Japon (Jetstar Jopan). As part of the
business service agreement, amongst other services, Qantos allows Jetstar Japan's credit card transactions to be acquired through the
Qantas Group’s contractual arrangements

- The Qantas Group co-guarantees the lease obligations, on a limited liability basis, in respect of twa A320 aircraft an beholf of Jetstar
Japan to the external lessors in exchange for guarantee fees to the Qantas Group. The Qantas Group has also provided indemnities to
Japan Airlines for up to 50 per cent of Japan Airlines’ guarantees provided to Jetstar Japan's creditor banks in relation to unsecured bank
loons.
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32  PARENTENTITY DISCLOSURES - QANTAS AIRWAYS LIMITED
(A) CONDENSED INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

2023 2022
$M $M
Revenue and other income 13,300 | 4,670
Expenditure i (10,279) ! (5,411)
Impairment of assets and related costs® (20) (199)
Statutory profit/(loss) before income tax (expense)/benefit and net finance costs ! 3,001 (940)
Net finance costs | (178) (272)
Statutory profit/(loss) befare income tax {expense)/benefit | 2,823 (1,212)
Income tax (expense)/benefit ! (446) 369
Statutory profit/(loss) for the year J 2,377] (843)
1 Revenue and other income included $1,300 million of dividend income from wholly-owned subsidiories of the Qantas Group (2022: nit).
2 Impairment of assets ond related costs includes the impairment of investments in subsidiaries and intercompony loans of $7 milliqn (2022: $174 million).
(B) CONDENSED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023
2023 2022
$M $M
Statutory profit/(loss) for the year 2,317 (843)
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges, net of tax (79} 492
Transfer of effective hedging gains from hedge reserve to the Condensed Income Statement, net of tax (232) (274)
De-designation of fuel and foreign exchange hedges to the Condensed Income Statement, net of tax - (20)
Net changes in hedge reserve for time value of options, net of tax (111) 20
Defined benefit actuarial (losses)/gains, net of tax (103) 203
Foreign currency translation of investments accounted for under the equity method 1 1
Fair value lasses on investments, net of tax (11) (22)
Total other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (535) 400
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year | 1,842 (443)
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32  PARENTENTITY DISCLOSURES ~ QANTAS AIRWAYS LIMITED (CONTINUED)
(C) CONDENSED BALANCE SHEET AS AT 30 JUNE 2023

2023 2022
$M M

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cosh equivalents ’ 2,961 3,212
Receivables . 417 ) 535
Intercompany receivables 7,095 6,596
Other financiol assets . 144 623
Inventories 183 165
Assets classified as held for sale ’ 38 1
Other 217 213
Total current assets [ 11,055} 11,345
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Receivables 47 36
Intercompany receivables 30 215
Investments in subsidiaries 420 420
Other financiol assets 151 199
Investments accounted for under the equity method 22 22
Property, plant and equipment 10,440 8,954
Right of use assets 1,217 306
Intangible assets 331 414
Deferred tax assets 262 727
Other 807 899
Total non-current assets | 13,727 l 12,792
Total assets : | 24,782 | 24,137
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables 1,842 1,652
Intercompany payables 7,070 7176
Revenue received in advance 5,322 4,643
Interest-bearing liabilities 721 769
Lease liabilities : 533 347
Other financial libilities 51 67
Provisions 888 751
Total current liabilities ' j 16,427 | 15,405
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Revenue received in advance 1,980 2,040
Interest-bearing liabilities ) 4,368 5,505
Lease liobilities 917 856
Other financial licbilities 31 22
Provisions . 254 407
Total non-current liabilities | 7.550 8,830
Total liabilities ] 23,977 24,235
Net assets l 805 (98)
EQUITY
Issued capital 2,186 3,186
Treasury shares (108} (8)
Other reserves 32(D}) 476 855
Profit reserves 32(E) 2,377 -
Accumuloted losses (4128) (4131)
Total equity | 805 | (98)
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32  PARENTENTITY DISCLOSURES - QANTAS AIRWAYS LIMITED (CONTINUED)
(D) OTHER RESERVES

2023 2022

$M $M

Employee compensation reserve . 259 8l
Hedging reserves | (50) 394
Defined benefit reserve 278! 381
Fareign currency translation of investments accounted for under the equity method . 1 (2)
Fair value reserve . (10] 1
Total other reserves 476 | 855

(E) DIVIDENDS AND OTHER SHAREHOLDER DISTRIBUTIONS

During the year ended 30 June 2023, Qontas Airways Limited did not declare or pay any dividends. No dividend will be paid in relation ta the
year ended 30 June 2023.

During the year, Qantas Airways Limited reported a Statutory Profit After Tax of $2,377 million, which was set aside in a separote profit
reserve.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, Qantas Airways Limited completed on-market share buy—bocké totalling $1,000 million, which were
announced in August 2022, February 2023 and May 2023. The Group purchased 161.6 million ordinary shares on issue at an average price of
$6.19.

(F)  CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS

The capital expenditure commitments held by the parent entity are the same as those held by the Group as disclosed in Note 15(C).

(G) CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The contingent liabilities held by the parent entity are primarily the same as those held by the Group as disclosed in Note 33.

(H) PARENTENTITY'S RELATIONSHIPS WITH SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSQOCIATES

During the reporting period and previous reporting periods, Qantas Airways Limited was the primary purchaser and owner of aircraft, the
primary source of issuance of external debt and equity, advanced loans tg, received and repaid loans from, and provided treasury, accounting,
legal, taxation and administrative services to other controlled entities within the Group. Entities within the Group also exchanged goods and
services in sale and purchase transactions.

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have been eliminated on
consalidation and are not disclosed in this note.

The parent entity has entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee with the effect that the Company guarantees debts in respect of its subsidiaries.
Further details of the Deed of Cross Guarantee and the subsidiaries subject to the Deed are disclosed in Note 30. The parent entity is also the
head entity of the tax consolidated group (wholly-owned Australion resident entities) and has assumed the current tax liabilities of the
members of the tax consolidated group.

The parent entity’s related party transactions with associates and jointly controlled entities, including in respect to the provision of
guarantees, are primarily the same as those held by the Group, which are disclosed in Note 31(C} and Note 33(A).
(1)  INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

The parent entity has total interest-bearing liobilities of $5,089 million (2022: $6,274 million), of which $139 million (2022: $628 million)
represents secured loans payable ta controlled entities, Of the $4,950 million (2022: $5,646 million) payable te other parties, $2,721 million
(2022: $3,260 million) represents secured bank loans and other secured loans, with the remaining balance representing unsecured loans.

33  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of contingent liabilities are set out below. The Directors are of the oginion that provisions are not required with respect to these
matters, as it is not probable that a future outflow of economic benefits will be required or that the amount is not capable of reliable
measurement.

(A) GUARANTEES

The Qontas Group co-guarantees the lease obligations, on a limited liability basis, in respect of two A320 aircraft on behalf of Jetstar Japan to
the external lessors in exchange for guarantee fees to the Qantas Group. The Qantas Group has also provided indemnities to Japan Airlines for
up to 50 per cent of Japan Airlines’ guarantees provided ta Jetstar Japan’s creditor banks in relation to unsecured bank loans.

As port of the business service agreements, the Qantas Group has extended support to the Jetstar-branded airline in Jopan (Jetstar Japan) by
allowing its credit card transactions to be acquired through the Qantas Group’s contractual arrangements.
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33  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
(A) GUARANTEES (CONTINUED)

Qontas has also entered into guarantees in the normal course of business to secure ¢ Workers’ Compensation self-insuronce licence under
the Sofety, Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1988, the New South Wales Workers' Compensation Act, the Victorian Accident Compensation
Act and the Queensland Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation Act, to suppart non-aircraft leose commitments, and other arrangements
entered into with third parties. Due to specific self-insurance provisions raised, the Directors are of the apinion that the probability of having
to make a payment under these guarantees is remote.

(B) LITIGATION

From time to time Qantas is subject to claims and litigation during the normal course of business. The Directors have given consideration to
such matters, which are or may be subject to litigation at year end and, subject to specific provisions raised, are of the opinion that no
material contingent liability exists. Refer to Note 34 for details of contingent liabilities after 30 June 2023.

34 POST-BALANCE SHEET DATE EVENTS

There has not arisen, in the interval between 30 June 2023 and the date of this report, any event (including the items outlined below) that had
a material impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements as at 30 June 2023.

Announcements after 30 June 2023

0n 24 August 2023, the Directors announced an on-market share buy-back of up to $500 million. Additionally, the Group announced a firm
order of 24 aircraft (12 Airbus A350s and 12 Boeing 787s) arriving from the 2026/27 financial year to progressively replace its existing A330
fleet. The Group also has additional purchase right options ta give flexibility for future growth and ultimately replace its A380 fleet fram
around 2031/32 anwards. These transactions have no financial impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June
2023 and wili be recognised in subsequent financial reporting periods.

On 31 August 2023, the Qantas Group announced that it would remove the expiry date on COVID travel credits that were due to expire on

31 December 2023. Following this decision, Qantas customers with COVID credits can request a cash refund, and Jetstar customers can use
their COVID vouchers for flights, indefinitely. For Qantas customers, ‘COVID travel credits’ refers to Qantas travel credits for baokings up to
ond including 30 September 2021. For Jetstar custamers, a ‘CQVID Voucher’ refers to all Jetstar Airways vouchers that have an expiry date of
31 December 2023 (which will be extended upon request). The change in terms and conditions of COVID travel credits does not impact the
Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2023.

On 5 September 2023, Alan Joyce retired as Managing Director and Qantas Group CEQ. CEQ-Designate Vanessa Hudsan assumed the role of
Managing Director and Group CEQ effective 6 September 2023.

Contingent Liabilities

The following legal proceedings were filed after 30 June 2023 and have no financial impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements for the
year ended 30 June 2023. These are contingent liabilities subject to the uncertain outcome of the legal praceedings which may, or may not,
result in an obligation. The potential financial impact of any possible obligation, if any, is unable to be reliably measured.

0n 21 August 2023, a closs action proceeding was filed in the Federal Court of Australia, with allegations including breaches of the Australian
.Consumer Law in respect of Qantas’ communications with its customers following the COVID-13 outbreak.

On 31 August 2023, the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission (ACCC) commenced proceedings in the Federal Court of Australia
alleging breaches of the Australian Consumer Law in respect of Qantas’ approach to the cancellation of flights scheduled to operate between
May and July 2022. The ACCC is seeking orders including penalties, injunctions, declarations, and casts.

Qutcome of High Court Appeal

0n 13 September 2023, the High Court of Australia dismissed an appeal by Qantas against a decision of the Full Federal Court of Australio
that determined that Qantas had contravened the adverse action provisions of the Fair Work Act in eutsourcing the remainder of Qantas’
ground handling function in 2020. The High Court’s judgement related only to liability, and made no finding as to the financial remedies - i.e.
penalties or compensation - that might follow that liability. The determination of any remedies will now be determined by a single judge of the
Federal Court, and will have regard to matters such as the redundancy payments already made by Qantas. A Case Management hearing in the
Federal Court is scheduled for 20 September 2023, which will set a timetable for the remedies praceedings, which are expected to take
several months ta conclude, before a judgement is issued by the Federal Court. As a first step in that process, the Federal Court is
encouraging, and Qantas has indicated its willingness to participate in, mediation with the claimant. The Group has considered any material
impact of the High Court decision on the best estimate of the provision recognised in the Consalidated Financial Statements for the year
ended 30 June 2023 (refer to Nate 22 Provisions). Given the Federal Court has significant discretion to consider and attach weight ta the
matters that affect any award of compensation and/ar any impasition of penalties, both the quantum and timing of economic outflows is
uncertain and the final outcome moy vary from the amount provided. In line with AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets further information is not disclosed on the grounds that it may significantly prejudice the outcome of the proceedings.
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35 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(A)  PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION
i Controlled Entities

Controlled entities are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group is exposed to or has rights ta variable returns from its
invalvement with the entity and has the ability to affect thase returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of controlled
entities are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which control
ceases.

Qoantas hos controlled entities (subsidiaries) and some are material to the Qantes Group. The parent has majority veting rights in respect of
each of the material subsidiaries. Materiality has been assessed based on the expected long-term contribution of statutory profit to the
Qantas Group. The material subsidiaries are amongst the wholly-owned Australia entities which are included in the Deed of Cross Guarantee in
Note 30.

ii. Non-Controlling Interests

Non-controlling interests are measured initially af their proportionote share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition.
Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of controlled entities are shown separately in the Consolidated Income Statement,
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, Cansolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and Consolidated Balance Sheet.

iii.  Investments Accounted for Under the Equity Method

Jointly controlled entities are those entities in which the Group has joint control (contractually agreed sharing of control], but not control, over
an entity. Joint contral exists when decisions about the relevant activities of the entity require unanimous consent of the Group and the party
or parties sharing control. Interests in jointly controlled entities are accounted for under the equity accounting method when the Group has
rights to the net assets of the the jointly controlled entity (joint venture), rather than rights to it assets and abligations for its liabilities (joint
operation).

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint cantrol, over the financial and operating
policies of an entity. Significant influence is evidenced through, but not limited to, the voting power of the Group, representation on the Board
of Directors and participation in policy-making processes. Interests in associotes.are accounted for under the equity accounting method.

Investments accounted for under the equity accounting method are initially recagnised at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, the Consolidated Financial Statements include the Group's share of prafit or loss and other comprehensive income of
equity accounted investees, until the date on which significant influence or joint control ceases. Dividends received or receivable reduce the
carrying amount of the equity accounted investment.

When the Group's share of total comprehensive losses exceeds the equity accounted carrying value of an associate, the Group’s carrying
amount is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued, except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations to fund an associate’s operations or has made payments on behalf of an associate or jointly controlled entity, which
are recognised within pravisions.

When an associate or jointly controlled entity is disposed of in its entirety or portially such that significant influence or joint control is fost or .
classified as an asset held for sale, the cumulative amount in the foreign currency translation reserve related to that associate or jointly
controlled entity is reclassified to the Consolidated Income Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of only
part of an associate while retaining significant influence, or only part of a jointly controlled entity while retaining joint control, the relevant
proportion of the cumulative amount in the foreign currency translation reserve reloted to that associate or jointly controlled entity is
reclassified to the Consolidated Income Statement.

The carrying amount of equity accounted investments is tested for impairment in accordance with the palicy described in Nate 35(G).

iv.  Transactions Eliminated on Consolidation

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between controlled entities are eliminated in the
Consolidated Financial Statements. Unrealised gains and losses arising from transactions with investments accounted for under the equity
method are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the associate.

V. Business Combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when the acquired set of activities and assets meets the
definition of a business combination ond control is transferred to the Group. In determining whether a particular set of activities and assets is
a business, the Group assesses whether the set of assets and activities acquired includes, at @ minimum, an input and substantive process
and whether the acquired set of assets and activities has the ability to produce outputs.

The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill
that arises is tested annually for impairment. Any gain on bargain purchase is recognised in profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs are
expensed as incurred, except if related ta the issue of debt or equity securities.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such amounts are generally
recognised in the profit or loss.
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35 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(B) FOREIGN CURRENCY
i. Foreign Currency Transactions

Transactions in faoreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of the Group’s companies at the exchange rates at
the date of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are generally recognised in the Conselidated
Income Statement.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate at the
reporting dote. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rote when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items thot ore measured based on historical costina
faoreign currency are translated at the exchange rate af the date of the transactions.

il Fareign Operations

The assets and liabilities and the income and expenditure of foreign operatians that have a functional currency other than AUD are translated
into AUD os follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate of the date of thot balance sheet
- Income and expenses for each income statement and statement of comprehensive income are translated ot average exchange rates

- Allresulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign currency transiation
reserve, except to the extent that the translation difference is allocated to non-cantrolling interests.

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or partially such that conirel, significant influence or joint control is lost or classified as
an asset held for sale, the cumulative amount in the foreign currency translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to the
Consalidated Income Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. If the Group disposes of part of its interests in a subsidiary but retains
control, then the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling interests. When the Group disposes of only
part of an associate or joint venture while retaining significant influence or joint control, the relevant proportian of the cumulative amount is
reclassified to the Consolidated Income Statement.

iii.  Exchange Rates

References to exchange rates are based on International Air Transport Association (IATA) Five Day Rates.
(C)  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Non-Derivative Financial Instruments

i. Recognition, Measurement and Derecognition of Non-Derivative Financial Assets

At initiol recagnition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not ot fair value through profit
or loss, transaction costs related to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through
profit or loss are expensed.

The Group subsequently classifies its finoncial assets in the following measurement categories:

- Those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through the Consalidated Income Statement or the Cansolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income)

- Those to be measured ot amortised cost.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights ta the cash flows from the financial asset expire, are settled or the
Group transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership are transferred.

ii. Recognition, Measurement and Derecognition of Non-Derivative Financial Liabilities
At initial recognition, the Group measures a non-derivative financial liability ot its fair value, less transaction costs.

The Group subsequently measures non-derivative financiol ligbilities at amartised cost, with any difference between cost and redemption
value being recognised in the Consolidoted Income Statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest rate method.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired. The Group also derecognises
o financial ligbility when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new
financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration paid (including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recagnised in the Consolidated Income Statement.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a non-controlling interest put option financial liability at the present value of the estimated
redemption amount, through equity via the put aption reserve. The subsequent remeasurement includes all changes in the carrying amount of
the liability, including the accretion aof interest and is recognised in the put option reserve.
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35 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(C) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised ot fair value both initially and on an ongoing basis. The accounting for subsequent changes in
fair value depends on whether the derivative is a designated hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged and the type
of hedge relationship designated. The Group designates derivatives as either hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or libilities or a
firm commitment (fair value hedges), or as hedges of a particular risk associated with the cash flows of recognised assets and liabilities or of
highly probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedges). At the inception of the transactions, the Qantas Group documents the economic
relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, including the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking each
transaction. The Qantas Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the hedging
instruments that are used in hedge transactions have been and will continue to be highly effective.

From time to time, certain derivative financial instruments do not qualify for hedge occounting, netwithstanding that the derivatives are held
to hedge identified exposures. Any changes in the fair value of a derivative instrument or part of a derivative instrument that do not qualify for
hedge accounting are classified as ineffective and recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement.

i Fair Value Hedges

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges ore recarded in the
Consolidated Income Statement, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability or firm commitment attributable
to the hedged risk.

ii. Cash Flow Hedges

Where a derivative is designated as o cash flow hedging instrument, the effective portion of changes in the fair volue of the derivative is
recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and accumulated within the hedge reserve. Any ineffective portion of
changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement.

The amount accumulated in equity is retained in the hedge reserve and reclassified to the Consolidated Income Statement in the same period
or periods during which the hedged forecast cash flows offect profit or loss or the hedged item affects profit or loss. Where the hedged item is
capitol in nature, the cumulative gain or loss recognised in the hedge reserve is transferred to the carrying omount of the asset when the
asset is recognised.

If the forecast transaction is na longer highly probable, the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the designation
is revaked, then hedge accounting is de-designated prospectively. If the forecast transaction is no longer highly probable, but still probable,
hedge accounting is discontinued and the amounts accumulated in the hedge reserve are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement
in the periad in which the original hedged item transaction ultimately occurs. If the forecast transaction is no longer probable (or
subsequently considered no longer probable), hedge accounting is de-designated and the amounts accumuloted in the hedge reserve are
reclassified to the Consolidated income Statement immediately.

iii.  Cost of Hedging

The time value of an option, the forward element of a forward contract and any foreign currency basis spread is excluded from

the designation of o financial instrument and accounted for as a cost of hedging. The fair value changes of these elements are recognised in
other comprehensive income and depending on the nature of the hedged item, will either be transferred to the Consolidated Income
Statement in the same period that the underlying transaction affects the Consolidated Income Statement or capitalised into the initial
carrying value of the asset.

iv.  Fair Value Calculations

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The fair value of
financiol instruments that are not traded in an active market is estimated using valuation technigues consistent with accepted market
practice. The Qantas Group uses a variety af methods and input assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at the balance
sheet date. The different methods of estimating the fair value of these items have been defined in the Consolidated Financial Statements

as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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35 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(C) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
v. Financial Guarantee Contracts

Financial guarantee cantracts are recognised as a financial liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liobility is initially measured ot
fair volue and subsequently af the higher of:

- The amount determined in accordance with the expected credit loss model under AASB 8 Financial Instruments, and

- The amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance with the principles of
AASB 15 Revenue fram Contracts with Customers.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on the present value of the difference in cash flows between the contractual
payments required under the debt instrument and the payments that would be required without the guarantee, or the estimated amount thot
would be payable to a third party for assuming the obligations. Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of assaciates are
provided for no compensation, the fair values are accounted for as contributions and recognised as part of the cost of the investment.

(D) REVENUE RECOGNITION
i. Net Passenger and Net Freight Revenue

Net passenger revenue primarily arises within the Qantas Domestic, Qantas Internotional and Jetstar Group segments. Nef freight revenue
primarily arises within the Qantas International segment except where belly space is utilised in Qontas Domestic and the Jetstar Group.

Passenger, freight revenue, capacity hire and air charter revenue are recognised when the travel or service is provided. Revenue recognised
on travel is net of sales discounts, passenger and freight interline/IATA commission and the Goods and Services Tox. Net freight revenue
includes amounts the Group receives as operating lease income in relation to freighters leased to customers.

At the time of expected travel, revenue is also recognised in respect of tickets that are not expected to be used. Unused tickets and
unredeemed travel credits are recognised as revenue using estimates based on the terms and conditions of the ticket, experience, historical
and expected future trends.

Passenger travel and freight services are generally paid for in advance of travel and are deferred on the balance sheet as revenue received in
advance. Travel credits are classified as revenue received in advance where they are available for future flights or in certain circumstances
for refund, if requested. Where customers have made refund claims these are classified as payables.

Where the passenger is also a Qantas Frequent Flyer member and earns Qantas Paints on travel, the allocation of revenue is on a proportional
basis using relative stand-alone selling prices and the consideration allocoted to Qantas Paints is deferred as unrecognised redemption
revenue.

Consideration received in relation to certain ancillary services regarding passenger travel such os credit card fees and chonge fees are not
considered to be distinct from the passenger flight. Revenue relating to these ancillary services is deferred until uplift to align with the related
passenger travel. These amounts are included within net passenger revenue.

Passenger recoveries (including fuel surcharges on passenger tickets) are included in net passenger revenue. Freight fuel surcharge is
included in net freight revenue.

ii. Frequent Flyer Marketing Revenue and Other Qantas Loyalty Businesses

Marketing revenue associated with the issuance of Qantas Points is recognised within the Qantas Loyalty segment as the service is performed
over time (typically, this approximates to the timing of the issuance of Qantas Points). Marketing revenue is measured as the difference
between the stand-alone selling price of a Qantas Paint and the consideration received, using the residual approach. The stand-alone selling
price of a Qantas Paint is determined using estimation techniques based on the value of redemption options for which Qantas Points could be
redeemed and considers the proportion of Qantas Points not expected to be redeemed. The consideration for Qantas Points is typically
received within normal credit terms following the issuance of points.

Marketing revenue on inter-segment Qantas Paint issuances is eliminated on consalidation.

Revenue fram other Qantas Loyalty businesses includes both commission revenue where Qantas Loyalty is acting as a sales agent and
holiday package revenue from the provision of travel services where Qantas Loyalty is acting as a principal. Commission ond holiday package
revenue is measured based on its relative stand-alone selling price and recognised on satisfaction of the performance obligation (typically,
the transfer of the underlying goad or service to the customer). Revenue is recognised on a net basis for commission revenue and a gross
basis for holiday package revenue. Deposits received from custemers to secure bookings are paid in advance and are deferred on the balance
sheet as revenue received in advance.
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35 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(D) REVENUE RECOGNITION (CONTINUED)
iii.  Frequent Flyer Redemption Revenue

The consideration for issuance of Qontas Points is typically received in advance of redemption and is deferred as unrecognised redemption
revenue at its relative stand-alone selling price. Redemption revenue is measured based on the weighted average value of the points
redeemed.

Redemption revenue is recognised within the Qantas Loyalty segment when Qantas Paints are redeemed.

Redemption revenue in relation to products provided by suppliers outside the Group, such as Qantas Marketplace redemptions and other
carrier redemptians, is recognised in the income stotement net of related costs where the Group is an agent. Obligations for returns or refunds
in relation to redemptions fram the Qantas Rewards Store are recognised where material. For the purposes of segment reporting, the Qantas
Loyalty segment reports these redemptions on a gross basis. Adjustments are made within cansolidation eliminations to present these
redemptions on o net basis at a Group level within Qantas Marketplace and other redemption revenue.

For the purposes of segment reporting, the Qantas Loyalty segment reports Qantas Group flight redemptions when Qantas Points are
redeemed. Adjustments are made within the consolidation eliminations to present these redemptions on uplift and present within net
passenger revenue.

Significant changes in the estimate of issued Qantas Paints expected to expire unredeemed are recognised within other revenue and income.
The Group uses estimates based on terms and conditions of the Frequent Flyer program, experience, historical and expected future trends to
determine any amount recognised.

iv.  Other Carrier Commissions and Commissions from Third Parties (within Third-party services revenue)

The Group considers whether it is a principal ar agent in relation to services by considering whether it has a performance obligation to provide
services to the customer or whether the obligation is ta arrange for services ta be provided by a third party, such as another carrier or a third
party. Other carrier commission revenue is included within third-party services revenue and is generally recognised on uplift by the other
carrier. Consideration for other carrier commissions is received within normal credit terms through IATA. Commissions from third parties are
typically recognised when the underlying good or service has been transferred to the end customer.

v. Freight Terminal Fees {within Third-party services revenue)

Revenue from freight terminal fees is measured based on its stand-alone selling price and recagnised within third party-services revenue on
satisfaction of the performance obligation, which is typically the transfer of the underlying service to the customer. Inveices are issued
according to contfractual terms.

vi. Qantas Club Membership

Qantas Club Membership revenue is measured based on its stand-alone selling price and is recognised within other revenue and income on
satisfaction of the perfarmance obligation, which is typically recognised an a straight-line basis aver the membership period. The deferred
revenue is included in other revenue received in aodvance.

vii. Incremental Costs of Obtaining a Contract

The incremental cost of obtaining a contract is capitalised and amortised over the expected period of benefits to the Group and in line with the
pattern those benefits are expected to arise. The Group recagnises the incremental costs of obtaining a contract as an expense when incurred
where the amortisation period of the asset that would have been recognised is one year or less.

(E] GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the
Group expects to camply with the conditions. Depending on the grant canditions, grants received may be deferred and recognised aver time
on a straight-line basis. Grants received to support capital expenditure are deferred and recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement
over the useful life of the related asset.

(F) TAXES
i Tax Compliance

The Qantas Group is committed to embedding risk management practices to support the achievement of compliance objectives and fulfil
corporate governance obligations. Tax risk management is governed by both the Qantas Group Risk Management Palicy and the Qantas Group
Tax Risk Management Palicy, ensuring corperate governance obligations with respect to tax risks are met. The Qantas Group has paid all taxes
that it owes and all tax complionce obligations are up to date. The AT also acknowledged Qantas’ continued commitment to engage
cooperatively and transparently to mitigate tax risks, including obtaining tax certainty on key transactions through the use of binding Private
Rulings and entering into a multi-tax Annual Compliance Arrangement (ACA).

Tax treaties

Due to the operation of income tox treaties and specific rules dealing with airlines, the Qantas Group appropriately reports the majority of its
income in Australia, with only a small component being reported in foreign jurisdictions (for the purpose of determining liability to company
tox).
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(F)  TAXES (CONTINUED)

i. Tax Compliance (continued)

Current income tox

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, and any adjustment to tax payable or
receivable with respect to previous years. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date where the
Group and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income or loss.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purpases and the amounts used for toxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for:

- Temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of assets or liobilities that offect neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss

- Temporary differences relating to investments in controlied entities and associates and jointly contralled entities to the extent that they
will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future

- Taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tox losses, unused tax credits and deductible tempaorary differences anly to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date
and are reduced to the extent that itis no langer probable that the related tax benefit will be reclised. Such reductions are reversed when the
probability of future taxable profits improves. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary
differences when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date. Qantas provides forincome tax in both
Australia and overseas jurisdictions where a liability exists.

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement except to
the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income, in which case it is recognised in equity or in
other comprehensive income.

ii. Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from
the taxation authority. In these circumstances, GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation
authority is included as a current asset or liability in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The GST components of cash flows arising from
investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority are classified as operating cash flows.

iii.  Tax Consolidation

Qantas and its Australion wholly-owned controlled entities, trusts and partnerships are part of a tax consolidated group. As o consequence, all
members of the tax consolidated group are taxed as a single entity.

(G) IMPAIRMENT
i Non-Financial Assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets such as equity accounted investments, property, plant and equipment, goodwill and intangible
assets and other assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation gnd are tested annually for impairment, or
more frequently if events ar changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. For the purpose of assessing impairment,
goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets are grouped ot the lowest levels for which there are separotely identifiable cash flows (cash
generating units (CGU)). Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recaverable. Goadwill arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or group of CGUs that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination.

Assets which primarily generate cash flows as a group, such as aircraft, are typically assessed on a CGU basis, inclusive of related
infrastructure and intangible assets and compared to net cash inflows for the CGU. Where assets are no longer expected to contribute to the
cash flows of a CGU, they are tested for impairment separately. Identification of an asset’s CGU requires significant judgement, as it requires
identification of the lowest aggregation of assets that generate largely independent cash inflows. In Management'’s judgement, the lowest
aggregotion of assets which give rise to CGUs as defined by AASB 136 iImpairment of Assets are the Qantas Domestic CGU, Qantas
International CGU, Qantas Layalty CGU, TripADeal (TAD) CGU, Qantas Freight CGU, Jetstar Australia/New Zealand CGU, Jetstar Asia CGU and
the Jetstar Japan CGU. Estimated net cash flows used in determining recoverable amounts are discounted ta their net present value using a
pre-tox discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the assets or CGU.
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35 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
{G) IMPAIRMENT (CONTINUED)
i. Non-Financial Assets (CONTINUED)

An impairment loss is recagnised for the amount by which the asset’s or CGU's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU's fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Impairment loss is recognised in the
Cansolidated Income Statement.

Non-financial assets other than goodwill thot suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period. The moximum amount of any impairment reversal is the lower of:

- The amount necessary to bring the carrying amount of the asset to its recoverable amount (if it is determinable), ond

- The omount necessary ta restore the assets of the CGU to their pre-impairment carrying amounts less subsequent depreciation ar
amortisation that would have been recagnised.

ii. Financial Assets

The carrying value of financial assets is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that itis
impaired. Where necessary, the Group recognises provisions for expected credit loss (ECL] ot omortised cost, based on 12-month or lifetime
losses depending on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk, including risk of default occurring, since initial recognition.
For significant customers, the Group allocates each exposure ta a credit risk grade based on data that is determined to be predictive of the
risk of loss (including but not limited to external ratings, audited financial statements, management accounts and cash flow projections and
available press information about custamers) and applying experienced credit judgement. For other customers, ECL is assessed based on
credit risk characteristics and the days past due. It is then measured based on actual historical credit loss experienced over the past years,
along with other factars, to reflect differences between the economic conditions during the period over which the histarical data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group's view of macroeconomic conditions aver the expected lives of the receivables. The Group
considers o financial asset to be in default when the counterparty is unlikely to pay its credit obligations in full.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECL,
the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group's historical experience and informed credit assessment, including
forward-looking information. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as the debtor failing to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group.

(H} PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
i Recagnition and Measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. ltems of property, plant and
equipment are initially recorded ot cost, being the fair value of the consideration provided plus incidental costs directly attributable to the
acquisition.

Costs to dismantle and remove assets

The cost of acquired assets includes the initial estimate of costs of dismantling and removing the items and restaring the site on which they
are located. Changes in the measurement of existing ligbilities resulting from changes in foreign exchange rates, timing or expected outflow
of resources required to settle the obligation, or from changes in the discount rate are recognised as on adjustment to the asset recognised.
The unwinding of the discount is treated as a finance expense in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Gains or losses on cash flow hedges of the purchase of assets
The cost also may include transfers from the hedge reserve of any gain or loss on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases
of property, plant and equipment in accordance with Note 35(C).

Capitalisation of interest

Interest attributed to progress payments made an account of aircraft and other qualifying assets under construction are capitalised and
added to the cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are recagnised in the Consolidated Income Statement in the year in which they are
incurred.

iil. Subsequent Expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it is probable that the future ecanomic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the
Group.
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(H) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
iii.  Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all items of property, plant and equipment except for freehald land, which is not
depreciated. The depreciation rates of owned assets are calculated to allocate the cost or valuation of an asset, less any estimated residual
vaiue, over the asset’s estimated useful life to the Qantas Group. Assets are depreciated fram the date of acquisition or, with respect to
internally constructed assets, from the time an asset is available for use. The costs of improvements to assets are depreciated over the
sharter of the remaining useful life of the asset or the estimated useful life of the improvement.

The principal asset depreciation periods and estimated residual value percentages applied where material are:

Years  Residual Value (%)

Buildings and leasehald improvements 5-40 0
Plant and equipment 2-20 0
Passenger aircroft and engines 2-25 0-10
Freighter aircraft and engines 2-20 0-10
Aircraft spare parts 2-20 0-10

Useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually and adjusted where appropriate, having regard to commercial and technological
developments, the estimated useful life of assets to the Qontas Group and the long-term fleet plan.

iv.  Maintenance and Overhaul Costs

Embedded maintenance

An element of the cost of an acquired aircraft is attributed to its service potential, reflecting the maintenance condition of its engines and
airframe. This cost is depreciated over the shorter of the period to the next major inspection event, the remaining life of the asset or the
remaining lease term.

Subsequent maintenance expenditure

The costs of subsequent major cyclical maintenance checks for owned and leased aircraft are recognised as an asset and deprecioted over
the sharter of the scheduled usage periods ta the next major inspection event, the remaining life of the aircraft or lease term (as apprapriate
ta their estimated residual volue). Maintenance checks which are covered by third-party maintenance agreements where there is a transfer of
risk and legal obligation are expensed on the basis of hours flown. All other maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

Maodifications
Modifications that enhance the operating perfarmance or extend the useful lives of aircraft are capitalised and depreciated aver the
remaining estimated useful life of the asset or remaining lease term (os appropriate to their estimated residual value).

v. Manufacturers’ Credits

The Qantas Group receives credits from manufacturers in connection with the acquisition of certain aircraft ond engines. These credits are
recorded as a reduction to the cost of the related aircraft and engines, when the credits are utilised by the Group.

(1)  LEASES

The Group predominantly leases passenger aircraft and engines, freighter aircraft, domestic and international properties, and equipment.
Lease contracts are typically entered into for fixed periods but may have extension options.

i Initial Recognition

Leases (ather than those described below) are recognised as a lease liability with a corresponding right of use asset of the date at which the
leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Leases are contracts which convey the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control
is conveyed where the Group has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all the economic benefits
from the use of the asset throughout the periad of use.

The Group has elected not to recognise right of use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets and short-term leases. The Group
recognises lease payments associoted with these leases as an expense in the Consolidated Income Statement as incurred.

For contracts that include lease components and nan-lease components, these are separated based on their relative stond-alone selling
prices. The lease component is recognised as a lease and the non-lease compaonent is recognised as an expense in the Consolidated Income
Statement as incurred. This includes, for example, certain capacity hire arrangements where a third party provides oircraft (lease camponent)
to the Group, together with other services such as crew and maintenance (non-lease components), which are recognised within capacity hire
expense.
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(1)  LEASES (CONTINUED)

i. Initial Recognition (CONTINUED)

Lease liability
At the lease commencement date, lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value of lease payments over the lease term.

Lease payments include fixed payments (less any lease incentives receivable), variable payments that are based on an index or a rate
(initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date) and, where relevant, the exercise price of o purchase option (where
it is reasonably certain that option will be exercised).

The lease term includes the non-cancellable period for which the Group has contracted to lease the asset, together with any option terms to
extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods cavered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably
certain not to be exercised. When determining the lease term for cancellable leases or renewable leases, the Group considers both the broader
economics of the contract (and not only contractual termination payments) and whether each of the parties has the right 1o terminate the
lease without permission from the other party with na more than an insignificant penalty. Such leases include, for example, leases which have
expired and are legally cancellable by both the lessor and lessee and/or leases which contain holdover arrangements which allow the lessee
1o continue to accupy the property beyand the lease end date until the arrangement is cancelled by either the lessee or the lessor.

Lease payments are discounted using the Group's incremental borrowing rate where the implicit interest rate in the lease is not readily
determined. The Group's incremental borrowing rate is the rate that the Group waould have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value or the right to use an asset in an economic environment with similar terms and cenditions.

Right of use asset

At the lease commencement date, right of use assets are meosured at an amount equol ta the initial measurement of the lease liability
(adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date), and an initial estimate of the present volue of restoration or
return costs that arise at lease commencement (with the corresponding amount recognised as a provision, less any lease incentives
received).

i Subsequent Measurement

Lease liability
Lease payments are allecated between principal and interest payments. The interest expense is recognised in the Consolidated Income
Statement over the lease term to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Lease liahilities denominated in currencies other than the Group's functional currency are translated to Australian dollars at each reporting
date. However, the right of use asset is recognised at the fareign exchange rate at initial recognition.

In accordance with the Group's Treasury Risk Management Policy, certain foreign currency lease liabilities (for example, gircraft leases
denominated in US dollars) have been designated as a hedging instrument of future corresponding foreign currency revenues (for example,
US doller revenues) in a cash flow hedge relationship. The effective portion of the foreign exchange revaluation of the lease liability is
recognised in other comprehensive income and is recycled to the Consolidated Income Statement within net passenger revenue when the
hedged item is realised.

The lease liability is remeasured where there is a change in future lease payments arising fram a change in index or rate, if there is a change
in the Group's estimate of amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if there is a change in the lease term,
including the Group's assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option within the lease contract (reassessed
where there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within the Group's control and affects the ability to exercise, or not to
exercise, an option). Where the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is recognised to the right of use asset or
is recorded in the Consalidated Income Statement if the carrying amount of the right of use asset has been reduced to zero.

Right of use asset

Right of use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The right of
use asset is adjusted for certain changes in the lease liability. The right of use asset is also adjusted for changes in the measurement of the
restaration provision recognised for return costs that arise ot lease commencement.

ili. Amendment to AASB 16

In May 2020, the IASB issued amendments to AASB 16 to provide an optianal relief ta lessees from applying AASB 18's guidance on lease
modification accounting for rent concessions if they are a direct consequence of COVID-19 and meet certain conditions specified in the
amendment. On 31 March 2021, the IASB extended the period of application of the practical expedient up until 30 June 2022 (originolly

30 June 2021). The practical expedient allows the lessee to recognise a forgiveness or waiver of lease payments as a variable lease payment
in the income statement and a corresponding derecognition of the part of the lease liability that has been extinguished by the forgiveness or
waiver of lease payments. The practical expedient also provides guidance on accounting for rent deferrals whereby a change in lease
payment that reduces the payment in one pericd and propartionally increases the payment in anather does not extinguish the lessee’s lease
liability nor changes the consideration for the lease. The lessee would continue to recognise lease payment deferrals within the lease liability.

The Group has determined that it meets the conditions to apply the practical expedient and has applied the practical expedient in accounting
for rent concessions. The impact of the application of this practical expedient is disclosed in Note 16.
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(1)  LEASES (CONTINUED)
iv.  Lease Revenue

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines ot lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. To classify each
lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease, if not, then it is an aperating lease. As part of this
assessment, the Group considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset.

Where the Group is on intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the sub-lease separately. It assesses the lease
classification of a sub-lease with reference to the right to use asset arising fram the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset. If
a head lease is o short-term lease to which the Group applies the exemption described above, then it classifies the sub-leose as an operating
lease. The Group recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line basis over the lease term within net
freight revenue and other revenue and income.

v. Sale and Leaseback

A sale and leaseback transaction is one where the Group sells an asset in accordance with AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers,
and simultaneously reacquires the use of the asset by entering into a lease with the buyer.

The Group measures the right of use asset arising from the leaseback at the portion of the previous carrying amount thot is retained by the
Group, with any difference between the right of use asset and the lease liability reflected in the goin on sale. Accordingly, any residual gain
from the disposal of ossets is representative of the rights transferred to the buyer and is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement.

(J) INTANGIBLE ASSETS

i Recognition and Measurement

Goodwill Goodwill has an indefinite useful life and is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. With respect to
investments accounted for under the equity method, the carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying
amount of the investment.

Airport landing slots  Airport landing slots which are recognised as intangible assets have an indefinite useful life. Airport londing slats
are not amortised and are stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Brand names and Brand names and trademarks have an indefinite useful life ond are corried at cost less any accumulated
trademarks impairment losses. '
Software Software is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Software development

expenditure, including the cost of materials, direct labour and other direct costs, is only recognised as an asset
when the Qantas Group cantrols future economic benefits as a result of the costs incurred and it is probable that
thase future economic benefits will eventuate and the costs can be measured reliobly.

Cloud computing arrangements involve service contracts providing the Group with the right to access the cloud
provider's application software over the contract period. Where the Group does not receive a software intangible
asset at the contract commencement date, casts incurred for the customisation and configuration are generally
recognised as an expense when the work is performed. Fees for use of the underlying software are recognised as
an expense as the service is provided over the contract period.
Customer contracts/  Customer contracts/relationships are carried at their fair value ot the date of acquisition less accumulated
relationships amortisation and impairment lasses. Amartisation commences when the asset is ready for use.
Contract intangible Contract intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation commences when the
assets asset is ready for use.

The Group considers that there are no individual intangible assets that are material for additional disclosure within the financial statements.

ii. Subsequent Expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates.
All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally-generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in the Consolidoted Income Statement
asincurred.

ili.  Amortisation

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives and is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement. Goodwill, brand names and trademarks and airport
landing slots are indefinite lived intangible assets and are allacated to the relevant CGU. These indefinite lived intangible assets are not
amortised but tested annually for impairment.

The principal amortisation periods and estimated residual value percentages applied where material are:

Years Residual Value %
Software 2 - 10 years 0%
Customer contracts/relationships 11 years 0%
Contract intangible assets . 40 years 0%
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(K) INVENTORIES

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost is determined by the weighted average cost method. Inventories
include mainly engineering expendables, consumable stores and work-in-progress.

(L)  ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Non-current assets, or disposal of groups comprising asset and liabilities, are classified as held for sale if it is highly probable that they will be
recovered primarily through sale rather than through continued use and the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition.

Such assets, or disposal of groups, are generally measured at the fower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost ta sell. Any
impairment loss an a disposal group is allocated first to goodwill, and then to the remaining assets and liabilities on a pro rata basis, except
that no loss is allocated to inventaries, financial assets, deferred tax assets, employee benefit assets, which continue to be measured in
accordance with the Group's other accounting palicies. Impairment loss an initial classification as held for sale and subsequent gains and
losses on remeasurement are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Once classified as held for sale, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are no longer amortised or depreciated and any equity-
accounted investees are no longer equity accounted.

(M) PAYABLES

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the group prior to the end of the financial year which are unpaid. The
amounts ore unsecured and ore usually paid within 30-60 days of recognition. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities
unless payment is not due within 12 manths after the reporting period. They are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, if the effect of discounting is material.

(N) REVENUE RECEIVED IN ADVANCE
Unavailed passenger revenue

Passenger travel and freight services are generally paid for in advance of travel and are deferred on the balance sheet as revenue received in
advance. Travel credits are classified os revenue received in advance where they are available for future flights or in certain circumstances
for refund, if requested. Where customers have made refund claims these are classified as payables.

Tickets generoally expire either within 12 months after the planned trovel date if they are not used within that time period, or on the date of
planned travel, depending on the terms and conditions.

Notwithstanding that travel credits may not be utilised in the next 12 months, unavailed passenger revenue is classified as current on the
basis that the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer usoge of the ticket for at least 12 months.

Unredeemed Frequent Flyer revenue

Unredeemed Frequent Flyer revenue relates to performance obligations associated with Qantas Paints which have been issued but not
redeemed. Qantas Points are issued by the Group as part of the Qantas Frequent Flyer program or are sold to third parties such as credit card
providers, who issue them as part of their loyalty programs. Unredeemed Frequent Flyer revenue is classified as either current or non-current
based on the Group's expectation of redemption patterns by members within the next 12 months. The non-current amount of Unredeemed
Frequent Flyer revenue will be materially recognised as revenue over three years. Significant changes in Qantas Points expected to expire
unredeemed are recognised within other revenue and income using estimates based on the terms and conditions of the Frequent Flyer
pragram, experience, histarical and expected future trends.

Other revenue received in advance

Other revenue received in advance primarily relates to prepaid Qantas Club membership fees, revenue received in advance for travel
packages, points redemptions on other airlines, unavailed cargo revenue and grants or supplier incentives the Group has received but which
are recognised over time. Other revenue received in advance is classified as current where it is expected to be recognised or transferred to
anather carrier within the next 12 months.

(0) PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised if, as a result of o past event, there is a present legal or constructive obligation that can be measured reliably, and it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are not recagnised for future operating
losses.

If the effect is material, a provision is determined by discounting the best estimate of the expected future cash flows required to settle the
obligation at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The
unwinding of the discount is treated as a finance expense in the Consolidated Income Stotement.

Provisions are presented as current ligbilities in the balance sheet if the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at
least 12 months after the reporting period, regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur.
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{0) PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)

Wages, salaries and
annual leave

Liabilities for wages, salaries and annual teave vesting to employees are recagnised in respect of emplayees’
services up to the end of the reporting period. These liabilities are measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when they are settled and include related on-costs, such as workers’ compensation insurance, superannuation
and payroll tax. The annual leave provision is discounted using corporate bond rates which most closely match the
expected settlement dates of the provision.

Long service leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised as a provision for employee benefits and measured at the present
value of estimated future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the end of the
reparting period. The provision is calculated using expected future increases in wage and salary rates including
related on-costs and expected settlement dates based on expected employee usage. The provision is discounted
using corporate bond rates which most clasely match the expected settlement dates of the provision. The
unwinding of the discount is treated as a finance expense in the Consolidated Income Statement.
Remeasurements as a result of experience adjustments and changes in assumptions are recognised in the
Consolidated Income Statement.

Redundancies and
other employee
benefits

Redundancy provisions are recognised as an expense at the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises casts for a restructuring. These benefits are expected to be
settled wholly within 12 months of the end of the reporting period.

Other employee benefits such as discretionary bonus amounts due to non-executive employees are recognised as
a provision where the Group has a legal or constructive abligation ta make the payment to non-executive
employees and the amount can be reliably measured.

Onerous contracts

An onerous contract is a contract in which the unavoidable cost of meeting the obligations under the contract
exceeds the economic benefit expected to be received.

A provision for onerous contracts is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating
the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract, which is determined based on the
incremental costs of fulfilling the abligation under the contract and an allocation of other costs directly related to
fulfilling the contract. Before a provision is established, the Group recognises ony impoirment loss on the assets
associated with that contract.

Make good on
leased assets

Aircraft: An initial estimate of the present value of restaration or return costs that arise at lease commencement
are recognised as a provision with a corresponding amount recognised as part of the initial recagnition of the right
of use asset and depreciated aver the lease term. Changes in this provision are recognised as an adjustment to the
right of use asset.

Provisions for return costs that occur over the lease term through usage or the passage of time are recognised as
an expense when they occur. The determination of provisions for return costs requires significant judgement and
is estimated in USD based on the forecast casts expected to be incurred when the aircraft is returned to or
purchased fram the lessar, calculated using expected future increases in costs and discounted to present volue
using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. The expense is recognised pro-rata over the period to an expected
lease return date. Movements in the provision due to changes in foreign exchange rates and discount rates as well
as changes in estimates of forecast return costs expected to be incurred or expected lease return dates are
recagnised in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Property: An initial estimate of the present value of restoration costs that arise ot lease commencement are
recagnised as a provision with a correspanding amount recognised as part of the initial recognition of the right of
use asset and depreciated over the lease term. Changes in this provision are recognised as an adjustment to the
right of use asset.

Environment: Where the usage of property or land gives rise to an abligation for rehabilitation, the Group
recognises a provisian for the costs assaciated with restoration with a corresponding amount recognised in the
Consolidated Income Statement. Changes in this provision are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Ilnsurance, legal
and other

Insurance: The Qantas Group self-insures for risks associated with workers’ compensation in certain jurisdictions.
Qantas has made o provisian for all notified ond assessed workers' compensation liabilities, together with an
estimate of liabilities incurred but not reparted, based on an independent actuarial assessment. The provision is
discounted using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liabilities and which have maturity dates approximating the terms of Qantas’ obligotions. Workers’
compensation for all remaining employees is commercially insured.

Legal and other provisions: Provisions are recognised where they are incurred as a result of a past event, there is a
lega! or constructive obligation that can be measured reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation.
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(P) OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Employee share plans

The grant date fair volue of equity-settled share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognised as an expense, with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the vesting period of the awards. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted fo reflect the
number of awards for which related service and non-market performance conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately
recognised is based on the number of awards that meet the related service and non-market performance conditions af the vesting date. For
share-based payment awards with market performance conditions, the grant date fair value of the share-based payment is meosured to
reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences between expected and actual outcomes.

Defined contribution superannuation plans
The Qantas Group contributes to employee defined cantribution superannuation plans. Contributions to these plans are recagnised as an
expense in the Consolidated Income Statement as incurred.

Defined benefit superannuation plans

The Qantas Group's net gbligation with respect to defined benefit superannuation plans is calculoted separately for each plan. The Qantas
Superannuation Plan has been split based on the divisians which relate to accumulation members and defined benefit members. Only defined
benefit members ore included in the Qantas Group’s net obligation calculations. The calculation estimates the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods, which is discounted to determine its present value, and the
fair value of any plan assets is then deducted.

The calculation of defined benefit obligations is performed annually by o qualified actuary using the projected unit credit methad. When the
calculation results in a potential asset for the Group, the recagnised asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the
form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. To calculate the present value of economic benefits,
consideration is given to any applicable minimum funding requirements.

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability or asset, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets (excluding
interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling. are recognised immediately in other comprehensive income. The Group determines the net
interest expense/(income) on the net defined benefit liability/(asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined
benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the then net defined benefit liability/(asset), taking into account any changes in the
net defined benefit liability/(asset) during the period as a result of cantributions and benefit payments. Net interest expense and other
expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in the Consalidated Income Statement.

The discount rate used is the corporate bond rate which has a maturity dote that approximates the expected terms of Qantas’ abligations.
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation resulting from plan amendments or curtailments are recognised immediately in
the Consolidated Income Statement as past service costs. The Group recognises gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan
when the settlement occurs.

(Q) NETFINANCE COSTS

Net finance costs comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest methed, unwinding of the discount rate on
lease liabilities, provisions and receivables, interest receivable on funds invested and gains and losses on mark-to-market movements in fair
value hedges.

Finance income is recognised in the Consolidated Income Stotement as it occrues, using the effective interest method.

Finance costs are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement as incurred, except where interest costs relate to qualifying assets, in
which case they are capitalised to the cost of the assets. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial periad of time to be
made ready for intended use. Where funds are borrowed generally, borrowing costs are capitalised using the average interest rate applicable
to the Qantas Group's debt facilities.

(R) CAPITAL AND RESERVES

i. Ordinary Shares

Ordinary shares are clossified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to issue of ordinary shares are recognised as a deduction from
equity, net of tox.

ii. Repurchase of Share Capital

When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, including directly ottributable costs, is
recognised as a deduction from equity. '

ili.  Treasury Shares

Shares purchased and held by the Qantas-sponsored Employee Share Plan Trust are recognised as treasury shares at their purchase price
and deducted from equity on the purchase date.

iv.  Employee Compensation Reserve

The fair value of equity plans granted is recognised in the employee compensation reserve over the vesting period. This reserve will be
reversed ogainst treasury shores when the underlying shares vest and transfer to the employee at the fair value. The difference between the
fair volue at grant date and the cost of treasury shares used is recognised in retained earnings (net of tox).
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(R) CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)
v. Hedge Reserve

The hedge reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments and the
cumulative change in fair value arising from the time value of options related to future forecast transactions. Gains or losses relating to
ineffective portions are recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement. Cash flow hedges are further described in Note
35{CJii.

vi.  Foreign Currency Translatian Reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the Financial Statements
of foreign controlied entities and investments accounted for under the equity method.

vii. Other Reserves
Other reserves includes the following:

- The defined benefit reserve, comprising the remeasurements of the net defined benefit asset/(liability), which is recognised in other
comprehensive income

- The fair value reserve, comprising the fair value gains/(losses) on investments at fair value through other comprehensive income

- The put option reserve, comprising the recognition and remeasurements of a put option liability over relevant non-controlling interests,
which is recognised in equity. )

viii. Dividends

A provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no langer at the discretion of the Group, on or

before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the end of the reporting periad. Where the Group has revaoked o declared dividend,
itis no longer recognised as a provision.

{S) COMPARATIVES
Where applicable, comparative balances have been reclassified to align with current year presentation.
(T) SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments are reported in @ manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the CODM, being the Chief Executive Officer,
Group Management Committee and the Board of Directors.

Underlying EBIT is the primary reporting measure used by the CODM for the purpase of assessing the performance of the operating segments,
with the exception of the Corporate segment which is assessed using Underlying PBT. Underlying EBIT of the Qantas Group’s operating
segments is prepared and presented on the basis that it reflects the revenue earned and the expenses incurred by each aperating segment.
The significant accounting policies applied in implementing this basis of preparation are set out below. These accounting policies have been
consistently applied to all periods presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements,

Segment Performance

Measure Basis of Preparation
External segment External segment revenue is reported by operating segments as follows:
revenue - Net possenger revenue is reported by the operating segment that operated the relevant flight or provided

the relevant service. For Qantas Airlines, where a multi-sector ticket covering international and domestic
travel is sold, the revenue is reported by Qantas International ond Qantas Domestic on a pro-rata basis
using an industry standard cllocotion process

- Other revenue is reported by the operating segment that earned the revenue.

Inter-segment Inter-segment revenue for Qantas Domestic, Qantas International and Jetstar Group operating segments
revenue primarily represents:
- Net passenger revenue arising fram the redemption of Frequent Flyer points for Qantas Group flights by
Qantas Loyalty
- Net freight revenue from the utilisation of Qantas Group’s aircraft belly space.
Inter-segment revenue for Qantas Loyalty primarily represents marketing revenue arising from the issuance of
Frequent Flyer points to Qantas Domestic, Qantas International and Jetstar Group. Inter-segment revenue
transactions, which are eliminated on consolidation, occur in the ordinary course of business at prices that
approximate market prices. The inter-segment arrangements with Qantas Loyalty are nat designed to derive o
net profit from inter-segment Frequent Flyer point issuances and redemptions.

Share of net profit/(lass) of Share of net profit/(loss) of investments accounted for under the equity method is reported by the operating

investments accounted for segment that is accountable for the management of the investment. The share of net profit/(loss) of

under the equity method  investments accounted for under the equity method for Qantas Airlines’ investments has been equally shared
between Qantas Domestic and Qantas International.
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35 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(T)  SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED]

Underlying EBITDA The significant expenses impacting Underlying EBITDA are as follows:

- Salaries, wages and other benefits are reported by the operating segment that utilises the salaries, wages
and other benefits. Where personnel support both Qantas Domestic and Qantas International, costs are
reported by using an appropriate allocation methodology

- Fuel expenditure is reported by the segment that consumes the fuel in its operations

- Aircroft operating variable costs are reported by the segment that incurs these costs

- Ali other expenditure is reported by the operating segment to which it is directly attributable or, in the case
of Qantas Airlines, between Qantas Domestic and Qantas International using an apprapriate allocation
methodology.

To apply this accounting policy, where necessary, expenditure is recharged between operating segments as a

cost recovery.

The impact of discount rate changes on provisions is not allocated to operating segments, and changes in

presentation of income/expenses where the determination of whether the Group is acting as principal or agent

is made on consaolidation.

Depreciation and Qantas Damestic, Qantas International and Jetstar Group report depreciation expenses for passenger and
amortisation freight aircraft owned or leased by the Qantas Group and flown by the segment. Other depreciation and
omortisation is reported by the segment that uses the related asset.

36 NEWSTANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET ADOPTED BY THE GROUP

A number of new accounting amendments and interpretations have been issued that are not yet effective and not yet adopted by the Group
for the financial year ended 30 June 2023. If applicable, the Group intends to adopt the following new or amended standards and
interpretations when they become effective, with no significant impact being expected on the Consolidated Financial Statements of the

Group:

- AASB17 Insurance Contracts and amendments

- Amendments to AASB 101 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

- Amendments to AASB 107, AASB 7 Disclosure of supplier finance arrangements

- Amendments to AASB 112 Deferred Tax reloted to Assets and Liobilities arising from a Single Transaction
- Amendments to AASB 101, AASB 8 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies and Definition of Accounting Estimates
- Amendments to AASB 16 Lease ligbility in a sale-ond-leaseback

- Amendments to AASB 10 and 128 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investar and its Associate or Joint Venture.
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Directors’ Declaration

For the year ended 30 June 2023

1. In the opinion of the Directors of Qantas Airways Limited (Qantas):
a. The Consolidated Financiol Statements and Notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), including:

i. Giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Qantos Group as ot 30 June 2023 and of its performance for the financial
year ended on that date '

ii. Complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations
Regulations 2001

b. There are reasonable grounds to believe that Qantas will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due ond poyable.

2. There are reasonable grounds to believe that Qantas and the controlled entities will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities te which
they are or may become subject ta by virtue of the Deed of Crass Guarantee between Qontas and those controlled entities pursuant fo ASIC
Corporations (Wholly-owned componies) Instrument 2016/785 (Instrument).

3. The Directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) from the Chief Executive Officer
and the Chief Financial Officer for the year ended 30 June 2023.

4. The Directors draw attention to Note 1(A) which includes a statement of compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards.
Signed in accordance with a Resolution of the Directors:

hoe! s %W?Q W“'

Richard Goyder Vanessa Hudson
Chairman Chief Executive Officer
20 September 2023 20 September 2023
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Frequent Flyer revenue recognition

Refer to Note 4(B), Note 35(DJii., Note 35(DJiii., and to the Financial Report

THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

Recognition of Frequent Flyer revenue is a key audit matter due
to the high level of audit effort and judgement required by us in
assessing the Group’s assumptions underpinning the amount
deferred as Unredeemed Frequent Flyer revenue.

We focused on the Group's assumptions used in their
estimation of the:

~ stand-alone selling price of Qantas Points: the Group bases
this on their estimated price of available rewards at the time
of redemption weighted in proportion to the expected
redemptions, based on historical experience and
assumptions of future behaviour; and

~ proportion of Qantas Points not expected to be redeemed by
members in the future (breakage): the Group uses actuarial
experts to estimate the proportion of Qantas Points not
expected 1o be redeemed by members in the future.

Given the complex judgements, we invalved our valuation and
actuarial specialists to supplement our senior team members in
addressing this key audit matter.

HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN QUR AUDIT
Our procedures included:

- assessing the Group’s methodology used fo estimate the stand-alone
selling price of Qantas Points against the requirements of AASB 15
Revenue fram Contracts with Customers and the Group’s accounting
policy.

- we tested the integrity of the calculation used to estimate the stand-
alone selling price of Qantas Points, including the accuracy of the
underlying calculation.

- we assessed the key inputs of the various redemption channels used
to estimate the stand-alone selling price of expected future
redemptions. We did this by comparing a sample of available rewards
to observable market volues, such as comparable market air fares.
We compared the weighting used in the calculation to historic
redemption potterns, taking into cansideration the estimated future
volume of Qantas Paints redeemed for flights and our understanding
of other changes in the Frequent Flyer program.

involving our actuarial specialists, we assessed key breakage
assumptions against historical experience, recent trends and the
estimated future volume of Qantas Points redeemed based on the
Board approved Forecast and our understanding of changes in the
Frequent Flyer program.

involving our actuarial specialists, we assessed the appropriateness
of the Group's breakage methodelogy used against accounting
standard requirements and the Frequent Flyer program. We
independently recalculated the breakage using the Group's inputs .
and compared to the Group’s recorded breakage at year end.

we checked the accuracy of points activity data used in the
calculotion of breakage to source data in Qantas’ Paints system.
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Derivative financial instrument accounting

Refer to Note 26 and Note 35(C) to the Financial Report

THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

Cash flow hedge accounting and valuation of financial
instruments is a key audit matter due to:

- the complexity inherent in the Group’s estimation of the fair
value of derivative financial instruments. The Group's
approach is to use market standard valuation techniques to
determine the fair value of aptions, swaps and cross-
currency swaps nat traded in active markets;

- theimpact of changes in the underlying market price of fuel
and foreign exchange rates which are key inputs to the
derivative valuations;

- the complexity in the Group's cash flow hedge accounting
relationships driven by an active financial risk management
strategy, including the restructuring of specific exposures
over time;

- the volume of fransactions and counterparties;

- the hedging of o high proportion of forecost future cash
flows; and

- the significance of the Group's financial risk management
pragram on the finoncial results.

In assessing this key oudit matter, we involved our valuation
specialists to supplement our senior team members, who
understand methods, inputs and assumptions relevant to the
Group's derivative portfolio.

In assessing this key audit matter, we involved our veluation
specialists to supplement our senior team members, who
understand methods, inputs and assumptions relevant to the
Group’s derivative portfolio.
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HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN QUR AUDIT
Our procedures included:

~ we assessed the appropriateness of the Group’s accounting policies
ogainst the requirements of the accounting standards.

understanding the Group's key internal controls. These included the
Group’s controls assaciated with:

- assessment and approval of the details of trades to
counterparty confirmations;

- assessment of hedge accounting designation;

- assessment of the valume of hedged exposures compared to
total exposures.

~ we compared financial instrument fair values in the Group’s
accounting records to the recards in the treasury risk management
system.

with the assistance of our valuation specialists, we independently
estimated the foir values of the Group’s financial instruments as at
30 June 2023 using recognised market valuation methodologies and
inputs. We adjusted these fair values for our experience of the range
of acceptable market valuation techniques in estimating fair values
of instruments not traded in active markets. We compared the
Group's valuations recorded in the general ledger to these fair value
ranges.

!

we tested a sample of cash flow hedge accounting designations
against the requirements of the accounting standard. This included a
sample of the restructured positions involving multiple derivatives.

- we compared the Group's forecast fuel consumption against the
Board approved Forecast and assessed consistency with other key
forward looking assumptions.

we evoluated the appropriateness of the classification and
presentation of derivative financial instruments ond related financial
risk management disclosures against accounting standard
requirements.
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Independent Auditor's Report continues

For the year ended 30 June 2023

Other Information
Other Information is financial and non-financial information in Qantas Airways Limited's annual reporting which is provided in addition to the
Financial Report and the Auditor's Report. The Directors are responsible far the Other Information.

Our opinion on the Financial Repart does not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or any form of
assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception of the Remuneration Report and our related assurance apinion.

In connection with our audit of the Financial Repart, our responsibility is to read the Other Information. In doing so, we consider whether the
Other Information is materially inconsistent with the Financial Report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materiglly misstated.

We are required to report if we conclude that there is o material misstatement of this Qther Information, and based on the work we have
performed on the Other Information that we abtained prior to the date of this Auditor's Report we have nothing to report.

Respansibilities of Directors for the Financial Report

The Directors are responsible for:

- preparing the Financial Report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations
Act 2001

- implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation of a Financial Report that gives a true and fair view and is free fram
moterial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error

- assessing the Group and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and whether the use of the gaing concern basis of accounting
is appropriate. This includes disclosing, os applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless they either intend to liquidate the Group and Company or ta cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but te do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report

Our objective is:

- to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error; and

- taissue an Auditor’s Report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is nat a guarantee thot an audit conducted in accordance with Australion Auditing
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from froud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the Financial Report.

A further description of our responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report is located at the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board
website at: https://www.auasb.gov.ou/admin/file/content102/c3/arl_2020.pdf. This description forms part of our Auditor’s Report.
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REPORT ON THE REMUNERATION REPORT

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Qantas Airways Limited DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES
for the year ended 30 June 2023, complies with Section 300A of

The Directars of the Company are responsible for the preparation
the Corporations Act 2001, pany P prep

and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with
Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

OUR RESPONSIBILITIES

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 33 to
60 of the Directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2023.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration
Report, based on our audit conducted in accordonce with Australian
Auditing Standards.

kK¢S T

KPMG Julian McPherson Caoimhe Toouli
Pa[tner Partner
Sydney Sydney
20 September 2023 20 September 2023
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Sharehaolder Information

For the year ended 30 June 2023

The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 18 August 2023.

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholders

Ordinary Shares Held

% of Issued Shares

HSBC Custady Nominees (Australia] Limited 596,453,603 34.59
J P Morgan Nominees Australia Pty Limited 258,295,241 14.98
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 225,952,276 13.10
Natienal Nominees Limited 69,169,518 4.01
Pacific Custodians Pty Limited (Emp Share Plan Trust) 47,738,487 277
BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd (DRP) 35,213,637 2.04
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited (Colonial First State Inv A/C) 25,111,899 1.46
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited — GSI EDA 18,602,068 1.08
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited (NT — Commonwealth Super Corp A/C) 12,505,698 0.73
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited — A/C 2 11,355,193 0.66
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited — GSCO ECA 8,050,591 0.47
Pacific Custodians Pty Limited (QAN Plans Ctrl) 7,673,413 0.44
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 5,225,549 0.30
BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd (Glabal Markets DRP) 4,448,976 0.26
HSBC Custady Naminees (Australia) Limited (Euroclear Bank SA NV A/C) 4,348,718 0.25
BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Ltd (1B AU Noms Retail Client DRP) 4,285,897 0.25
Netwealth Investments Limited (Wrap Services A/C) 2,975,309 017
BNP Paribas Noms (NZ) Ltd | 2,606,715 015
BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Ltd Hub24 Custadia! Serv Ltd 1,829,489 0.11
Powerwrap Limited (Escala Sma Trading A/C) 1,780,392 0.10
Total 1,343,723,679 77.92

DISTRIBUTION OF ORDINARY SHARES
Analysis of ordinary sharehalders by size of shareholding:

Number of Shares - Ordinary Shares Held Number of Shareholders % of Issued Shares
1-1,000' 42,490,600 107,372 2.47
1,001-5,000 137,113,066 57,702 7.95
5,001-10,000 58,855,136 8,279 341
10,001-50,000 81,813,697 4,486 474
50,001-100,000 16,928,918 243 0.98
100,001 and over 1,387,253,263 161 80.45
Total . 1,724,454,680 178,243 100.00

1 2,617 shareholders hold less than a marketable parcel of shares in Qantas, os at 18 August 2023.
ON-MARKET SHARE BUY-BACK

On 24 August 2023, Qantas announced its intention to undertake an on-market share buy-back of up to $500 million.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The following organisations have disclased a substantial shareholding notice ta ASX. Qantas has received no further update in relation to

these substantial sharehaldings:

Shareholders

Ordinary Shares Held

% of Issued Shares

Blackrock Group

Perpetual Limited and its related bodies corporate?

90,549,478
99,334,816

5.25
5.47

1 Substontial shoreholding as ot 23 June 2023, as per nofice dated 27 June 2023.
2  Substontial shareholding as ot 2 Moy 2023, os per notice dated 4 Moy 2023.
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Financial Calendar and Additional Information

For the year ended 30 June 2023

2023 2024
23 February Half year results announcement 22 February Half year results announcement
30 June Year end 6 March Record date for interim dividend*
24 August Preliminary final results announcement 10 Agril Interim dividend payoble*
3 November Annua! General Meeting 30 June Year end
29 August Preliminary final results announcement
11 September Record date for final dividend*
16 October Final dividend poyable*
25 QOctaber Annual General Meeting

*Subject 1o o dividend being outharised by the Beard.

2023 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2023 AGM of Qantas Airways Limited will be held in a hybrid
farmat ot 11lam AEDT on Friday 3 November 2023.

Further details are available in the Annual General Meeting section on
the Qantas Investor website at: investor.gantas.com/home/

COMPANY PUBLICATIONS

In addition to the Annual Report, the following publications can be
accessed from www.qantas.com/au/en/qantas-group/acting-
responsibly/our-reporting-approach.html

- Qantas Sustainability Report

- Qantas Group Code of Conduct and Ethics

- Qantas Group Corporate Governance Statement

- Qantas Group Inclusion and Diversity Palicy

- Qantas Group Madern Slavery and Human Trofficking Statement
- Qantas Group Human Rights Palicy Statement

- Workplace Gender Equality Reports.

REGISTERED OFFICE

Qantas Airways Limited ABN 16 009 661 301
10 Bourke Road, Mascot NSW 2020 Australia

Telephone +61 2 9691 3636

www.gantas.com

QANTAS SHARE REGISTRY

Link Market Services Limited

Level 12, 680 George Street, Sydney NSW 2000 Australio, or
Locked Bag Al4, Sydney South NSW 1235 Australia
Telephone 1800 177 747 (toll free within Australia)
International +61 2 8280 7390

Facsimile +61 2 9287 0309

Email registry@gantas.com

SECURITIES EXCHANGE

Australian Securities Exchange

Exchange Centre, 20 Bridge Street

Sydney NSW 2000 Australia
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ADDITIONAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Using your Sharehalder Reference Number (SRN) or Holder
Identification Number (HIN) and postcode of your registered address,
you are able to view your holding anline through Qantas’ shore
registry, Link Market Services. Log on at:
www.linkmarketservices.com.au, where you will have the option to:

- View your halding balance

- Retrieve holding statements

- Review your dividend payment histary
- Access shareholder forms.

The Investor Centre also allows you to update or add details to your
shareholding, including the following:

- Change or amend your address if you are registered with an SRN
- Nominate or amend your direct credit payment instructions

- Set up or amend your DRP instructions

- Sign up for electronic communicatiens

- Add/change TFN/ABN details.

COMPANY SECRETARIES

Andrew Finch

Benjamin Elliott

Benjomin Jones

An electronic copy of this Annual Report is available in the Annual
Report section on the Qantas Investor website at:
investor.qantas.com/home/

Further information obout the Qantas Group can be found on our
corparate site at: www.qantas.com/qantas-group
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Independent Auditor’'s Report

For the year ended 30 June 2023

To the Shareholders of Qantas Airways Limited

We have audited the Financial Report of Qantas Airways Limited The Financial Report comprises the:
(the Company). - Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2023
!n .our opinion, the gccompunying Finunciul Repo_n of Th_e Company - Consolidated Income Statement, Consolidated Statement of
is in occordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Statement of Changes in
- giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial pasition as at Equity, and Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year then
30 June 2023 and of its financial performance for the year ended
ended on that date; and - Notes including a summary of significant accounting policies

« complying with Australion Accounting Standards and the
Corporations Regulations 2001.

- Directors’ Declaration.

The Group consists of the Company and the entities it controlled at
the year end and from time to time during the financial year.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australion Auditing Standards. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the oudit of the Financial Report section of
our report. :

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional
ond Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards] (the Code) that are
relevant to our gudit of the Financiol Report in Australio. We have fulfilled our other ethicol responsibilities in accordonce with these
requirements.

Key Audit Matters

The Key Audit Matters we identified are: Key Audit Matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the Financial
Report of the current period. :

- Passenger revenue recognition

- Frequent Flyer revenue recognition . .
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

- Derivative financial instrument occounting Financiol Repart as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

KPMG, on Australian partnership ond @ member firm of the KPMG glabol organisotion of independent member firms offiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company
limited by guorantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG naome and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organisation. Liability limited

1 &tand.

by a scheme approved under Professi g

4
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Independent Auditor's Report continued

For the year ended 30 June 2023 -

Passenger revenue recognition

Refer to Note 4(A) and 35(D)i. to the Financial Report

THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

Recagnition of passenger revenue is o key audit matter due to:
- its financial significance to the Group;

- the high volume of relatively low value passenger tickets;

- judgement within the estimate for the proportion of unused
tickets which are expected to expire (breakage); and

- oudit effort arising from a variety of ticket conditions and
points of sale.

Historical trend infarmation is used to estimate breakage ond
has been supplemented by forward-loaking estimation and
changes fo conditions of carrioge to determine breakage at 30
June 2023. Estimations, particularly as they relate to predicting
customer behaviours are prone 10 a wider range of possible
outcames for us to consider.

Passenger revenue and ticketing is dependent on IT systems
and controls, therefore we involved our IT specialists in
addressing this key audit matter.
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HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN OUR AUDIT

Our procedures included:

for key possenger revenue streams, we assessed the Group’s
identification of performance abligations and revenue recognised by

. camparing to the relevant features of the underlying contracts.

with the assistance of our IT specialists, we analysed the end to end
flow of ticket informatian through multiple passenger revenue IT
systems and interfaces to evaluate the recognition of revenue
against accounting standards.

with the assistance of our IT specialists, we tested the key contrals
restricting occess to authorised users and preventing unauthorised
changes to the relevant IT systems for financial reporting. We tested
key controls within the system relating to ticket validation and the
recognition of revenue at flight date.

testing key controls related to the Group's review and approval of
manuol changes to revenue accounting records where tickets have
been identified as exceptions to automated validation.

using data analytics and sampling techniques, checking passenger
revenue transactions to underlying records including evidence of
payment and flight records, to assess the existence and accuracy of
the revenue recognised.

using data analytics and sampling techniques, checking passenger
revenue received in advance to underlying records, to assess the
campleteness of revenue recegnised.

evaluating the Group's accounting policy for estimations of
passenger revenue breakage, assessing the methodology applied
and challenging the key assumptions. In doing so: we compared
estimates to histarical experience; we assessed the Group's ability
to reliably estimate ticket breakage by comparing previous
estimates to actual outcomes; we inquired specifically regarding the
Group's responses to unredeemed travel credit holders; we read the
Group's external announcements and communications to
customers as carroboration of our sources;

checking the calculation and IT system reports in the Group’s
expectation of the proportion of tickets which will expire unused. We
evaluated the Group's related key assumptions against histarical
trends, adjusting for the forecast customer behaviour, and assessed
for indicatars of bigs, using our industry knowledge. -
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Congratulations

Awarded to

Elaine McGuiness
FC Holidays

The Qantas Neil Perry Sommeliers are proud to present an exceptional
selection of onboard wine from boutique producers to iconic brands from
across Australia, New Zealand and Champagne, France. To assist
onboard selected flights are our Sommeliers in the Sky, passionate
individuals who've been trained in all aspects of wine service. We hope
you enjoy:-this selection of award-winning Qantas Business inflight wine
and beer. Congratulations on winning with the Qantas Learning Hub and

thank you for your participation and continued support.
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